senestech

Sound science. Effective solution

Annual
Report

2016

Phone: 928.779.4143
Email: info@senestech.com

3140 N. Caden Ct. Ste 1
Flagstaff, AZ 86004
www.senestech.com




Sound science. Effective solutions.

Founded by two scientists with a deep love for animals,
SenesTech is a biotech platform and research company
that has developed an innovative technology for
managing animal populations by fertility control. The
Company develops non-lethal treatments that have
the potential to be more effective, more humane,

and less invasive to the environment than traditional
management methods.

The Company’s first fertility control product, [/ NSSOE
ContraPest®, is marketed for use initially in controlling : ﬂ
rat infestations. ContraPest’s novel technology and
approach targets the reproductive capabilities of

both sexes, inducing egg loss in female rodents and
impairing sperm development in males.
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What an incredible year 2016 has been for
SenesTech. We executed on a number of key
objectives for the year:

e EPA product registration to allow SALES

1 7 B . : * 48 states registered for sales so far
n i & | dnal
'1 e | ' e First commercial sales shipped
|l | ,E’ e Completion of our IPO to provide funding
1 ' "'.I 8 However, what’s most exciting about the successful

completion of thesemilestones, is that this is just
the beginning!

As we look to 2017, we recognize the tremendous
opportunity we have in front of us to have a significant
impact on three global challenges caused by rodent
infestation: food security, infrastructure damage, and
disease transmission.

Rodents destroy crops through both consumption and
contamination. It is estimated that approximately 20% of
the stored food in the world is lost due to rodent activity,
with another portion lost prior to harvest. In Southeast
Asia alone if we were able to reduce this loss by just 5%,
we would be able to feed an estimated 380 million more
people.

Additionally, rodents cause tremendous damage to

infrastructure. It’s been estimated by the USDA that
approximately $27 billion in damage is done in the United
States alone by rodents burrowing, gnawing on electrical
wires, insulation, and computer equipment. A rat can take
down a New York City subway line, or burn a house to the
ground as a result of shorted wires.

Finally, rodents transmit disease and deadly pathogens

to humans and other species, such as E. coli, salmonella,
leptospirosis, infectious jaundice, rat lungworm disease,
plague, murine typhus and Hantavirus. Rodents have

been some of the most successful disease vectors through
history, nearly wiping out Europe twice by transmitting the
plague. When you consider the large threat rats pose to
human populations, controlling them is key.




Our product is a sustainable, non-lethal solution

to the rodent problem.

For millenia we have been using lethal means, since WWII
primarily poison, to control rodents. But only a small
percentage of rats will take poison. And we have relied

on poison for so long, rats have evolved a resistance to it.
Although killing will stop a targeted group of rodents, that
doesn’t address the root of the problem. The real problem
is the reproductive capacity of these animals. Consider
that a female and male pair of rats over their lifetime of
approximately eight months in the wild will contribute
greater than 15,000 individuals from the combination of
their pups and their pups pups!. ContraPest addresses the
root of the problem.

With a registered product we are focused on commercial
execution in 2017. We started the year with the end of our
technology licensee agreement in January, which provides
us with 100% rights to the commercialization of ContraPest.
We followed that up with a manufacturing plan to expand
our production capacity, and began engagement with our
key customers who are the initial early adopters of the
product. We will lay the foundation in 2017 by establishing
key reference sites and high profile customers, such as our
announced launch in New York City in collaboration with
the NYC Department of Health, that we believe will drive the
proven urban solution ContraPest offers to major cities in the
u.s.

We have received hundreds of phone calls from parties
interested in using ContraPest since its registration. We have
found there is a tremendous opportunity not only to reduce
the use of rodenticides, but to provide a solution where
rodenticides are not an option, such as zoos, animal research
facilities, healthcare locations, and food production facilities.
As a result the total addressable market is easily larger than
the estimated $900 million in rodenticides sold each year.

Dr. Loretta Mayer
Co-Founder, Chair, and Chief Executive Officer

While we remain focused on the commercialization

efforts of ContraPest in 2017, there are opportunities our
technology can address beyond rodent population control.
We have completed proof of concept studies showing the
effectiveness of our fertility control technology in feral dogs
and hogs, as well as the potential for spay and neutering of
companion cats and dogs. One of the first non-reproduction
focused uses for our technology is progressing for male
pigs. By eliminating testosterone driven boar taint (an
objectionable smell and flavor in tissue) with a food
supplement we can eliminate the inhumane castration of
four-day-old male pigs and increase feed efficiency. This
early work will utilize one of our active ingredients in our
proprietary delivery system. This $1.2 billion annual market
is a lucrative target for our pipeline development.

We're extremely grateful to the countless hours spent by
the SenesTech team over the last year to obtain one of the
most rapidly-registered rodent control products in the history
of the EPA. To the early investors who saw the vision that
we had for a product like ContraPest and supported our
efforts financially, and to the various government agencies,
private sector companies, and non-profit organizations that
pushed us to develop a solution when they were unable to
find one themselves we say Thank You! We truly do have

a revolutionary product on our hands, one that addresses
significant global challenges in a way that’s never been
utilized before in these populations in such a targeted and
effective way.

We're extremely excited about what the future holds for
SenesTech.

Dr. Cheryl Dyer
Co-Founder, Board Member, and Chief Reserach Officer
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PART I
Item 1. Business.

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains ‘“‘forward-looking statements’ within the meaning of the
safe-harbor provisions of the U.S. Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking
statements can often be identified by words such as: “expect,” “believe,” ‘“‘estimate,” “plan,” “strategy,”
“future,” “potential,” “‘continue,” “may,” ‘““should,” “will,”” and similar references to future periods.
Examples include, among others, statements about:
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e The likelihood of regulatory approvals for our product candidates;
e The potential market opportunities for commercializing our product candidates;
e The anticipated results and effects of our product candidates;

e Our expectations regarding the potential market size for our products candidates, if approved for
commercial use;

e Estimates of our expenses, capital requirements and need for additional financing;

e Our ability to enter into strategic partnership agreements and to achieve the expected results from
such arrangements;

e The initiation, timing, progress and results of future laboratory and field studies and our research and
development programs;

e Our ability to manufacture our product candidates in a commercially efficient manner;

*  The scope of protection we are able to obtain and maintain for our intellectual property rights
covering our product candidates;

*  Our financial performance;
e Developments and projections relating to our competitors and our industry; and
e Our ability to sell our products at commercially reasonable values.

Forward-looking statements are neither historical facts nor assurances about future performance. Instead, they
are only predictions, based on current beliefs, expectations and assumptions about the future of our business
and other future conditions. Forward-looking statements are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties
and changes in circumstances that are difficult to predict and many of which are outside of our control. Actual
events and results may differ materially. Therefore, you should not rely on any of these forward-looking
statements.

Any forward-looking statement made by us in this report is based only on information available to us on the
date of this report. Except as may be required by law, we undertake no obligation to publicly update any
forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future developments or otherwise.

Our forward-looking statements can be affected by inaccurate assumptions we might make or by known or
unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors. We discuss many of these risks, uncertainties and other factors
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K in greater detail under the Item 1A — “‘Risk Factors.” We caution
readers that our business and financial performance are subject to substantial risks and uncertainties.

BUSINESS

Overview

We have developed and are seeking to commercialize globally a proprietary technology for managing animal
pest populations through fertility control. We believe our innovative non-lethal approach, targeting
reproduction, is more humane, less harmful to the environment, and more effective in providing a sustainable
solution to pest infestations than traditional lethal pest management methods. Our approach is designed to



promote food security and reduce infrastructure damage, disease outbreaks, environmental contamination and
other costs associated with rodent infestations. Our first fertility control product, ContraPest®, will be
marketed for use in controlling rat populations. We are pursuing regulatory approvals and amendments to
existing registration in the US for ContraPest in various jurisdictions, including the U.S., India, Argentina and
the EU. We submitted ContraPest for registration with the EPA on August 23, 2015, and the EPA granted
registration approval for ContraPest effective August 2, 2016. We believe ContraPest is the first non-lethal
fertility control product approved by the EPA for the management of rodent populations. However, before we
can begin selling ContraPest in the U.S., we must obtain registration from the various state regulatory
agencies. To date, we have received registration for ContraPest in 45 states and the District of Columbia, with
additional applications pending. Other business initiatives include expanding our technology to other species
and applications, and developing bio-synthetic sources of triptolide, an active ingredient in ContraPest that
also has pharmaceutical applications. This initiative may produce a less expensive source of triptolide for our
own use, and provide us with the potential opportunity to earn revenue from the sale of such product to other
potential consumers of triptolide.

Current Problem

Rodent populations cause significant harm by:

e Decreasing the worldwide food supply. Rodents destroy crops through consumption and
contamination, and the magazine Quality Assurance and Food Safety estimated that in 2014, 20% of
stored food was lost due to rodent activity, of which a 5% reduction would be enough to feed an
estimated 380 million people.

e Damaging public infrastructure. Rodents cause significant damage to public infrastructure by
undermining foundations with burrowing, gnawing on electrical wiring and insulation, fireproofing
systems and electronic and computer equipment. A study conducted in 2007 estimated that the cost
of destruction to infrastructure by rats in the U.S. is $27 billion.

e Transmitting disease. Rodents transmit disease and deadly pathogens to humans and other species,
such as E. coli, salmonella, leptospirosis, infectious jaundice, Weil’s disease, plague, murine typhus
and Hantavirus. Rats caught during an independent study in New York City were found to be
carrying more than 20 pathogens that cause disease in humans.

Current efforts to control rodent populations include the use of lethal chemical agents, also referred to as
rodenticides, the sale of which constituted an estimated $900 million market worldwide in 2013 or more. In
the United States, there are currently 193 such products registered by the EPA. Unfortunately, rodenticides
have a number of serious shortcomings, as outlined below.

Rodenticides are not a long-term solution

Rodenticides do not target the rapid reproductive rates in rodents, to the contrary they accelerate rates by
creating voids with plentiful food and harborage. The initial decline in rodent populations exposed to
rodenticides is typically followed by a “population rebound” as surviving rodents quickly reproduce and
rodents from surrounding areas migrate into the affected area. Studies have indicated that rat population
rebounds can occur in as little as four months, while many populations rebound within six to nine months of
being exposed to rodenticides. Moreover, even when rodenticides kill all of the rats in a designated area,
populations have been observed to fully recover within 4 — 5 months.

Rats are prolific breeders; even a single pair of rats can result in a rapidly rebounding population. For
example, a single female rat typically has a litter of ten to twelve pups or more every three weeks when food
is plentiful. As a result, one pair of rodents can contribute over 15,000 progeny in 8 months, and four pairs of
breeding adult rats and their progeny can produce up to 15 million rats in one year as a result of a geometric
progression. In addition, rats are territorial and will protect their food source from immigrating rats. If a rat
population is substantially decreased through poisoning by rodenticides, other rats will migrate to the
unguarded food source and establish a new and expanding population.

Due to rebounding rodent populations exposed to rodenticides, property owners and pest management
operators must continuously apply rodenticides of different active ingredients on a rotating basis in an effort to
control these populations without favoring resistance to a particular poison. This creates an ongoing cycle of



rodenticide treatment, with the costs of rodenticides remaining constant. Moreover, rodenticides are often
distributed indiscriminately, on a non-targeted basis, which likely decreases their effectiveness in controlling
rat infestations. The following chart, which is based on data derived from our population models, primary
scientific literature, and current market pricing for rodenticides, demonstrates that the use of rodenticides does
not sustainably reduce rat populations in the long term, while the cost of using rodenticides remains relatively
constant over that same period.

Rat Population Response to Rodenticide
Poisoning Campaign
and Associated Cost
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Rodenticides are an ineffective delivery method for rodents

Due to their understanding of cause and effect, studies have shown that rodents will generally not consume
food that they have seen adversely affect other rodents; this is known as “‘bait shyness”. When the adverse
effects of rodenticides are displayed by treated rodents, other rodents in the vicinity typically avoid the areas
where the rodenticides were located.

Rodenticides are unsafe

Rodenticides contain lethal chemicals that can be toxic to humans and other animals. The EPA has observed
that between 1993 and 2008, the American Association of Poison Control Centers logged between 12,000 and
15,000 reports of rat and mouse poison exposures each year in children under the age of six. These numbers
and other concerns about pet and non-target wildlife exposures have spurred the EPA and similar authorities to
renew its efforts to establish better protections for children and the environment. For example, the EPA and
similar authorities in other jurisdictions have established stronger restrictions on the sale and use of ten active
ingredients found in various registered rodenticide products. These restrictions prohibit the sale of “loose”
rodenticide bait, such as pellets, powders, and liquids and require all such consumer-use baits be sold with
protective bait stations. They also prohibited the use of second-generation anticoagulants, or SGARs, in any
consumer-use product. In May 2014, the EPA and Reckitt Benckiser Group plc (a large manufacturer of
rodenticides, including d-CON) reached an agreement to cancel 12 of their mouse and rat poisons that do not
comply with the new EPA safety standards.

Rodenticides are harmful to the environment

Rodenticides are designed to cause the rodent pest to die over five or more days, permitting the target animal to
continue to consume the rodenticide during that period. Since the target animal may consume significantly higher
doses than are needed to be lethal, the lethal chemicals can accumulate in the target animal. This process is known
as bio-accumulation. If the target animal is consumed by other animals (such as predators), such other animals can
become sick or die from the lethal chemicals remaining in the deceased animal. In addition, deceased animals
contaminated by rodenticides can spread the lethal chemicals to the surrounding area.



Rodenticides are inhumane

The most common type of rodenticide prevents blood from clotting. Once the rodent has consumed the
rodenticide, lethal chemicals cause the rodent to bleed internally and through its eyes, nose and ears, gradually
culminating in death over 10 to 14 days from exposure. Therefore, rodenticides result in a long, painful death
which can be transmitted to any predator such as dogs, cats, and birds. This raises moral concerns, particularly
in regions such as India, among people who do not want to cause unnecessary pain in animals.

Our Solution — Fertility Control

Our first fertility control product, ContraPest, targets the reproductive capabilities of rodents by inducing the
gradual loss of their limited supply of eggs in female rodents and disruption of sperm in male rodents,
resulting in contraception that can progress to sterility in both females and males. By targeting rodent fertility,
our solution is sustainably effective, directed, safe, environmentally friendly and humane.

Our solution is sustainable over the long term

ContraPest, when used as directed, causes rodent populations to remain at a sustained low level. A third-party
laboratory study in partnership with the United States Department of Agriculture National Wildlife Research
Center, or NWRC, completed in December 2014 observed that 50 wild-caught rats treated with ContraPest in
the presence of regular food and water resulted in a 95% reduction in litter sizes. A follow-up USDA study
completed in June 2015 involving 50 wild-caught rats demonstrated a 96% reduction in litter size in female
and male rats treated with ContraPest in an open arena study. We have also conducted open population
studies, including in trash rooms in the New York City subway completed August 2013 and with the largest
hog producer in the United States completed in March 2015, in which we have observed decreases in wild
rodent populations of more than 40% over a 12-week period. We believe this decrease in population will
continue and, based on studies conducted by third parties, will stabilize at an approximately 70% reduction in
12 months without rebound (based on an initial population of approximately 10,000 rats). Also, we have
observed that the contraceptive effect of ContraPest in reducing rat population is present regardless of the
amount consumed by any particular rat in that population.

Consequently, rat populations treated with ContraPest do not experience the same “population rebound” effect
as those treated with rodenticides because the non-reproductive rodents continue to defend their territory from
invasion by other rodents. Further, this low level of rodents contain a mixed gene pool that does not favor the
development of resistance to the active ingredients. As a result, property owners and pest management
operators may be able to substantially decrease the amount of ContraPest used over time, thus reducing the
total cost of rodent population control in the long term. The following chart, which is based on data derived
from our population models and field studies, predicts that as the use of ContraPest sustainably reduces rat
populations over time and on an ongoing basis, the cost of ContraPest would be lower in the long term as
compared to rodenticides.

Population Response to ContraPest®
and Associated Cost
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Our solution involves a targeted delivery

Our proprietary formulation appears to be attractive to rodents. To maintain proper hydration, rats drink 10%
of their body weight in water each day; our product is a liquid bait and comprised mostly of water. Moreover,
studies show that rats prefer and develop an addiction to eating sweet and fatty foods. ContraPest incorporates
these elements, and our studies demonstrate that rats prefer ContraPest even when other familiar food and
water sources were abundant, such as in indoor garbage collection areas of urban, industrial facilities. Once
consumed, our product is designed to avoid a first pass through the liver effect and to deliver active
ingredients directly to targeted reproductive organs, thus increasing its effectiveness and minimizing harm to
the animal.

In addition, our solution utilizes a unique delivery system in the field that not only allows us to evaluate the
effectiveness of our fertility control products, but also enables us to observe rodent pest behavior and
determine the optimal locations for our proprietary bait stations. We also are able to customize the specific
concentration to address the target pest.

Our solution is safe

Studies of ContraPest have demonstrated that doses of ContraPest are not lethal to rodents or harmful to
people or other animals. The active ingredients in ContraPest are included at very low concentrations (together
totaling less than 0.1% of the formulation) and have short half-lives of less than 20 minutes in the blood of
rodents. Therefore, the active ingredients in ContraPest do not accumulate in tissues or organs of the rat (as
poisons do) and thus do not sicken or kill predators or scavengers that eat a rat that has consumed ContraPest.

In addition, at the concentrations of active ingredients in our product, there is no potential for reproductive
disruption in humans. A human would have to consume impossibly large amounts of the active ingredients in
our product to have any effect. Further, the man-made chemical that is one of our active ingredients
(4-vinylcyclohexene diepoxide, or VCD) has been used in manufacturing settings, and no toxic effects have
been demonstrated in humans. The other active ingredient (triptolide) is a plant-derived ingredient used in
traditional Chinese medicine to treat symptoms of rheumatoid arthritis.

Moreover, ContraPest is delivered in a ready-to-use and pre-packaged plastic container which is inserted
into a tamper-resistant rodent bait station. As the container is inserted into the station, a spike punctures
the foil-covered opening, allowing the liquid bait to flow into a tray within the bait station. The tank is a
non-refillable container, which is recapped and disposed of when empty. Thus, as a “closed system,” there
is little opportunity for handler exposure and virtually no opportunity for bystander exposure.

Our solution is environmentally friendly

ContraPest does not contain poisons, and the ingredients in ContraPest target the reproductive organs of the
rodent and do not accumulate in other tissues or organs of the rat. As a result, the ingredients in ContraPest
do not cause illness or death in other animals that come into contact with or eat the rat that has consumed
ContraPest, and there is no risk of secondary exposure expected from the use of ContraPest. Also, the active
ingredients in ContraPest are present in our product in very low concentrations, and break down into inactive,
or inert, ingredients when they come into contact with soil or water in the environment. Moreover, ContraPest
is packaged in a delivery system that dispenses the liquid bait directly into a tamper-resistant rodent bait
station. These bait stations are limited to use only indoors and in the immediate perimeter of structures (no
more than one foot from the exterior walls). As a result, ecological exposure of the liquid product will be
limited to animals that directly contact or consume the bait, and there is little risk of exposure to non-target
species or to the surrounding environment.

Our solution is humane

ContraPest does not cause rodent death and there have been no observations of any physical suffering in
rodents exposed to ContraPest. ContraPest allows rodent pests to live out the course of their natural lives,
while defending their territory and keeping out other invading rodents which have the potential of being
disease vectors. By reducing rodents’ ability to reproduce, but keeping them alive, our product has the effect
of humanely reducing rodent populations in the long-term.



Recent Research Regarding the Effectiveness of ContraPest

The majority of our research efforts have been focused on developing our lead product, ContraPest. We have
completed studies regarding the effectiveness of our product, which were funded by and in cooperation with
the NIH, the United States Department of Agriculture, or USDA, the NWRC, and the New York Metropolitan
Transit Authority, or MTA, and other third parties. The following summarizes the results of these recent
studies:

e A NWRC study involving approximately 50 rats completed in June 2015 demonstrated a 96%
reduction in litter size in female and male rats treated with ContraPest in a laboratory setting;

* A January 2015 study in Rose Hill, North Carolina resulted in a 33% reduction in rodent activity
over 12 weeks after being exposed to ContraPest, as compared to the use of rodenticide alone;

* A NIH-funded study in February 2013 in the subway trash rooms of the MTA in New York City
observed that there was a 43% reduction in the rodent population in the trash rooms that were baited
with ContraPest; and

e Internal laboratory studies involving 32 rats have shown zero pups born to any rat groups provided
with ContraPest along with food and water, while rats given the control bait with no active
ingredients had on average 11 pups per litter.

In September 2015 we initiated a research study with the Chicago Transit Authority, or CTA, to begin a field
trial of our bait station. That study is now complete. While the observations and results are subject to a
confidentiality agreement, the performance of the bait stations met expectations. We have additional field trials
underway in Hawaii and Massachusetts (Somerville), and are contemplating further research trials in a variety
of applications.

We have also begun exploring diverse applications with a variety of collaborators. We have conducted proof
of concept studies with feral dogs on the Navajo Reservation in New Mexico with a grant from the USDA,
and we have collected rabies and geographic data on stray dogs in the Tibetan refugee camps of Mainpat,
India. We are currently collaborating with Texas A&M University to test the potential of our product
candidates to manage feral pigs. Studies have also been conducted for proof of concept in Australia with
wallaby, rat, and mouse populations and in New Zealand with rats and brushtail possums. We have also
conducted early trials with cats in collaboration with the University of Florida. These diverse studies seek to
provide evidence of the potential for ContraPest and the continued development of fertility control technology
in general.

Business Strategy

Our goal is to become a leader in fertility control technology designed to promote food security and reduce
infrastructure damage, disease outbreaks, environmental contamination and other costs associated with pest
infestations and poor animal health. Key elements of our strategy are:

e Obtain regulatory approval for our lead product, ContraPest, throughout the U.S. and in Argentina,
India, the EU and other parts of the world.

e Continue to develop and establish third party relationships with manufacturing, marketing and
distribution partners in the U.S. and internationally.

e Educate our target markets on the long-term benefits our fertility control solution provides over
lethal approaches.

*  Establish a secure supply of active ingredients, including triptolide, by cultivating a diverse base of
traditional agricultural suppliers and developing bio-synthetic sources of triptolide.

e Leverage our scientific research and core technologies to develop and commercialize a broad suite of
products.



Manufacturing, Marketing and Distribution

Third-Party Relationships

We intend to continue to establish and develop relationships in the U.S. and internationally. To date, we have
entered into the following arrangements:

NeoVenta — In September 2015, we entered into a sales and marketing agreement with NeoVenta Solutions, a
sales and marketing company, for the sales of ContraPest in India and certain surrounding Southeast Asian
countries. Under the agreement, NeoVenta will be responsible for seeking applicable regulatory approval to
market ContraPest in these countries on our behalf. After such regulatory approval has been obtained, we have
granted NeoVenta an exclusive license for 10 years to represent us in marketing, sales and distribution of
ContraPest in these countries. We have retained all manufacturing responsibilities for ContraPest in these
markets. NeoVenta has agreed to minimum sales commitments of rodent control products in the countries
covered by the agreement, which total $23 million over the first five years. However, we believe that this
understates the market potential for a non-lethal, effective and humane product in these countries.

Bioceres — In January 2016, we signed an agency agreement with INMET, the research and development
subsidiary of Bioceres, Inc., a leading agricultural biotechnology company in Argentina, to seek regulatory
approval for and conduct pre-sales marketing of ContraPest in Argentina. Under the agreement, INMET,
which specializes in bacterial fermentation solutions, will act as our exclusive agent to obtain necessary
governmental approvals to sell and market ContraPest in agricultural, residential and public transport
applications throughout the country of Argentina. The parties intend to create a joint venture entity which we
will control. Sales in Argentina will occur only after regulatory approval is obtained and the joint venture
entity is formed. We have also entered into a services agreement with Bioceres and INMET to provide
research and development services to develop an efficient production method for a bio-synthetic version of
triptolide, one of the two active ingredients in ContraPest that also has pharmaceutical applications. The
parties intend to create a second legal entity to pursue this triptolide research and development.

Subject to obtaining necessary regulatory approvals, we plan to market ContraPest in additional international
jurisdictions. The expectation is that we will stage these market launches based on the length of time required
to complete each country’s regulatory process, the market potential, identification and agreements with
appropriate parties and the safety of our intellectual property.

We are currently exploring a potential relationship in Europe for the registration of ContraPest with EU
regulatory agencies, the development of manufacturing in the EU, research and development of new products
using our fertility control technology, and the granting of distribution rights in the EU. However, we have not
yet entered into any binding agreements related to these matters.

Commercialization Plans

To date, we have generated minimal revenue from product sales, but we currently expect to fully
commercialize ContraPest and begin to generate revenue from the sale of products the second quarter of 2017
on a limited basis. Subject to obtaining necessary regulatory approvals, we also intend to market ContraPest in
international jurisdictions. Target segments for ContraPest include government (e.g., subways, transit systems
and public housing agencies); healthcare; agriculture (e.g., farms, storage facilities and protein production
facilities (including cattle, sheep, pig and poultry facilities)); food production (e.g., factories, meat-packing
facilities, dairy production plants and vegetable and fruit preparation facilities); and commercial (e.g., major
restaurant chains, retail locations, casinos and hotels). Since EPA approval, we have received calls or emails
of interest from the following types of potential customers: zoos, animal research facilities, waste and
recycling centers, parks, transit agencies, natural resource managers, island conservation groups, botanical
gardens, animal sanctuaries, children’s gardens, healthcare providers, property managers, and food production
facilities. In addition, we intend to approach large pest management companies to pursue potential
partnerships for the distribution and sale of ContraPest.



Pricing and Value

We intend to value price our product, ContraPest, such that our pricing strategy will take into account not
only the cost of goods sold, but an understanding of the cost of competitive products and the value of our
product to the end user. We believe ContraPest will be perceived as a significant improvement over current
products for managing rat infestations and, as such, should command a premium price. Our experience is that
potential customers understand the advantages of ContraPest and become enthusiastic about its use. We plan
to use promotional efforts to support the value message and to justify our product’s increased value and
premium price, built around the following proposed advantages:

o ContraPest is sustainably effective;

e ContraPest involves targeted delivery;

o ContraPest is safe;

e ContraPest is environmentally friendly; and

. ContraPest is humane.

Also, we will focus on specific advantages for the individual customer and expect to position our product as
having the following additional general advantages:

e Savings in personnel costs to clean up dead rodents;

e Reduction in disease vectors because there are no contaminated rat carcasses

e Savings in eliminating the use of rodenticides during ContraPest baiting;

e Public relations advantages (sustainably effective, safe, environmentally friendly and humane);
e Savings by reducing loss or contamination of food inventories; and

e Savings by reducing damage to infrastructure.

We believe that the addressable markets for ContraPest will evolve from first adopters to those potential
customers that have zero tolerance for poisons, to those potential customers that focus on efficacy and value
pricing, to those potential customers and regulators that prefer an alternative to poisons, and finally to bulk
agricultural and retail markets. We believe that the expansion into these markets will be aided by a
progression of potential cost and pricing reductions, starting with raw material costs, packaging costs, scale
economies, and finally delivery and distribution improvements.

Sales Approach

Because of the unique nature of our technology and the market demand for a non-lethal approach to rodent
pest control, large pest management companies who we have approached about our product have expressed
interest in learning more about ContraPest. Consequently, we plan to continue to foster these discussions, to
exchange data, and may negotiate agreements with carefully selected partners to maximize their appropriate
deployment of our product. The advantages to selling through such a third party include:

e Immediate availability of a field sales force experienced in selling rodent control products;
e Familiarity with our target customers and the challenges they face;

*  Our field personnel, customer service, account receivable, and shipping and handling teams would
be smaller, thus reducing start-up costs; and

*  Less need to substantially expand the sales force as our product gains traction with new customers.

We plan to be deeply involved in the initial product launch and assist with in-depth product training, business
development, co-travel with sales representatives and the creation of sales and marketing tools.



Raw Materials and Manufacturing Process

ContraPest contains two active ingredients, VCD, an industrial chemical, and triptolide, a plant derived
chemical from the Thunder God Vine, Tripterygium wilfordii. ContraPest also contains several other inactive
ingredients. Currently, we source VCD from a standard industrial chemical supply provider. However, in the
near future we will be qualifying additional suppliers for VCD. Triptolide is derived from the Thunder God
Vine, which is commonly cultivated and harvested wild in southeastern China and other Asian countries, and
is available from a variety of sources. Currently, we have one EPA registered source of purified triptolide, and
have validated a second source. However, the process to purify triptolide for use in ContraPest is expensive,
and we are seeking other, less costly methods of triptolide production, including bio-synthetic methods. See
the discussion under the heading ‘“Manufacturing, Marketing and Distribution” for more information about
our agreement with Bioceres and INMET to provide research and development services to develop an efficient
production method for a bio-synthetic version of triptolide. This initiative may produce a less expensive
source of triptolide for our own use, and provide us with the potential opportunity to earn revenue from the
sale of such product to our licensees and other potential consumers of triptolide. The inactive ingredients in
ContraPest are sourced from standard chemical supply providers.

Our manufacturing process involves the incorporation of our two active ingredients, in low concentrations,
into several inert ingredients. Once incorporated, the entire product goes through a micro-encapsulation
process in order to stabilize the final formulation. Stabilizing the product in this manner allows it to be
delivered to rodents in a safe and effective manner. After production, the manufacturing line is cleaned using
environmentally safe methods and products.

Currently, we have production scale capability in our facilities in Arizona to manufacture and launch
ContraPest. Our internal production capabilities allow us to meet our current and anticipated demand during
2017 for ContraPest. We have secured equipment to double our manufacturing capacity and expect it to be
online in the third quarter of 2017. Our manufacturing process has been designed in a modular, scalable and
transportable fashion. This allows us to quickly respond to production requirements anywhere in the world.

In addition to our domestic manufacturing facility, we have also entered into an agreement with Bioceres and
Inmet to jointly develop our manufacturing capacity in Argentina, and intend to enter into additional
manufacturing agreements in the future on an opportunistic basis.

Scientific Background Regarding our Product

ContraPest is a liquid bait containing the active ingredients VCD and triptolide. When consumed, ContraPest
causes contraception that can progress to sterility in male and female rats beginning with the first breeding
cycle following consumption.

The female rat is born with a finite number of eggs, also called oocytes, and she remains fertile and will
reproduce until the day she dies. Within the ovary, eggs are contained in structures called follicles. The
non-regenerating and most immature stage of follicles is called primordial. The primordial follicles mature
through several stages from primary to secondary to antral follicles and ultimately ovulate. Once the
primordial follicles have become depleted, ovarian failure occurs, which terminates reproductive capability.

VCD has been well studied and causes specific loss of ovarian small follicles (both primordial and primary);
because oocytes do not regenerate, loss of these follicles leads to ovarian failure. Following repeated dosing,
VCD causes ovarian failure in rats. However, daily dosing of mice and rats with VCD does not produce
generalized toxicity nor does it affect other tissues. A VCD-dosed rat will continue to reproduce until the pool
of secondary and antral follicles are depleted through ovulation or atresia, which is the natural death of the
follicle, which can take up to three months.

The second active ingredient, triptolide, targets growing follicles and exerts a significant suppression of male
fertility by disrupting sperm maturation and stopping the movement of sperm. Female rats treated with triptolide
ovulate fewer eggs because the follicles stop growing. Triptolide does not affect primordial follicles, but when
used in combination with VCD, the result is contraception that can progress to sterility in female rats.



Both VCD and triptolide are supported by evidence regarding their safety and mechanism of action.
Additionally, recent studies, both in the lab and in the field, have documented their effect in fertility reduction
and therefore reduction in rat populations. The graph below displays the total numbers of pups after two
breeding rounds in one study.

Total Number of Rat Pups
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Figure: Total number of rat pups born after consumption of ContraPest. Sixteen female rats (n=8 control and
n=8 treatment) were provided ContraPest or inactive bait for 15 days and bred with proven male breeders.
After two breeding rounds, the number of pups was totaled. The bar on the left shows the number of pups
born to control females while the bar on the right shows the number of pups born to females that consumed

ContraPest.

Other Potential Products

We have developed a pipeline of potential additional fertility control and animal health products, with diverse

applications, as outlined in the following chart and in more detail below.

Product Candidate/Area Development Status Segment Primary Target
ContraPest Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) Population Rodents
granted registration approval for ContraPest ~ management
effective August 2, 2016
Plant-based fertility Pilot studies have been completed; Population Rodents
control additional testing required for the use of management
this product to manage pest populations in
select sites such as schools and hospitals
Feral animal fertility Pilot studies are in process to show efficacy ~ Population Feral dogs and
control of this product candidate; to complete larger = management hogs
pivotal studies and regulatory submission
Non-surgical spay and Pilot studies completed show encouraging Companion Companion dogs

neutering

Boar taint

Animal cancer treatment

signs of efficacy; to complete additional
studies and regulatory submission

Additional scientific and field studies and
regulatory submission required

Proof of concept study to be performed to
determine whether proprietary formulation
may provide effective delivery of triptolide
to dogs for cancer therapy

10

animal health
Food production
and safety

Companion
animal health

and cats

Boars

Companion dogs



Boar Taint Product Candidate

Boar taint is the offensive odor or taste that can be evident during the cooking or eating of pork or pork
products caused by hormones, called pheromones, present in non-castrated boars once they reach puberty.
Castration without anesthesia shortly after birth is currently the standard procedure used to eliminate boar
taint, but it results in lower meat production due to decreased weight gain, which is an effect of castration.
This process also introduces a surgical risk of infection and can raise safety issues for workers.

If we are successful at developing a boar taint product candidate, we expect that it will target testosterone
production and will be easily administered to feedlots and will have none of the safety issues associated with
castration. The next step will be continued scientific and field studies followed by submission to and approval
by the appropriate regulatory agencies. This process is expected to take approximately two years.

Feral Animal Fertility Control Product Candidate

Feral dogs and hogs present problems both in the United States and internationally. The negative impacts of
feral dogs include threats to human health and safety, agriculture, natural resources and property. A 2005 study
estimated monetary losses by feral dogs within the U.S. at $620 million annually. Feral pigs are can also be
aggressive and are known for damaging crops and transmitting diseases to humans, livestock and other
wildlife. Feral pigs are present across more than three quarters of the U.S. and are responsible for an
estimated $1.5 billion in damages each year.

Current strategies for controlling feral animal populations are often ineffective, difficult to conduct and costly.
Studies have shown that our fertility control technology is effective in both these species. Accordingly, we are
currently conducting pilot studies to show efficacy of our approach prior to proceeding to larger pivotal
studies and regulatory submission. We are currently completing specific development plans for this product
candidate.

Companion Animal Product Candidates

We plan to develop the following products for use in companion animals such as domestic dogs and cats.
However, applications for companion animals require FDA approval, which is a much longer and more
expensive regulatory process. Our expectation is that we will pursue these technologies or through research
and development partnerships with larger companies.

e Non-Surgical Spay and Neutering Product Candidate. Based on a low average of $100 for each
spay or neuter procedure, the spay and neutering of companion animals constitutes a $1.9 billion
market in the United States alone, with few effective non-surgical alternatives. We are developing a
product that can be easily administered to the companion animal orally or by injection in
combination with vaccinations. No surgery is required and the surgical risks of infection and pain
could be eliminated. This product candidate targets the ovaries and testes and is delivered through a
proprietary drug delivery methodology. Early field studies with feral dogs showed encouraging signs
of efficacy.

e Animal Cancer Treatment Product Candidate. Cancer therapy for companion animals is often not a
viable option since chemotherapy can be a long, painful and expensive process. However, we have
developed a manufacturing technology that allows the chemotherapeutics to be encapsulated and
delivered directly to the affected tissues without causing the side effects to the immune,
hypothalamic systems or neuro pathways.

Competition

Currently, there are no non-lethal fertility control products that target rodents. Products that are used for
managing rodent infestations include rodenticides, kill devices and traps.

Rodenticides

Rodenticides are poisons that use anticoagulants or phosphides to cause rodent death.

Anticoagulants can be single dose (i.e., second generation) or multiple dose (i.e., first generation) rodenticides.
Generally, death occurs within one to two weeks after ingestion of lethal amounts. These poisons work by
blocking the rodent’s blood clotting ability. In addition, they include chemicals that cause damage to tiny
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blood vessels, or capillaries, resulting in diffuse internal bleeding. These effects are gradual, developing over
several days. In the end, the animal dies calmly, but leading up to death the rodent is likely to experience
discomfort and pain. As a result, we believe that the use of anticoagulants is inhumane.

First generation anticoagulants are generally less toxic than second generation products, so they have shorter
elimination half-lives, but they also require higher concentrations and consecutive intake over days to be
lethal. First generation anticoagulants are marketed under a variety of brands such as Ramik, Rodex, Tomcat
and Rozol and contain active ingredients such as warfarin, chlorophacinone, diphacinone or coumatetralyl.
Second generation anticoagulant rodenticides, or SGARs, known as “‘superwarfarins,” are far more toxic than
first generation rodenticides so they are applied in lower concentrations. Most are lethal after a single
ingestion of bait. SGARSs are also available under a variety of different brand names, including d-CON,
Havoc, Di-Kill, Jaguar, Hawk, Boot Hill and Hombre. These products contain active ingredients such as
difenacoum, brodifacoum, difethialone, flocoumafen, and bromadiolone. Companies that manufacture
anticoagulants include Reckitt Benckiser Group plc, Syngenta, Bayer CropScience, BASF, Neogen and
Liphatech.

Metal phosphides are considered single-dose fast acting rodenticides; death occurs commonly within one to
three days after single bait ingestion. Death is caused by an acid in the digestive system of the rodent that
reacts with the phosphide to generate the toxic phosphine gas. Metal phosphides have possible use in places
where rodents are resistant to some of the anticoagulants. Zinc phosphide baits are also cheaper than most
second-generation anticoagulants. They are marketed under brands that include Prozap, Eraze, and Ridall-Zinc
by Neogen, MotomCo and Liphatech, respectively.

Rodenticide manufacturers compete by introducing new products to meet the changing demand of consumers,
expansions and investments, acquisitions, and entering into strategic alliances with distributors and companies
that have expertise in the rodenticide market. As a result, we believe the degree of competition in the
rodenticide market is high. The market is highly concentrated among a few large rodenticide manufacturers,
such as Syngenta, Bayer CropScience, BASF, Neogen and Liphatech. Also, there are high barriers to entry
into the rodenticide market due to extensive capital investment and regulatory approval requirements.

Traps

Trapping is an option for those looking for a non-lethal way to manage a rodent infestation. There are several
types of traps including spring, or snap traps, cage traps, glue traps and electronic traps. Often traps merely
injure and trap the rodent still alive. Trapped rodents will do anything to free itself, including chewing off its
limbs. Also, rats are relatively intelligent animals and can learn to avoid traps. Further, the use of traps is less
popular in urban centers and among pest control companies. Therefore, traps are a less common alternative to
rodenticides as a form of rodent control. Companies that manufacture traps include Victor, Havahart, Rat
Zapper, Real-Kill, J.T. Eaton and others.

Kill Devices

Goodnature self-resetting kill traps, from New Zealand, are becoming widely used in conservation and island
areas. Rats are attracted by a long-life lure that triggers a powerful impact that kills animals instantly and
more humanely than other products. These traps are easy to install and maintain and can kill up to 24 rats per
CO2 canister, thus reducing the amount of man hours needed to maintain the traps.

Animal Fertility Control

Animal fertility control has been in research and development for almost 30 years. GonaCon (GnRH) is the
current product for fertility control approved by the USDA. GonaCon is injected into an animal and the animal
must receive a booster after two years to maintain efficacy. The formula is typically provided through a dart

gun and the animals should be marked so that the booster can be given at a later date. This is an extremely
challenging delivery method for any wild animal in a natural environment. ZonaStat-H (PZP), a fertility product
used since the late 1980’s for wild horses and burros, is delivered in the same manner as Gonacon. The only oral
fertility product on the market is an avian product, developed by Innolytics, LLC in collaboration with the
USDA Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service, and is made specifically for pigeons.
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Government Regulation and Product Approval

Federal, state and local government authorities in the United States regulate, among other things, the testing,
manufacturing, quality control, approval, labeling, packaging, storage, record-keeping, distribution and
marketing of the products we develop. Our wildlife and pest fertility control products must be approved by
the EPA Office of Pesticide Programs, or OPP, before they can be legally marketed and sold in the

United States. The process for obtaining regulatory approval and compliance with appropriate federal, state
and local regulations is rigorous and requires the expenditure of substantial time and financial resources.

Additional product candidates in our pipeline may require approval from other government agencies, namely
the USDA and FDA. In 2015, the FDA and EPA entered into a “‘data sharing” agreement to streamline data
review and speed the regulatory process avoiding redundancy where possible.

United States Review and Approval Processes

In the United States, the EPA regulates the sale, distribution and use of any pesticide under the Federal
Insecticide, Fungicide and Rodenticide Act, or FIFRA. The EPA defines a pesticide as “‘any substance or
mixture of substances intended for preventing, destroying, repelling, or mitigating any pest.”” FIFRA defines a
pest as “‘any insect, rodent, nematode, fungus, or weed.” To register a new product, all active ingredients
within the product must be registered with the EPA.

On August 23, 2015, we submitted a set of registration applications for two active ingredients and a
formulated product — ContraPest — for EPA review and approval. Our application for ContraPest was
submitted as a restricted use, indoor only, application. A restricted use product can only be handled by a
certified pest control operator. The requirements for an application are specified in detail by EPA regulations.
These include requirements for data on which the EPA can evaluate the environmental effects, health effects,
and safety of the product. The environmental effects data is reviewed by the Environmental Fate and Effects
Division, or EFED. The health effects data is reviewed by the Health Effects Division, or HED.

Prior to submission, our active ingredients and product information were reviewed by the Hazard and Science
Policy Council, or HASPOC, which includes HED members, and data waiver requests were granted for all of
the required toxicology studies. EFED also reviewed the applications, and provided certain recommendations
for testing, which were incorporated into our filing.

Upon filing an application with the OPP Registration Division (RD), there was a preliminary screen, where
the application was initially reviewed for all required sections regarding chemistry, toxicity and environmental
fate. As per the registration process once the preliminary screen is finished, the review period begins. Under
the timelines set forth by the Pesticide Registration Improvement Extension Act (PRIA 3), RD has 20 months
to review the application and reach a registration decision. Once the review period begins, RD will disperse
the application to all the applicable science departments for an in depth review. For an application with an
official review period greater than six months, OPP has 90 days in which it may identify any substantive
science omissions and may reject the application unless the applicant can correct the omissions within

10 business days. This technical screening review period passed without EPA raising any issue. After
completing the science reviews, each department will make its recommendations to RD. Based on these
science recommendations, RD may decide it needs additional data and will contact the applicant with options
for proceeding, which may include extending the review period until requisite data or other information can
be developed and submitted for review. If RD has sufficient information, it will develop its initial risk and
registration decisions, which it will articulate and publish in a document for public comment. RD decided that
it had sufficient data from our application and published the document for public comment on June 24, 2016.
After the 30-day public comment period, OPP reviewed the public comments to address any additional
concerns. This is considered one of the final steps prior to approval of a registration.

The EPA also requires that the following be submitted for review, in addition to data: a complete copy of the
label proposed for the product, instructions for use and any claims that will be made by us, as well as, the
complete formulation. We are also required to submit documentation describing the chemistry, manufacturing
process and quality control parameters. This is done to ensure the product can be produced consistently. The
entire submission must be reviewed and approved prior to any legal sales and distribution of the product. The
EPA granted registration approval for ContraPest effective August 2, 2016. This EPA approval was granted on
a restricted-use basis, including indoor and limited outdoor use, and is based on a liquid formation. We intend
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to diligently pursue additional related regulatory approvals from the EPA to support our product evolution,
including seeking approval for full outdoor use, removal of the restricted-use status, alternative formulations
and for additional species (utilizing already approved active ingredients). In addition, we believe that the EPA
will support us in facilitating regulatory reviews outside of the U.S., and we are exploring a relationship with
the Danish Environmental Protection Agency to assist us with obtaining regulatory approvals in the EU.

We have submitted for registration in each state, since product registration is required for every state in which
the product will be distributed or sold. Each state has its own registration filing requirements. These
registration programs are managed by state agricultural and/or environmental regulatory agencies. For some
state registration applications, all that is required is the EPA stamped-approved label, a completed application
form, and a fee payment. Other states, notably California, New York, and several others, require more robust
registration applications and may require data not required by EPA. ContraPest has received registration from
the regulatory agencies of Alabama, Alaska, Arizona, Arkansas, Colorado, Delaware, District of Columbia,
Georgia, Hawaii, Idaho, Illinois, Indiana, lowa, Kansas, Kentucky, Louisiana, Maryland, Massachusetts,
Michigan, Minnesota, Missouri, Montana, Nevada, New Jersey, New Mexico, New York, North Carolina,
North Dakota, Ohio, Oklahoma, Oregon, South Carolina, Tennessee, Texas, Utah, Vermont, Virginia,
Washington, W. Virginia, Wisconsin, and Wyoming. Registrations in additional states are currently pending.
States vary in the expected timing of approval, from a few weeks to several months.

International Review and Approval Processes

Canada — Canada also has a product registration program similar to the U.S. program. Canada has entered
into a data and review agreement with EPA intended to expedite the approval process. We intend to submit an
application to PMRA during 2017.

European Union — The European Chemicals Agency (ECHA) is a decentralized agency of the European
Union, or EU. The agency is responsible for the scientific evaluation of chemicals intended for use in human
health and the environment developed by companies for use in the EU. The agency has a biocidal product
committee that is responsible for the review of any biocidal product and active substances. A biocidal product
is used to control unwanted organisms that are harmful to human or animal health, or that cause damage to
human activities. These harmful organisms include pests (e.g. insects, rats or mice) and microorganisms

(e.g. molds or bacteria). Biocidal products include: insecticides, insect repellents, disinfectants, preservatives
for materials, and anti-fouling paints. The biocidal product committee has similar but more stringent
requirements to those of the EPA in the United States, requiring that evidence of purity, safety, efficacy, and
consistency of manufacturing processes all be demonstrated.

The member state where the biocidal product will be placed on the market is responsible for authorizing the
product. This is referred to as the ‘National authorization’. The process of national authorization relies
however on the process of mutual recognition. Once a biocidal product is authorized by a first EU country
(the ‘Reference Member State’), the other EU countries must, if requested to do so, authorize the biocidal
products under the same terms and conditions. Some products can also be authorized at EU level, allowing the
companies to place these on the entire EU market. In these cases, it is the European Commission that
authorizes the products. This is referred to as the ‘Union authorization’.

In March 2016, ECHA decided to move toward a comparative assessment for rodenticides registered as a
biocide. A comparative assessment will evaluate the risks and benefits of each rodenticide and a standard will
be set for rodenticides based on this information. When a new rodenticide files for registration, it must meet
this standard or best this standard to be accepted. This comparative assessment will be carried out by the
Reference Member State. Representatives from various member states met in Helsinki the second week of
June 2016 to determine which products or active ingredients will be used to set the standard for rodenticides.
ECHA has moved to support the 5-year renewal, not the traditional 10-year renewal, of eight anticoagulant
rodenticides.
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On July 4, 2016, we met with the Danish Environmental Protection Agency (DEPA) for a pre-meeting to
discuss the registration of ContraPest in the EU. This meeting was to determine if DEPA was willing and
capable to review and support a ContraPest dossier. DEPA agreed they would have the capacity to support a
ContraPest dossier and they have executed their commitment as the competent authority to carry our

EU registration application forward. We are engaged in ongoing discussions with DEPA to establish the
application content.

United Kingdom — In addition to registration routes listed above, the UK has a data sharing agreement with
the United States, Australia, and New Zealand for any wildlife fertility management product, allowing for a
potentially expedited registration process.

Australia — The Australian Pesticides and Veterinary Medicines Authority, or APVMA, is an Australian
government statutory authority established in 1993 to centralize the registration of all agricultural and
veterinary products into the Australian marketplace. Previously each State and Territory government had its
own system of registration. The APVMA assesses applications from companies and individuals seeking
registration so they can supply their product to the marketplace. Applications undergo rigorous assessment
using the expertise of the APVMA'’s scientific staff and drawing on the technical knowledge of other relevant
scientific organizations, Commonwealth government departments and state agriculture departments. If the
product works as intended and the scientific data confirms that when used as directed on the product label it
will have no harmful or unintended effects on people, animals, the environment or international trade, the
APVMA will register the product. As well as registering new agricultural and veterinary products, the
APVMA reviews older products that have been on the market for a substantial period of time to ensure they
still do the job users expect and are safe to use. The APVMA also reviews registered products when particular
concerns are raised about their safety and effectiveness. The review of a product may result in confirmation of
its registration, or it may see registration continue with some changes to the way the product can be used. In
some cases the review may result in the registration of a product being cancelled and the product taken off the
market.

Rest of the World — Country-specific regulatory laws have provisions that include requirements for certain
labeling, safety, efficacy and manufacturers’ quality control procedures to assure the consistency of the
products, as well as company records and reports. With the exception of the EU, most other countries’
regulatory agencies will generally defer to the EPA or accept OECD compliant data in establishing standards
and regulations for pest management products. Some specific in-country studies will be required for particular
countries but some countries will generally accept an EPA or EU compliant dossier.

Import Permits — Field and laboratory proof of principle studies have been conducted in other countries. In
each country, import regulations have been met for the shipment of active ingredients. To date we have
received import permits from Australia, New Zealand, Indonesia, Laos, and the Philippines. We expect that
additional import permits will be obtained for various field trials in countries prior to registration.

Personnel

As of December 31, 2016, we had 27 full-time, and two part-time employees including a total of four with
Ph.D. degrees. Within our workforce, 16 employees are engaged in research and development and 13 in
business development, finance, legal, human resources, facilities, information technology and general
management and administration. None of our employees are represented by labor unions or covered by
collective bargaining agreements.

Intellectual Property and Other Proprietary Rights

Maintaining a strong position in the rodenticide market requires constant innovation along with a healthy
research program to evolve product lines to remain competitive and relevant to the needs of the changing
global marketplace. We protect the intellectual property resulting from these efforts with the broadest
international patent protections available. Our proprietary data and trade secrets are protected with vigilance
and attention to data exchanges among employees, consultants, collaborators and research and trade partners.
We further strengthen our market position employing international regulatory expertise.
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Patent Filings

Our intellectual property portfolio supporting ContraPest consists of nine international patent filings (in the
United States, Europe, Canada, Brazil, Russia, Japan, Mexico, South Korea, and Australia) addressing the
ContraPest compound. Claims directed toward the compound include composition-of-matter involving a
diterpenoid epoxide or salts thereof in combination with an organic diepoxide, use claims for inducing follicle
depletion and for reducing the reproductive capability of a mammalian animal or non-human mammalian
population. Issued claims will have a patent term extending to 2033 or longer based on patent term
determinations in each of the filing countries. The novelty of ContraPest extends to its method of field
distribution and has required innovation to perfect the dosing of our product to rodents. We have filed an
international patent application covering our novel bait station device to effectively and efficiently deliver our
rodent bait at individual bait sites that would, if issued, offer patent term protection through at least 2036.

License Agreements

We have an exclusive patent license with the University of Arizona for background intellectual property that
we plan to employ for future product development in the domestic animal fertility control market. The patent
claims in the United States, Australia and New Zealand cover the use of 4-vinylcyclohexene diepoxide to
deplete ovarian follicles in individual mammals and mammal populations. The license agreement, signed in
2005, will terminate with the last-to-expire patent claims, which have a term extending to 2026.

Trade Secrets and Trademarks

Beyond our patent right holdings, we broaden our intellectual property position with trademark, trade secret,
know-how and continuous scientific discovery to accompany our product development efforts. We protect
these proprietary assets with a combination of confidentially terms in all partnership agreements or as
stand-alone agreements along with rights-ownership agreements and structured information transfer
understandings prior to beginning any collaborative projects. We maintain the ContraPest trademark and

are registering new trademarks for products from our evolving rodenticide product line and for products for
mammalian species beyond rodentia.

Data Sets

We have exclusive use status with the EPA for the data sets we have developed and submitted to the EPA as
part of our application for ContraPest. The exclusive use status applies to new active ingredients and the final
formulation of the ContraPest product for a period of 10 years. For five years after the 10-year period of
exclusivity, if another applicant or the EPA Administrator chooses to rely on one or more data sets that we
submitted in support of an application submitted by another applicant, the new applicant must make a binding
offer to compensate us and certify to EPA that it has done so. If we and the offeror cannot reach agreement on
the terms of the compensation for the use of such data sets, FIFRA requires resolution by binding arbitration.
The EPA rules do not describe how the compensation should be determined, and there is publicly available
information about some, but not all, binding arbitration decisions. See Item 1A, “Risk Factors,”” for more
information regarding our intellectual property and other proprietary rights.

Available Information

We electronically file with the Securities and Exchange Commission (‘“SEC”’) our Annual Reports on

Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports
filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. We make
available on our website at www.senestech.com, free of charge, copies of these reports, as soon as reasonably
practicable after electronically filing such reports with, or furnishing them to, the Securities and Exchange
Commission. The information contained in, or that can be accessed through, our website is not part of, and is
not incorporated into, this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to our directors and executive officers as of

January 31, 2016:

Name Age Position

Loretta P. Mayer, Ph.D. 67 Chair of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Scientific
Officer

Cheryl A. Dyer, Ph.D. 64 President, Chief Research Officer and Director

Thomas C. Chesterman 57 Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and
Assistant Secretary

Kim Wolin 61 Executive Vice President, Operations, and Secretary

Grover Wickersham 68 Vice-Chair of the Board, Chair of Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee

Marc Dumont 73 Director

Bob Ramsey 71 Director

Matthew Szot 42 Director; Chair of Audit and Compensation Committees

Julia Williams, M.D. 57 Director
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

As discussed under Item 1 of Part I, “Business — Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements,”
our actual results could differ materially from those expressed in our forward-looking statements. Factors that
might cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed below. Additional
risks and uncertainties not presently known to us, or that we currently deem immaterial, may also impair our
business operations. If any of the following risks occur, our business, financial condition, operating results,
cash flows and the trading price of our common stock could be materially adversely affected.

Risks Relating to Commercialization of Our Product Candidates

ContraPest and our other product candidates, if approved, may not achieve adequate market acceptance
necessary for commercial success.

Even following receipt of any regulatory approval for ContraPest or any of our other product candidates, such
products may not gain market acceptance. Market acceptance of any of our product candidates for which we
receive approval depends on a number of factors, including:

e The efficacy and safety of such product candidates as demonstrated in trials;

e The uses, indications or limitations for which the product candidate is approved;

e Acceptance of the product candidate as a safe and effective alternative;

e The potential and perceived advantages of product candidates over alternative products;

e Product labeling or product insert requirements of the EPA or other regulatory authorities;
e The timing of market introduction of our products as well as future competitive products;
. Relative convenience and ease of use;

o The effectiveness of our sales and marketing efforts and those of our collaborators; and

e Unfavorable publicity relating to the product.

If any of our product candidates are approved but fail to achieve market acceptance, we will not be able to
generate significant revenues, which would compromise our ability to become profitable. Furthermore, the
commercial success of ContraPest will depend on a number of factors, including the following:

e The development of a commercial organization or establishment of a commercial partnership with a
commercial infrastructure;

e Establishment of a commercially viable pricing;

*  Our ability to manufacture quantities of ContraPest using commercially acceptable processes and at
a scale sufficient to meet anticipated demand and enable us to reduce our cost of manufacturing;

o Our success in educating end users about the benefits, administration, and use of ContraPest;

e The effectiveness of our own or our potential strategic partners’ marketing, sales and distribution
strategy, and operations; and

e A continued acceptable safety profile of ContraPest following approval.
Many of these factors are beyond our control. If we are unable to successfully commercialize ContraPest, we

may not be able to earn sufficient revenues to continue our business.

We have never marketed a product before, and if we are unable to establish an effective sales force and
marketing and distribution infrastructures, or enter into and rely upon acceptable third party relationships,
we may be unable to generate any revenue.

We are developing but do not currently have an infrastructure for the sales, marketing, and distribution of our
products and the cost of establishing and maintaining such an infrastructure may exceed the cost-effectiveness
of doing so. In order to market ContraPest and any other products that may be approved by the EPA and
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comparable foreign regulatory authorities, we must build our sales, marketing, managerial and other
non-technical capabilities or make arrangements with third parties to perform these services for which we
would incur substantial costs. If we are unable to establish adequate sales, marketing, and distribution
capabilities, whether independently or with third parties, we may not be able to generate product revenue and
may not become profitable. Without an internal commercial organization or the support of a third party to
perform sales and marketing functions, we may be unable to compete successfully against more established
companies.

Risks Related to our Financial Condition and Capital Requirements

We have incurred significant operating losses every quarter since our inception and anticipate that we will
continue to incur significant operating losses in the future.

Investment in product development is highly speculative because it entails substantial upfront capital
expenditures and significant risk that any potential product candidate will fail to demonstrate adequate efficacy
or an acceptable safety profile, gain regulatory approval, or become commercially viable. To date, we have
financed our operations primarily through research grants as well as through the sale of equity securities and
debt financings. Until August 2, 2016, we did not have any products approved by a regulatory authority for
marketing or commercial sale, and we have not generated any revenue from product sales to date. We
continue to incur significant research, development, and other expenses related to our ongoing operations. As a
result, we are not profitable and have incurred losses in every reporting period since our inception. For

the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, we reported net losses of $11.0 million and $18.2 million,
respectively. As of December 31, 2016, we had an accumulated deficit since inception of $61.3 million.

Since inception, we have dedicated a majority of our resources to the discovery and development of our
proprietary product candidates. We expect to continue to incur significant expenses and operating losses for
the foreseeable future. The size of our losses will depend, in part, on the rate of future expenditures and our
ability to generate revenues. In particular, we expect to incur substantial and increased expenses as we:

e Continue the research and development of ContraPest and our other product candidates, including
engaging in any necessary field studies;

e Seek regulatory approvals for ContraPest in various jurisdictions and for our other product
candidates;

e Scale up manufacturing processes and quantities to prepare for the commercialization of ContraPest
and any other product candidates for which we receive regulatory approval,

e Establish an infrastructure for the sales, marketing and distribution of ContraPest and any other
product candidates for which we may receive regulatory approval;

e Attempt to achieve market acceptance for our products;

*  Expand our research and development activities and advance the discovery and development
programs for other product candidates;

*  Maintain, expand and protect our intellectual property portfolio; and

e Add operational, financial and management information systems and personnel, including personnel
to support our clinical development and commercialization efforts and operations as a public
company.

We may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications, delays, and other unknown factors that
may adversely affect our financial condition. Our prior losses and expected future losses have had, and will
continue to have, an adverse effect on our financial condition. If ContraPest or any other product candidate
does not gain sufficient regulatory approval, or if approved, fails to achieve market acceptance, we may never
become profitable. Even if we achieve profitability in the future, we may not be able to sustain profitability in
subsequent periods. Our failure to become and remain profitable would decrease the value of our company
and could impair our ability to raise capital, expand our business, diversify our product offerings or continue
our operations. A decline in the value of our company could cause you to lose all or part of your investment.

19



Depending on the commercial success of ContraPest, we may require additional capital to fund our
operations. Failure to obtain this necessary capital if needed may force us to delay, limit, or terminate our
product development efforts or other operations.

Developing product candidates, including conducting experiments and field studies, obtaining and maintaining
regulatory approval and commercializing any products later approved for sale, is a time-consuming, expensive
and uncertain process that takes years to complete. We expect our expenses to continue to increase in
connection with our ongoing activities, particularly as we advance our commercialization activities.

Based upon our current operating plan, we expect that our cash and cash equivalents of approximately

$11.8 million as of December 31, 2016, will be sufficient to fund our current operations for at least the next
12 months. However, we plan to substantially expand our operations, and as a result of many factors, some of
which may be currently unknown to us, our expenses may be higher than expected.

Securing additional financing may divert our management from their day-to-day activities, which may
adversely affect our ability to develop and commercialize our product candidates, including ContraPest. In
addition, we cannot guarantee that future financing will be available in sufficient amounts or on terms
acceptable to us, if at all. If we are unable to raise additional capital when required or on acceptable terms,
we may be required to:

e Significantly delay, scale back or discontinue the development or commercialization of our product
candidates, including ContraPest;

e Seek strategic partners for the manufacturing, sales and distribution of ContraPest or any of our
other product candidates at an earlier stage than otherwise would be desirable or on terms that are
less favorable than might otherwise be available; and

e Relinquish, or license on unfavorable terms, our rights to technologies or product candidates that we
otherwise would seek to develop or commercialize ourselves.

The occurrence of any of the events described above would have a material adverse effect on our business,
operating results and prospects and on our ability to develop our product candidates.

If we are unable to continue as a going concern, our securities will have little or no value.

We have incurred operating losses since our inception, and we expect to continue to incur significant expenses
and operating losses for the foreseeable future. If we encounter significant issues or delays in the launch of
ContraPest, these prior losses and expected future losses could have an adverse effect on our financial
condition, negatively impact our ability to fund continued operations, our ability to obtain additional financing
in the future and our ability to continue as a going concern. There are no assurances that such financing, if
necessary, will be available to us at all or will be available in sufficient amounts or on reasonable terms. Our
financial statements do not include any adjustments that may result from the outcome of this uncertainty.
Although we have raised additional capital since December 31, 2015 through private offerings of our equity
securities and our initial public offering of 1,875,000 shares of our common stock in December, 2016, if we
are unable to generate additional funds in the future through financings, sales of our products, licensing fees,
royalty payments, or from other sources or transactions, we will exhaust our resources and will be unable to
continue operations. If we cannot continue as a going concern, our stockholders would likely lose most or all
of their investment in us.

Raising additional capital may cause dilution to our existing stockholders, restrict our operations, or
require us to relinquish rights to our technologies or product candidates.

Until such time, if ever, as we can generate sufficient product revenues, we expect to finance our cash needs
primarily through the sale of equity securities, debt financings, credit facilities and government and foundation
grants. We may also seek to raise capital through third-party collaborations, strategic alliances and similar
arrangements. We currently do not have any committed external source of funds. Raising funds in the future
may present additional challenges and future financing may not be available in sufficient amounts or on terms
acceptable to us, if at all. The terms of any financing arrangements we enter into may adversely affect the
holdings or the rights of our stockholders and the issuance of additional securities by us, or the possibility of
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such issuance, may cause the market price of our shares to decline. The sale of additional equity or
convertible debt securities would dilute all of our stockholders. The incurrence of indebtedness through credit
facilities would result in increased fixed payment obligations and, potentially, the imposition of restrictive
covenants. Those covenants may include limitations on our ability to incur additional debt, making capital
expenditures or declaring dividends, and may impose limitations on our ability to acquire, sell, or license
intellectual property rights and other operating restrictions that could adversely impact our ability to conduct
our business. If we raise additional funds through collaborations, strategic alliances, or licensing arrangements
or other marketing or distribution arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights
to our technologies, future revenue streams, research programs or product candidates, or grant licenses on
terms that may not be favorable to us. If we are unable to expand our operations or otherwise capitalize on
our business opportunities, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially
adversely affected. If we are unable to raise additional funds through equity or debt financings when needed,
we may be required to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product development or commercialization efforts,
or grant others rights to develop and market product candidates that we would otherwise prefer to develop and
market ourselves.

Risks Relating to the Development and Regulatory Approval of Our Product Candidates

Our future success is dependent on the regulatory approval and commercialization of ContraPest and any
of our other product candidates.

The EPA granted registration approval for ContraPest effective August 2, 2016, but we must still obtain
applicable state approval and will also seek regulatory approval in other jurisdictions. As a result, our
near-term prospects, including our ability to finance our operations and generate revenue, are substantially
dependent on our ability to obtain sufficient regulatory approval for ContraPest, and, if approved, to
successfully commercialize ContraPest. We cannot commercialize our product candidates in the U.S. without
first obtaining regulatory approval for each product and each use pattern from the EPA or, if applicable, the
Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, and from any related applicable state authorities. Before obtaining
regulatory approvals for the commercial sale of any product candidate for a target indication, the law requires
that applicants demonstrate through laboratory and field studies and related data that the product candidate
will perform its intended function without causing unreasonable adverse effects on the environment. The EPA
or a comparable foreign regulatory authority may require more information, including additional data to
support approval that may delay or prevent approval.

Regulatory approval processes of the EPA and comparable foreign regulatory authorities are lengthy,
time-consuming and unpredictable, and if we are ultimately unable to obtain regulatory approval for our
product candidates, our business may fail.

Although we obtained EPA approval for ContraPest in less than one year, the EPA review process for a
product with one or more new active ingredients typically takes approximately two years to complete and
approval is never guaranteed. Our other product candidates could fail to receive marketing approval from the
EPA or, with respect to ContraPest or our other product candidates, from a comparable foreign regulatory
authority for many reasons, including:

e Disagreement over the design or implementation of our trials;

e Failure to demonstrate a product candidate that is safe;

e Failure to demonstrate a product candidate’s benefits outweigh its risks;
e Disagreement over our interpretation of data;

*  Disagreement over whether to accept efficacy results from trials;

e The insufficiency of data collected from trials of ContraPest or our other product candidates to
obtain regulatory approval;

e Trreparable or critical compliance issues relating to our manufacturing process; or

e Changes in the approval policies or regulations that render our data insufficient for approval.
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Any of these factors, some of which are beyond our control, could jeopardize our ability to obtain regulatory
approval for and successfully market any of our product candidates. Any such setback in our pursuit of
regulatory approval would have a material adverse effect on our business and prospects.

Even following receipt of any regulatory approval for ContraPest and our other product candidates, we will
continue to face extensive regulatory requirements and our products may face future development and
regulatory difficulties.

Even following receipt of any regulatory approval for ContraPest or our product candidates, such products
will be subject to ongoing requirements by the EPA and comparable state and foreign regulatory authorities
governing the manufacture, quality control, further development, labeling, packaging, storage, distribution,
safety surveillance, import, export, advertising, promotion, recordkeeping, and reporting of safety and other
post-market information. The safety profile of any product will continue to be closely monitored by the EPA
and comparable foreign regulatory authorities after approval. If the EPA or comparable foreign regulatory
authorities become aware of new safety information after approval of ContraPest or any other product
candidate, a number of potentially significant negative consequences could result, including:

¢ We may be forced to suspend marketing of such product;

e Regulatory authorities may withdraw their approvals of such product after certain procedural
requirements have been met;

e Regulatory authorities may require additional warnings on the label that could diminish the usage or
otherwise limit the commercial success of such product;

e The EPA or other regulatory bodies may issue safety alerts, press releases, or other communications
containing warnings about such product;

e The EPA may require the establishment or modification of restricted use or a comparable foreign
regulatory authority may require the establishment or modification of a similar strategy that may, for
instance, restrict distribution of our product and impose burdensome implementation requirements
on us;

e We may be required to change the way the product is administered or conduct additional trials;
o We could be sued and held liable for harm caused;
*  We may be subject to litigation or product liability claims; and

e Our reputation may suffer.

Any of these events could prevent us from achieving or maintaining market acceptance of the particular
product candidate, if approved, and could significantly harm our business, results of operations and prospects.

Moreover, existing government regulations may change and additional government regulations may be enacted
that could prevent, limit, or delay regulatory approval of ContraPest or any other product candidates. If we are
slow or unable to adapt to changes in existing requirements or the adoption of new requirements or policies,
or if we are not able to maintain regulatory compliance, we may lose any marketing approval that we may
have obtained and/or be subject to fines or enhanced government oversight and reporting obligations, which
would adversely affect our business, prospects, and ability to achieve or sustain profitability.

Even following receipt of any regulatory approval for ContraPest and our other product candidates, we will
continue to be subject to regulation of our manufacturing processes and advertising practices.

Manufacturers of pest control products are subject to continual government oversight and periodic inspections
by the EPA and other regulatory authorities. If we or a regulatory agency discover problems with a facility
where the product is manufactured, a regulatory agency may impose restrictions on the manufacturing facility,
including requiring recall or withdrawal of the product from the market or suspension of manufacturing until
certain procedural requirements have been met. The occurrence of any such event or penalty could limit our
ability to market ContraPest or any other product candidates and generate revenue.
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In addition, the EPA strictly regulates the advertising and promotion of pest control products, and these pest
control products may only be marketed or promoted for their EPA approved uses, consistent with the product’s
approved labeling. Advertising and promotion of any product candidate that obtains approval in the U.S. will
be heavily scrutinized by the EPA, other applicable state regulatory agencies and the public. Violations,
including promotion of our products for unapproved or off-label uses, are subject to enforcement actions,
inquiries and investigations, and civil, criminal and/or administrative sanctions imposed by the EPA.

Failure to obtain regulatory approval in foreign jurisdictions would prevent ContraPest or any other
product candidates from being marketed in those jurisdictions.

To market and sell our products globally, we must obtain separate marketing approvals and comply with
numerous and varying regulatory requirements. The approval procedure varies among countries and can
involve additional testing. The time required to obtain approval may differ substantially from that required to
obtain EPA approval. Obtaining foreign regulatory approvals and maintaining compliance with foreign
regulatory requirements could result in significant delays, difficulties, and cost for us and could delay or
prevent the introduction of our products in certain countries. Approval by the EPA does not ensure approval
by regulatory authorities in other countries or jurisdictions, but EPA approval may influence decisions by the
foreign regulatory authority. If we are unable to obtain approval of ContraPest or for any of our other product
candidates by regulatory authorities in the world market, the commercial prospects of that product candidate
may be significantly diminished and our business prospects could decline.

Risks Relating to Our Dependence on Third Parties

We do not currently have internal full-scale manufacturing capability and we must rely upon third parties
to manufacture our products or develop our own full-scale manufacturing capability.

Our existing internal manufacturing platform is adequate for meeting our current demand for ContraPest, and is
being expanded to meet further anticipated demand. We may be required to spend significant time and resources
to expand these manufacturing facilities to fully meet demand. If we are unable to develop our own full-scale
manufacturing capabilities, we may not be able to meet demand of our products, and our business plan could fail.

If a current or future strategic partner terminates or fails to perform its obligations under an agreement
with us, the development and commercialization of our product candidates could be delayed or terminated.

We are currently party to various production, marketing and distribution arrangements, including strategic
partnership agreements with Bioceres and NeoVenta. Partnership agreements may not lead to development or
commercialization of product candidates in the most efficient manner, or at all. If our partners do not devote
sufficient time and resources to their strategic arrangement with us, we may not realize the potential
commercial benefits of the arrangement, and our results of operations may be materially adversely affected.

Much of the potential revenue from our current and future strategic partnerships may consist of contingent
payments, such as payments for achieving regulatory milestones or royalties payable on sales of our products.
The milestone and royalty revenue that we may receive under these partnerships will depend upon our
partners’ ability and willingness to successfully develop, introduce, market and sell ContraPest and any other
product candidates for which we receive regulatory approval. Our partners may fail to develop or effectively
commercialize products using our products or technologies because they:

e Decide not to devote the necessary resources due to internal constraints, such as limited personnel
with the requisite expertise, limited cash resources or specialized equipment limitations, or the belief
that other development programs may have a higher likelihood of obtaining marketing approval or
may potentially generate a greater return on investment;

e Decide to pursue other technologies or develop other product candidates, either on their own or in
collaboration with others, including our competitors, to treat the same problems targeted by our own
products;

e Do not have sufficient resources necessary to carry the product candidate through development,
marketing approval and commercialization; or

e Cannot obtain the necessary regulatory approvals.

23



Competition for our products and market forces in general may negatively impact any of our partners’ focus
on and commitment to our relationship and, as a result, could delay or otherwise negatively affect the
commercialization of our products, which would have a material adverse effect on our operating results and
financial condition.

We face a number of challenges in seeking future strategic partnerships. Strategic partnerships are complex
and any potential discussions may not result in a definitive agreement for many reasons. For example, whether
we reach a definitive agreement for a future partnership will depend, among other things, upon our assessment
of the potential partner’s resources and expertise, the terms and conditions of the proposed partnership, and
the proposed partnership’s evaluation of a number of factors, such as the design or results of our field studies,
the potential market for our product candidates, the costs and complexities of manufacturing and delivering
our product candidates to customers, the potential of competing products, the existence of uncertainty with
respect to ownership or the coverage of our intellectual property, and industry and market conditions
generally. If we determine that additional partnerships for our product candidates are necessary and are unable
to enter into such partnerships on acceptable terms, we might elect to delay or scale back the development or
commercialization of our product candidates in order to preserve our financial resources or to allow us
adequate time to develop the required physical resources and systems and expertise ourselves.

Risks Relating to Our Business Operations and Industry

We will need to expand our operations and grow the size of our organization, and we may experience
difficulties in managing this growth.

As of December 31, 2016, we had 27 full-time and two part-time employees. As our development and
commercialization plans and strategies develop, or as a result of any as yet unforeseen acquisitions, we will
need additional managerial, operational, sales, marketing, scientific, financial headcount, and other resources.
Our management, personnel, and systems currently in place may not be adequate to support this future
growth. Future growth would impose significant added responsibilities on members of management, including:

e Managing our trials effectively, which we anticipate being conducted at numerous field study sites;

e Identifying, recruiting, maintaining, motivating and integrating additional employees with the
expertise and experience we will require;

*  Managing our internal development efforts effectively while complying with our contractual
obligations to licensors, licensees, contractors and other third parties;

e Managing additional relationships with various strategic partners, suppliers, and other third parties;

*  Improving our managerial, development, operational, marketing, production, and finance reporting
systems and procedures; and

*  Expanding our facilities.

Our failure to accomplish any of these tasks could prevent us from successfully growing our business.

We depend on key personnel to operate our business. If we are unable to retain, attract, and integrate
qualified personnel, our ability to develop and successfully grow our business could be harmed.

We believe that our future success is highly dependent on the contributions of our significant employees, as
well as our ability to attract and retain highly skilled and experienced sales, research and development, and
other personnel in the U.S. and abroad. All of our employees, including our co-founders (one of which is also
our chief executive officer), are free to terminate their employment relationship with us at any time, subject to
any applicable notice requirements, and their knowledge of our business and industry would be difficult to
replace. If one or more of our co-founders, executive officers or significant employees terminates his or her
employment or becomes disabled or experiences long-term illness, we may not be able to replace their
expertise, fully integrate new personnel or replicate the prior working relationships, and the loss of their
services might significantly delay or prevent the achievement of our research, development and business
objectives. Qualified individuals with the breadth of skills and experience in our industry that we require are
in high demand, and we may incur significant costs to attract them. Many of the other companies that we
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compete against for qualified personnel have greater financial and other resources, different risk profiles, and a
longer history in the industry than we do. They also may provide more diverse opportunities and better
chances for career advancement. Additionally, our facilities are located in Arizona, which may make attracting
and retaining qualified scientific and technical personnel from outside of Arizona difficult. Our failure to
attract or retain key personnel could impede the achievement of our research, development, and
commercialization objectives.

We have not fully assessed our internal control over financial reporting. We have previously identified and
may in the future identify material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting. If we are
unable to remediate these material weaknesses, or if we experience additional material weaknesses in the
future or otherwise fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may not be able to
accurately or timely report our financial condition or results of operations, which may adversely affect
investor confidence in us and, as a result, the value of our common stock.

In connection with the preparation of our consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2015, we identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting
such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our financial statements will not be
prevented or detected on a timely basis. We have addressed and resolved the issues identified in 2015.

We are in the process of implementing measures designed further to improve our internal control over
financial reporting, including how to remediate the control deficiencies that led to our previously identified
material weaknesses, including:

e the appointment of a Corporate Controller in May 2016;
e the establishment of formalized accounting policies and procedures and internal controls; and

e the implementation of manual and automated controls to support our overall control environment
and the segregation of duties and procedures.

We have not been required to and have not filed an annual report for fiscal year 2016, so pursuant to SEC
regulations, we are not yet required to evaluate the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting. Similarly, because we are an emerging growth company, we are not required to include an auditor
attestation report on our internal control over financial reporting in this annual report. As a result, we have not
fully assessed our internal control over financial reporting and are unable to assure that the measures we have
taken to date, together with any measures we may take in the future, will be sufficient to remediate the control
deficiencies that led to our material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, or to avoid
potential future material weaknesses.

If we are unable to maintain an effective system of internal control over financial reporting, successfully
remediate any existing or future material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, or
identify any additional material weaknesses, the accuracy and timing of our financial reporting may be
adversely affected, we may be unable to maintain compliance with securities law requirements regarding
timely filing of periodic reports in addition to Nasdaq listing requirements, investors may lose confidence in
our financial reporting, and our stock price may decline as a result.

We may be subject to legal proceedings in the ordinary course of our business that could result in
significant harm to our business, financial condition and operating results.

We could be subject to legal proceedings and claims from time to time in the ordinary course of our business,
including actions arising from tort, contract or other claims. Litigation is expensive, time consuming, and
could divert management’s attention away from running our business. The outcome of litigation or other
proceedings is subject to significant uncertainty, and it is possible that an adverse resolution of one or more
such proceedings could result in reputational harm and/or significant monetary damages, injunctive relief or
settlement costs that could adversely affect our results of operations or financial condition as well as our
ability to conduct our business as it is presently being conducted. Insurance might not cover such claims,
might not provide sufficient payments to cover all the costs to resolve one or more such claims, and might not
be available on terms acceptable to us. In addition, regardless of merit or outcome, claims brought against us
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that are uninsured or underinsured could result in unanticipated costs, which could harm our business,
financial condition and operating results and reduce the trading price of our stock.

Product liability lawsuits against us could cause us to incur substantial liabilities and to limit
commercialization of any products that we may develop.

We face an inherent risk of product liability exposure related to the use of ContraPest and any of our other
products. If we cannot successfully defend ourselves against claims from our product users, we could incur
substantial liabilities. Regardless of merit or eventual outcome, liability claims may result in:

e Decreased demand for any product that we may develop;

o Termination of field studies or other research and development efforts;

e Injury to our reputation and significant negative media attention;

e Significant costs to defend the related litigation;

e Substantial monetary awards to plaintiffs;

*  Loss of revenue;

e Diversion of management and scientific resources from our business operations; and

e The inability to commercialize our product candidates.

We may be unable to obtain commercially reasonable product liability insurance for any products approved
for marketing. Large judgments have been awarded in class action lawsuits based on products that had
unanticipated side effects, including, without limitation, any potential adverse effects of our products on
humans or other species. A successful product liability claim or series of claims brought against us,
particularly if judgments exceed our insurance coverage, could decrease our cash and adversely affect our
business.

Business disruptions, including supply-chain disruptions, could seriously harm our future revenues and
financial condition and increase our costs and expenses.

Our operations could be subject to a variety of potential business disruptions, including power shortages,
telecommunications failures, water shortages, floods, fires, earthquakes, extreme weather conditions, medical
epidemics and other natural or man-made disasters or other interruptions, for which we are predominantly
self-insured. We do not carry insurance for all categories of risk that our business may encounter. The
occurrence of any of these business disruptions could seriously harm our operations and financial condition
and increase our costs and expenses. Moreover, we rely on various third parties to supply various ingredients
and other items which are critical for producing our product candidates. Our ability to produce our product
candidates would be disrupted if the operations of these suppliers are affected by a man-made or natural
disaster or other business interruption. The ultimate impact on our operations from any business interruption
impacting us or any of our significant suppliers is unknown, but our operations and financial condition would
likely suffer adverse consequences. Further, any significant uninsured liability may require us to pay
substantial amounts, which would adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition, and
cash flows from future prospects.

We are dependent on a key ingredient for ContraPest, triptolide, which has limited sources and must be in
a very refined condition.

If we are unable to develop additional sources of triptolide, which is one of the key ingredients for
ContraPest, the long term ability to produce ContraPest at a cost effective price could be in jeopardy; the
limited sources could restrict our production if supplies were reduced; another use of the ingredient could
cause the price to increase beyond our ability to market at a competitive price; and increased demand for the
ingredient could cause the quality of the refined ingredient to be less than needed for our production.
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A variety of risks associated with marketing our product candidates internationally could materially
adversely affect our business.

We plan to seek regulatory approval of our product candidates outside of the U.S. and, accordingly, we expect
that we will be subject to additional risks related to operating in foreign countries if we obtain the necessary
approvals, including:

e Differing regulatory requirements in foreign countries;

e Unexpected changes in tariffs, trade barriers, price and exchange controls and other regulatory
requirements;

e Economic weakness, including inflation or political instability in particular foreign economies and
markets;

e Compliance with tax, employment, immigration and labor laws for employees living or traveling
abroad;

*  Foreign taxes, including withholding of payroll taxes;

e Foreign currency fluctuations, which could result in increased operating expenses and reduced
revenue, and other obligations incident to doing business in another country;

e Difficulties staffing and managing foreign operations;
o Workforce uncertainty in countries where labor unrest is more common than in the United States;

e Potential liability under the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, or the FCPA,
or comparable foreign regulations;

e Challenges enforcing our contractual and intellectual property rights, especially in those foreign
countries that do not respect and protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as the
United States;

*  Production shortages resulting from any events affecting raw material supply or manufacturing
capabilities abroad; and

e Business interruptions resulting from geo-political actions, including war and terrorism.

These and other risks associated with our international operations may materially adversely affect our ability
to attain or maintain profitable operations.

We are subject to anti-corruption and anti-money laundering laws with respect to our operations and
non-compliance with such laws can subject us to criminal and/or civil liability and harm our business.

We are subject to the FCPA, which is the U.S. domestic bribery statute contained in 18 U.S.C. §201, the
U.S. Travel Act, the USA PATRIOT Act and possibly other anti-bribery and anti-money laundering laws in
countries in which we conduct activities. Anti-corruption laws are interpreted broadly and prohibit companies
and their employees and third-party intermediaries from authorizing, offering or providing, directly or
indirectly, improper payments or benefits to recipients in the public or private sector. As we commercialize
our product candidates and eventually commence international sales and business, we may engage with
collaborators and third-party intermediaries to sell our products abroad and to obtain necessary permits,
licenses and other regulatory approvals. We or our third-party intermediaries may have direct or indirect
interactions with officials and employees of government agencies or state-owned or affiliated entities. We can
be held liable for the corrupt or other illegal activities of these third-party intermediaries, our employees,
representatives, contractors, partners and agents, even if we do not explicitly authorize such activities.

Noncompliance with anti-corruption and anti-money laundering laws could subject us to whistleblower
complaints, investigations, sanctions, settlements, prosecution, other enforcement actions, disgorgement of
profits, significant fines, damages, other civil and criminal penalties or injunctions, suspension and/or
debarment from contracting with certain persons, the loss of export privileges, reputational harm, adverse
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media coverage and other collateral consequences. Responding to any action will likely result in a materially
significant diversion of management’s attention and resources and significant defense costs and other
professional fees.

Risks Related to Protecting Our Intellectual Property

If we are unable to obtain or protect intellectual property rights, our competitive position could be harmed.

We depend on our ability to protect our proprietary technology. We rely on trade secret, patent, copyright and
trademark laws, and confidentiality, licensing, and other agreements with employees and third parties, all of
which offer only limited protection. Our commercial success will depend in part on our ability to obtain and
maintain intellectual property protection in the United States and other countries with respect to our
proprietary technology and products. Where we deem appropriate, we seek to protect our proprietary position
by filing patent applications in the U.S. and abroad related to our novel technologies and products that are
important to our business. Patent positions of companies generally are highly uncertain, involve complex legal
and factual questions and have, in recent years, been the subject of much litigation. As a result, the issuance,
scope, validity, enforceability, and commercial value of our patents, including those patent rights licensed to
us by third parties, are highly uncertain.

The steps we have taken to protect our proprietary rights may not be adequate to preclude misappropriation of
our proprietary information or infringement of our intellectual property rights, both inside and outside the

U.S. The rights already granted under any of our currently issued patents and those that may be granted under
future issued patents may not provide us with the proprietary protection or competitive advantages we are
seeking. If we are unable to obtain and maintain protection for our technology and products, or if the scope of
the protection obtained is not sufficient, our competitors could develop and commercialize technology and
products similar or superior to ours, and our ability to successfully commercialize our technology and
products may be adversely affected.

With respect to patent rights, we do not know whether any of our pending patent applications for any of our
technologies or products will result in the issuance of patents that protect such technologies or products, or if
our licensed patent will effectively prevent others from commercializing competitive technologies and
products. Our pending patent applications cannot be enforced against third parties practicing the technology
claimed in such applications unless and until a patent issues from such applications. Further, the examination
process may require us to narrow the claims for our pending patent applications, which may limit the scope of
patent protection that may be obtained if these applications issue. Because the issuance of a patent is not
conclusive as to its inventorship, scope, validity, or enforceability, issued patents that we own or have licensed
from third parties may be challenged in the courts or patent offices in the U.S. and abroad. Such challenges
may result in the loss of patent protection, the narrowing of claims in such patents, or the invalidity or
unenforceability of such patents, which could limit our ability to stop others from using or commercializing
similar or identical technology and products, or limit the duration of the patent protection for our technology
and products. Protecting against the unauthorized use of our patented technology, trademarks, and other
intellectual property rights, is expensive, difficult, and in some cases, may not be possible. In some cases, it
may be difficult or impossible to detect third-party infringement or misappropriation of our intellectual
property rights, even in relation to issued patent claims, and proving any such infringement may be even more
difficult.

Intellectual property rights do not necessarily address all potential threats to any competitive advantage we
may have.

The degree of future protection afforded by our intellectual property rights is uncertain because intellectual
property rights have limitations, and may not adequately protect our business, or permit us to maintain our
competitive advantage. The following examples are illustrative:

e Others may be able to make compounds that are the same as or similar to our future products but
that are not covered by the claims of the patents that we own or have exclusively licensed;

*  We or any of our licensors or strategic partners might not have been the first to file patent
applications covering certain of our inventions;
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e Others may independently develop similar or alternative technologies or duplicate any of our
technologies without infringing on our intellectual property rights;

»  Issued patents that we own or have exclusively licensed may not provide us with any competitive
advantages, or may be held invalid or unenforceable, as a result of legal challenges by our
competitors;

e Our competitors might conduct research and development activities in the U.S. and other countries
that provide a safe harbor from patent infringement claims for certain research and development
activities, as well as in countries where we do not have patent rights and then use the information
learned from such activities to develop competitive products for sale in our major commercial
markets;

¢ We may not develop additional proprietary technologies that are patentable; and

e The patents of others may have an adverse effect on our business.

Our technology may be found to infringe third-party intellectual property rights.

Third parties may in the future assert claims or initiate litigation related to their patent, copyright, trademark
and other intellectual property rights in technology that is important to us. The asserted claims and/or
litigation could include claims against us, our licensors, or our suppliers alleging infringement of intellectual
property rights with respect to our product candidates or components of those products. Regardless of the
merit of the claims, they could be time consuming, resulting in costly litigation and diversion of technical and
management personnel, or require us to develop non-infringing technology or enter into license agreements.
We cannot assure you that licenses will be available on acceptable terms, if at all. Furthermore, because of the
potential for significant damage awards, which are not necessarily predicable, it is not unusual to find even
arguably unmeritorious claims resulting in large settlements. If any infringement or other intellectual property
claim made against us by any third party is successful, or if we fail to develop non-infringing technology or
license the proprietary rights on commercially reasonable terms and conditions, our business, operating results,
and financial condition could be materially adversely affected.

If our product candidates, methods, processes, and other technologies infringe the proprietary rights of other
parties, we could incur substantial costs and we may have to:

o Obtain licenses, which may not be available on commercially reasonable terms, if at all;
*  Redesign our product candidates or processes to avoid infringement;

e Stop using the subject matter claimed in the patents held by others;

e Pay damages; or

e Defend litigation or administrative proceedings which may be costly whether we win or lose, and
which could result in a substantial diversion of our financial and management resources.

We may need to license intellectual property from third parties, and such licenses may not be available or
may not be available on commercially reasonable terms.

A third party may hold intellectual property, including patent rights that are important or necessary to the
development of our product candidates. It may be necessary for us to use the patented or proprietary
technology of a third party to manufacture or otherwise commercialize our own technology or products, in
which case we would be required to obtain a license from such third party. Licensing such intellectual
property may not be available or may not be available on commercially reasonable terms, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business and financial condition.
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Risks Related to Owning Shares of Our Common Stock
Our share price may be volatile, which could subject us to securities class action litigation and prevent you
Jrom being able to sell your shares at or above the price at which you acquired it.

Our stock could be subject to wide fluctuation in response to many risk factors listed in this section, and
others beyond our control, including:

e Results and timing of our submissions with the EPA and other comparable regulatory authorities;
e Failure or discontinuation of any of our development programs;

e Regulatory developments or enforcements in the U.S. and non-U.S. countries with respect to our
products or our competitors’ products;

e Failure to achieve pricing acceptable to the market;

e Regulatory actions with respect to our products or our competitors’ products;

e Actual or anticipated fluctuations in our financial condition and operating results;
e Competition from existing products or new products that may emerge;

*  Announcements by us or our competitors of significant acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint
ventures, collaborations, or capital commitments;

e Issuance of new or updated research or reports by securities analysts;

e Fluctuations in the valuation of companies perceived by investors to be comparable to us;

e Share price and volume fluctuations attributable to inconsistent trading volume levels of our shares;
*  Additions or departures of key management or scientific personnel;

e Disputes or other developments related to proprietary rights, including patents, litigation matters, and
our ability to obtain patent protection for our technologies;

e Entry by us into any material litigation or other proceedings;

*  Announcement or expectation of additional financing efforts;

o Sales of our common stock by us, our insiders, or our other stockholders;
o Market conditions for stocks in general; and

*  General economic and market conditions unrelated to our performance.

Furthermore, the stock markets have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have affected and
continue to affect the market prices of equity securities of many companies. These fluctuations often have
been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of those companies. These broad market and
industry fluctuations, as well as general economic, political, and market conditions such as recessions, interest
rate changes, or international currency fluctuations, may negatively impact the market price of shares of our
common stock. In addition, such fluctuations could subject us to securities class action litigation, which could
result in substantial costs and divert our management’s attention from other business concerns, which could
seriously harm our business. You may not realize any return on your investment in us and may lose some or
all of your investment.

An active market in the shares may not continue to develop in which investors can resell our common
stock.

We cannot predict the extent to which an active market for our common stock will continue to develop or be
sustained, or how the development of such a market might affect the market price for our common stock.
Market conditions in effect at the time you acquire our stock may not be indicative of the price at which our
common stock will trade in the future. Investors may not be able to sell their common stock at or above the
price they acquired it.
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If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research
about our business, our stock price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock will depend on the research and reports that securities or industry
analysts publish about us or our business. We do not have any control over these analysts. We cannot assure
that analysts will cover us or provide favorable coverage. If one or more of the analysts who cover us
downgrade our stock or change their opinion of our stock, our share price would likely decline. If one or
more of these analysts cease coverage of us or fail to regularly publish reports on us, we could lose visibility
in the financial markets, which could cause our stock price or trading volume to decline.

Future sales, or the possibility of future sales, of a substantial number of our common shares could
adversely affect the price of the shares and dilute stockholders.

Future sales of a substantial number of our common shares, or the perception that such sales will occur, could
cause a decline in the market price of our common shares. As of March 29, 2017, we have 10,161,042
common shares outstanding. Each of our directors and executive officers and certain of our other security
holders are subject to certain lock-up agreements which expire in June, 2017. If, after the end of such lock-up
agreements, these stockholders sell substantial amounts of common shares in the public market, or the market
perceives that such sales may occur, the market price of our common shares and our ability to raise capital
through an issue of equity securities in the future could be adversely affected.

In addition, in the future, we may issue additional common shares or other equity or debt securities
convertible into common shares in connection with a financing, acquisition, litigation settlement, employee
arrangements, or otherwise. Any such issuance could result in substantial dilution to our existing stockholders
and could cause our common share price to decline.

We are an “‘emerging growth company” as that term is used in the JOBS Act, and we intend to take
advantage of reduced disclosure and governance requirements applicable to emerging growth companies,
which could result in our common stock being less attractive to investors and adversely affect the market
price of our common stock or make it more difficult to raise capital as and when we need it.

We are an “‘emerging growth company’ as that term is used in the JOBS Act, and we intend to take
advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public
companies that are not emerging growth companies including, but not limited to, not being required to comply
with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure
obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements, exemptions from
the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and stockholder approval
of any golden parachute payments not previously approved, and exemptions from any rules that the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board may adopt requiring mandatory audit firm rotation or a supplement to
the auditor’s report on the financial statements. We currently intend to take advantage of some, but not all, of
the reduced regulatory and reporting requirements that will be available to us under the JOBS Act, so long as
we qualify as an “‘emerging growth company.” For example, so long as we qualify as an “emerging growth
company,” we may elect not to provide you with certain information, including certain financial information
and certain information regarding compensation of our executive officers, that we would have otherwise been
required to provide in filings we make with the SEC, which may make it more difficult for investors and
securities analysts to evaluate us.

We cannot predict if investors will find our common stock less attractive because we will rely on these
exemptions. If some investors find our common stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less active
trading market for our common stock and our stock price may be more volatile. We may take advantage of
these reporting exemptions until we are no longer an emerging growth company, which in certain
circumstances could be for up to five years.
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Because of the exemptions from various reporting requirements provided to us as an “‘emerging growth
company,” we may be less attractive to investors and it may be difficult for us to raise additional capital as
and when we need it. Investors may be unable to compare our business with other companies in our industry
if they believe that our financial accounting is not as transparent as other companies in our industry. If we are
unable to raise additional capital as and when we need it, our business, results of operations, financial
condition and cash flows, and future prospects may be materially and adversely affected.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

Not applicable.

Item 2. Properties.

As of December 31, 2016, our corporate headquarters are located in Flagstaff, Arizona, where we lease and
occupy 17,797 square feet of office and industrial space pursuant to a lease that commenced on December 20,
2011 and expires on December 31, 2019. Our manufacturing facility is located within our corporate
headquarters, occupying 4,865 square feet of the total space. On November 16, 2016, we leased an additional
25,000 square feet of research and development space, also in Flagstaff, This lease expires on November 15,
2018. We believe that our existing facilities are adequate and meet our current needs for business,
manufacturing and research and development.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

As previously disclosed in our Current Report on Form 8-K dated and filed January 23, 2017, on January 23,
2017 we entered into an agreement (the ‘““Settlement Agreement’”) with Neogen Corporation (‘“‘Neogen”).
Pursuant to the Settlement Agreement, the parties agreed to (a) terminate the existing Exclusive License
Agreement between us and Neogen dated May 15, 2014 (the “License Agreement’’), with neither Neogen or
us having any further obligations thereunder (other than certain confidentiality obligations); (b) dismiss with
prejudice the court action filed by Neogen in the District Court for the District of Arizona on January 19,
2017 (the “Court Action”), as further described below; and (c) mutually release any and all existing or future
claims between the parties and their affiliates related to or arising from the License Agreement or the Court
Action. As part of the Settlement Agreement, we agreed to pay to Neogen upon the execution of the
Settlement Agreement an aggregate of $1,000,000, which includes, in part, reimbursement of payments
previously made to the Company by Neogen under the License Agreement.

In the Court Action, Neogen raised claims relating to, among other things, alleged breaches by us of the
License Agreement, interference with Neogen’s business, indemnification and misrepresentation. As part of the
Settlement Agreement, Neogen agreed to dismiss with prejudice the Court Action and release us and our
affiliates from any and all existing or future claims relating to or arising from the License Agreement.
Pursuant to the Settlement Agreement, the parties agreed that such agreement is a settlement of all
disagreements that have arisen between Neogen and us and that the entry into the Settlement Agreement shall
not be construed or considered to be an admission of any liability by either party or of the merits of any or
claims that may have been raised between them, including in the Court Action.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities.

Market Information

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol “SNES.” The following table
sets forth the high and low closing prices for our common stock for the periods indicated, as reported by the
NASDAQ Capital Market. Our common stock was initially listed for trading on the NASDAQ Capital Market
on December 8, 2016.

High Low

Year Ended December 31, 2016:
Fourth Quarter (beginning December 8, 2016) .. ........ ... ... .. ...... $8.25 $8.00

Holders

As of March 29, 2017, there were 867 holders of record of our common stock. Because many shares of our
common stock are held by brokers and other institutions on behalf of shareholders, we are unable to
determine the total number of shareholders represented by these holders of record.

Stock Performance Graph

Not applicable.
Dividends

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain all
available funds and any future earnings to support our operations and finance the growth and development of
our business. We do not intend to pay cash dividends on our common stock for the foreseeable future. Any
future determination related to our dividend policy will be made at the discretion of our board of directors and
will depend upon, among other factors, our results of operations, financial condition, capital requirements,
contractual restrictions, business prospects and other factors our board of directors may deem relevant.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data.
Not applicable.

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations should be
read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes. This Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations may contain some statements and information that
are not historical facts but are forward-looking statements. For a discussion of these forward-looking statements,
and of important factors that could cause results to differ materially from the forward-looking statements contained
in this report, see Item 1 of Part I, “Business — Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements,” and
Item 1A of Part I, “Risk Factors.”

Overview

Since our inception in 2004, we have devoted substantially all of our resources to organizing and staffing our
company, conducting research and development activities for our product candidates, business planning,
raising capital and acquiring and developing product and technology rights. Until August 2016, we did not
have any products approved for sale, and we have not generated any revenue from product sales. We have
funded our operations to date with proceeds from the sale of common stock and preferred stock, the issuance
of convertible and other promissory notes and, to a lesser extent, payments received in connection with
research grants and licensing fees. Through December 31, 2016, we had received net proceeds of

$41.8 million from our sales of common stock, preferred stock and issuance of convertible and other
promissory notes and an aggregate of $1.6 million from research grants and licensing fees. In December 2015,
our outstanding convertible and certain other promissory notes and accrued interest thereon, aggregating

$2.9 million, were exchanged for shares of Series B convertible preferred stock.
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On December 8, 2016, immediately prior to our public offering of 1,875,000 shares of our common stock,
883,609 of our Series A and Series B convertible preferred shares were exchanged for 883,609 share of our
common stock in connection with our public offering.

We have incurred significant operating losses every year since our inception. Our net losses was $11.0 million
and $18.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 respectively. As of December 31, 2016,
we had an accumulated deficit of $61.3 million. We expect to continue to incur significant expenses and
generate operating losses for at least the next 12 months.

We have historically utilized, and intend to continue to utilize, various forms of stock-based awards in order
to hire, retain and motivate talented employees, consultants and directors and encourage them to devote their
best efforts to our business and financial success. In addition, we believe that our ability to grant stock-based
awards is a valuable and necessary compensation tool that aligns the long-term financial interests of our
employees, consultants and directors with the financial interests of our stockholders.

As a result, a significant portion of our operating expenses includes stock-based compensation expense.
Stock-based compensation expense has been, and will continue to be for the foreseeable future, a significant
recurring expense in our business and an important part of our compensation strategy. Specifically, our
stock-based compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 was

$3.4 million and $11.3 million, respectively, which represented 31.4% and 70.9%, respectively, of our total
operating expenses for those periods.

Components of our Results of Operations

Revenue

To date, we have generated minimal revenue, less than $1,000, from product sales, but we do expect to
generate revenue from the sale of products or royalties beginning in the first quarter of 2017. Except for the
minimal product sales noted above, all of our revenue to date has been derived from payments received in
connection with research grants and licensing fees received as a result of our execution of the former license
agreement with Neogen.

We recognized revenue of $132,000 and $55,000 for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015
respectively. In addition, under our former license agreement with Neogen, we recognized revenue of
$186,000 for each of the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015. We do not anticipate additional grant
revenue under the NIH grants or additional revenue from our former license agreement with Neogen.

Operating Expenses

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses consist primarily of costs incurred in connection with the discovery and
development of our product candidates, which include:

o Employee-related expenses, including salaries, related benefits, travel and stock-based compensation
expense for employees engaged in research and development functions;

*  Expenses incurred in connection with the development of our product candidates; and

e Facilities, depreciation and other expenses, which include direct and allocated expenses for rent and
maintenance of facilities, insurance and supplies.

We expense research and development costs as incurred.

At this time, we cannot reasonably estimate the costs for completing the development of ContraPest or the
cost associated with the development of any of our other product candidates.

We plan to continue to hire employees to support our research and development efforts and anticipate that we
will continue to utilize various forms of stock-based compensation awards in order to attract and retain
employees for our research and development efforts. As a result, we anticipate that stock-based compensation
expense will continue to represent a significant portion of our research and development expenses for the
foreseeable future.
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General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and related costs, including stock-based
compensation, for personnel in executive, finance and administrative functions. General and administrative
expenses also include direct and allocated facility-related costs as well as professional fees for legal,
consulting, accounting and audit services.

We anticipate that our general and administrative expenses may increase in the future as we increase our
headcount to support commercialization of any approved products and further development of our product
candidates. We also anticipate that we will incur increased accounting, audit, legal, regulatory, compliance,
director and officer insurance costs as well as investor and public relations expenses associated with being a
public company.

We plan to continue to hire employees to support our commercialization of any approved products and further
development of our product candidates, and anticipate that we will continue to utilize various forms of
stock-based compensation awards in order to attract and retain qualified employees. As a result, we anticipate
that stock-based compensation expense will continue to represent a significant portion of our general and
administrative expenses for the foreseeable future.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Interest Income. Interest income consists primarily of interest income earned on cash and cash equivalents.
Our interest income has not been significant due to nominal cash and investment balances and low interest
earned on invested balances.

Interest Expense. Interest expense consists of interest accrued on $2.9 million in convertible and other
promissory notes we issued during 2014 and 2015 that were exchanged for Series B convertible preferred
stock in December 2015.

Other Income (Expense), Net. Other income (expense), net, consists primarily of net losses on
extinguishment of convertible and non-convertible, secured and unsecured promissory notes.

Income Taxes

Since our inception, we have not recorded any U.S. federal or state income tax benefits for the net losses we
have incurred in each year or for our earned research and development tax credits, due to our uncertainty of
realizing a benefit from those items. As of December 31, 2016, we had federal and state net operating loss
carryforwards of $34.0 million and $27.8 million, respectively, which begin to expire in 2021 and 2016,
respectively, unless previously utilized.

Comparison of the Years December 31, 2016 to 2015

The following table summarizes our results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015:

Year Ended December 31,

2016 2015
(in thousands)

Revenue . ... ... ... $ 318 $ 241
Operating expenses:

Research and development . .. ............ .. .. .. ... .. ...... 2,705 7,221
General and administrative . . . ... ... ... ... . 8,129 8,605
Total Operating €Xpenses . . . . ... .v vt it 10,834 15,886
Loss from operations . . . .. .. ...t (10,516) (15,645)
Interest eXPense . . . . ..ot e (87) (855)
Loss on extinguishment debt . . . ........ ... ... ... ... .. ..... (161) (995)
Other income (EXPense), Mt . . . . .« vt v it et (31) (678)
Net 10SS & .o v o $(10,795) $(18,173)
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Revenue
Revenue was $318,000 for the year ended December 31, 2016, compared to $241,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2015.

We recognized revenue of $132,000 and $55,000 for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015,
respectively, as a result of the services performed.

Under our former license agreement with Neogen, we recognized revenue of $186,000 for each year ended
December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Research and Development Expenses

Year Ended December 31, Increase
2016 2015 (Decrease)
(in thousands)

Direct research and development expenses:
Unallocated expenses:

Personnel related (including stock-based compensation) . ......... $2,016 $5,965 $(3,949)
Facility related . ... ... .. .. . . . 218 190 28
Other . . ... . 471 1,066 (595)
Total research and development expenses . .. ................. $2,705 $7,221 $(4,516)

Research and development expenses were $2.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2016, compared to
$7.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2015. The $4.5 million decrease in research and development
expenses was primarily due to an decrease of $4.0 million in personnel-related costs. This decrease in
personnel-related costs resulted from a decrease in stock-based compensation expense of $4.5 million and
increased research and development salaries of $500,000 due to five headcount additions in 2015.
Manufacturing costs decreased from $310,000 for the year ended December 31, 2015 to $99,000 for the year
ended December 31, 2016. This $210,000 decrease was primarily associated with decreased bait-box design
and production costs during 2016. Further, other general research and development expenses for activities not
directly associated with our principal research and development programs decreased by $240,000 during 2016
primarily as a result of reduced laboratory related expenses.

We continue to investigate other applications of our core technology to other product candidates, which
includes laboratory tests and academic collaborations. We also continue to develop our supply chain,
particularly identifying and improving our sourcing of triptolide, a key active ingredient for our product
candidates.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses were $8.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2016, compared to
$8.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2015. The decrease of $500,000 in general and administrative
expenses was due to a decrease of $2.8 million in personnel-related costs, including a reduction of

$3.3 million in stock-based compensation expense during 2016 offset by a $1.0 million for a contract
cancellation settlement, $500,000 in additional salary costs, an increase of $400,000 in legal, accounting and
audit-related fees, an increase of $270,000 in travel expenses and $140,000 in increased EPA registration fees.

Interest Expense

We recorded $87,000 of interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2016, compared to $855,000 for
the year ended December 31, 2015. The decrease in interest expense of $768,000 was a result of a decrease of
$2.9 million of convertible notes that were issued in 2014 and exchanged for Series B convertible preferred
stock in December of 2016.

Other Income (Expense), Net

We recorded $31,000 of other expense, net, for the year ended December 31, 2016, compared to $678,000 for
the year ended December 31, 2015. The $647,000 net decrease in other expense was primarily due to the
expense related to the year-over-year fair market value adjustment of our convertible promissory notes.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since our inception, we have incurred significant operating losses. We have generated limited revenue to date
from research grants and licensing fees received under our former license agreement with Neogen. We have
not yet begun full scale marketing of our first product, ContraPest and we continue to develop other product
candidates, which are in various phases of development. We have funded our operations to date primarily with
proceeds from the sale of common stock and preferred stock, the issuance of convertible and other promissory
notes and, to a lesser extent, payments received under research grants and pursuant to our former license
agreement with Neogen. Through December 31, 2016, we had received net proceeds of $41.8 million from
our sales of common stock and preferred stock and issuance of convertible and other promissory notes, and an
aggregate of $1.6 million from licensing fees.

In the course of our research and development activities, we have sustained operating losses since our
inception and expect such losses to continue for the foreseeable future. Our ultimate success depends upon
the outcome of a combination of factors, including our ability to: (i) engage in successful research and
development efforts; (ii) obtain regulatory approval of ContraPest and our other product candidates;

(iii) achieve market acceptance and commercialization of ContraPest and our other products; (iv) successfully
market our products and establish an effective sales force and marketing infrastructure to generate significant
revenue; (v) retain and attract key personnel to develop, operate and grow our business; and (vi) successfully
obtain additional financing as needed. As of December 31, 2016, we had an accumulated deficit of

$61.3 million.

From time to time in 2014 and 2015, members of our management have provided financing to us in the form
of promissory notes totaling $4.0 million, of which $0 remained outstanding as of December 31, 2016. In
November 2015, we issued to NAU Ventures 400,000 shares of Series A convertible preferred stock (on a
post-reverse split basis), valued at $4.4 million, and a warrant, valued at $330,000, in exchange for full
cancellation of the outstanding principal and unpaid accrued interest on a promissory note, totaling

$3.2 million. In December 2015, the principal amount under our convertible and other promissory notes and
accrued interest (aggregating $2.9 million) were exchanged for shares of Series B convertible preferred stock.

Based upon our current operating plan, we expect that our cash and cash equivalents of approximately

$11.8 million as of December 31, 2016, will be sufficient to fund our current operations for at least the next
12 months. We have based these estimates on assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and we could utilize
our available capital resources sooner than we expect.

Funding Requirements

We expect our expenses to increase substantially in connection with our ongoing activities, particularly as we
advance field studies of our product candidates in development. In addition, we incur additional costs
associated with operating as a public company.

In particular, we expect to incur substantial and increased expenses as we:

e Continue the research and development of ContraPest and our other product candidates, including
engaging in any necessary field studies;

e Seek regulatory approvals for ContraPest and our other product candidates;

e Scale up manufacturing processes and quantities to prepare for the commercialization of ContraPest
and any other product candidates for which we receive regulatory approval,

e Establish an infrastructure for the sales, marketing and distribution of ContraPest and any other
product candidates for which we may receive regulatory approval;

e Attempt to achieve market acceptance for our products;

*  Expand our research and development activities and advance the discovery and development
programs for other product candidates;
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*  Maintain, expand and protect our intellectual property portfolio; and

e Add operational, financial and management information systems and personnel, including personnel
to support our product development and commercialization efforts and operations as a public
company.

Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our sources and uses of cash for each of the periods presented:

Year Ended December 31,

2016 2015
Cash used in operating activities . .. ......................... $(6,696) $(3,666)
Cash used in investing activities . . .. .. .. ... .. .. ... (57) (130)
Cash provided by financing activities . .. ...................... 18,438 3,116
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents . ............. $11,685 $ (680)

Operating Activities.

During the year ended December 31, 2016, operating activities used $6.7 million of cash, primarily resulting
from our net loss of $10.8 million, partially offset by non-cash charges of $3.8 million and by changes in our
operating assets and liabilities of $342,000. Our net loss was primarily attributed to research and development
activities and our general and administrative expenses, as we generated limited research grant and licensing
revenue during the period. Net cash used by changes in our operating assets and liabilities for the year ended
December 31, 2016 consisted primarily of an increase in prepaid expenses of $301,000, a $221,000 decrease
in deferred revenue related to our former license agreement with Neogen, an increase in inventories of
$57,000 and an increase in deposits of $3,000, partially offset by a $916,000 increase in accrued expenses and
accounts payable, an increase in deferred rents and accounts receivable of $8,000. The decrease in accrued
expenses and accounts payable was due to increased payments of accrued expenses and accounts payable as a
result of the receipt of cash raised in financing activities.

During the year ended December 31, 2015, operating activities used $3.7 million of cash, primarily resulting
from our net loss of $18.2 million, partially offset by non-cash charges of $13.9 million and by cash provided
by changes in our operating assets and liabilities of $648,000. Our net loss was primarily attributed to
research and development activities and our general and administrative expenses, as we generated limited
research grant and licensing revenue during the year. Net cash provided by changes in our operating assets
and liabilities for the year ended December 31, 2015 consisted primarily of a $151,000 decrease in deferred
revenue related to our former license agreement with Neogen offset by a $779,000 increase in accounts
payable and accrued expenses and a decrease of accounts receivable of $18,000. The increase in accounts
payable and accrued expenses was due to increased spending associated with research and development
programs as well as the timing of vendor invoicing and payments.

Investing Activities.

During the year ended December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, we used $57,000 and $130,000,
respectively, of cash in investing activities, in each case consisting of purchases of property and equipment.

Financing Activities.

During the year ended December 31, 2016, net cash provided by financing activities was $18.4 million as a
result of $18.8 million of proceeds from the issuance of shares of common stock in our initial public offering
and the rights offering discussed elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, $896,000 of proceeds
received from the issuance of Series B convertible preferred stock, $521,000 of proceeds received from the
exercise of stock options and warrants, $326,000 of proceeds received from our issuance of notes payable, all
of which were partially offset by payments of $1.9 million related to the notes payable, notes payable related
party and convertible notes payable, $2.2 of deferred offering costs, $176,000 of payments of preferred stock
dividends and $21,000 in payments of capital lease obligations.

During the year ended December 31, 2015, net cash provided by financing activities was $3.1 million as a
result of $3.1 million of proceeds received from our issuance of related party convertible and other promissory
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notes, $155,000 of proceeds received from the issuance of Series B convertible preferred stock, and $56,000
of proceeds received from the exercise of stock options, all of which were partially offset by payments of
$132,000 related to the issuance costs for the convertible promissory notes and $100,000 in repayments of
notes payable balances.

Recent Developments

We previously identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting for the year
ended December 31, 2015 which we have addressed and resolved the issues identified for the year ended
December 31, 2015. See ‘““Risk Factors — We have not fully assessed our internal control over financial
reporting. We have previously identified and may in the future identify material weaknesses in our internal
control over financial reporting. If we are unable to remediate these material weaknesses, or if we experience
additional material weaknesses in the future or otherwise fail to maintain an effective system of internal
controls, we may not be able to accurately or timely report our financial condition or results of operations,
which may adversely affect investor confidence in us and, as a result, the value of our common stock.” While
we have not yet assessed our internal control over financial reporting, we are in the process of implementing
measures designed to further improve our internal control over financial reporting, including how to remediate
the control deficiencies that led to our previously identified material weaknesses, including:

e the appointment of a Corporate Controller in May 2016;
* the establishment of formalized accounting policies and procedures and internal controls; and

e the implementation of manual and automated controls to support our overall control environment
and the segregation of duties and procedures.

Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates

Our financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the
United States, or U.S. GAAP. The preparation of our financial statements and related disclosures requires us to
make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, costs and
expenses, and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities in our financial statements. We base our
estimates on historical experience, known trends and events and various other factors that we believe are
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. We evaluate our
estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis. Our actual results may differ from these estimates under
different assumptions or conditions.

While our significant accounting policies are described in more detail in Note 2 to our audited financial
statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we believe that the following accounting
policies are those most critical to the judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our financial
statements.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB™)
Accounting Standards Codification (““ASC”"), Topic 605, Revenue Recognition. Accordingly, we recognize
revenue from our licensing agreements and contracts to perform pilot studies when (1) persuasive evidence of
an arrangement exists; (2) the performance of service has been rendered to a customer or delivery has
occurred; (3) the amount of fee to be paid by a customer is fixed and determinable; and (4) the collectability
of the fee is reasonably assured.

We have generated revenue from a license agreement with a strategic partner pursuant to which we have
granted to such partner an exclusive license in North America to manufacture, distribute and sell commercial
control products based on our intellectual property, which includes ContraPest, for the later of 10 years or the
expiration of the patent for ContraPest (if issued).

When we receive non-refundable, upfront license fee payments for the exclusive rights to licensing our
intellectual property, management determines if such license has stand-alone value. Since management
determined that the license to our intellectual property did not have stand-alone value, we recognize revenue
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attributable to that license on a straight-line basis over the estimated related performance period. Any changes
in the estimated period of performance will be accounted for prospectively as a change in estimate.

Our licensing agreement also provides for a future fixed amount of contingent milestone payments and
contingent sales-based royalties to be received upon the achievement of milestone events. We recognize
revenue that is contingent upon the achievement of a substantive milestone in its entirety in the period in
which the milestone is achieved and the milestone payments are due and collectible. A milestone is considered
substantive when the consideration payable to us for such milestone has all of the following characteristics:
(1) there is substantive uncertainty at the date the arrangement is entered into that the event will be achieved;
(2) the event can only be achieved based in whole or part on either our performance or a specific outcome
resulting from our performance; and (3) if achieved, the event would result in additional payments being due
to us. In making this assessment in the future, we will consider all facts and circumstances relevant to the
arrangement, including whether any portion of the milestone consideration is related to future performance or
deliverables. In addition, we will account for sales-based royalties as revenue upon achievement of certain
sales milestones.

Stock-Based Compensation

We recognize compensation costs related to stock options granted to employees based on the estimated

fair value of the awards on the date of grant, net of estimated forfeitures, in accordance with ASC

Topic 718 — Stock Compensation (“*‘ASC 718”"). We estimate the grant date fair value of the awards, and the
resulting stock-based compensation expense, using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The grant date fair
value of stock-based awards is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period of the respective
award. We account for stock-based compensation arrangements with non-employees using a fair value
approach. The fair value of these stock options is measured using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model
reflecting the same assumptions as applied to employee options in each of the reported periods, other than the
expected life, which is assumed to be the remaining contractual life of the option. The fair value of the stock
options granted to non-employees is re-measured as the stock options vest and is recognized in the statements
of operations and comprehensive loss during the period the related services are rendered.

We recorded stock-based compensation expense of approximately $3.4 million and $11.3 million for the years
ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 respectively. We expect to continue to grant stock options and other
equity-based awards in the future, and to the extent that we do, our stock-based compensation expense
recognized in future periods will likely increase.

The Black-Scholes option-pricing model requires the use of highly subjective and complex assumptions,
which determine the fair value of stock-based awards. If we had made different assumptions, our stock-based
compensation expense, net loss and loss per share of common stock could have been significantly different.
Our assumptions are as follows:

e Expected term. The expected term represents the period that the stock-based awards are expected
to be outstanding. Our historical share option exercise experience does not provide a reasonable
basis upon which to estimate an expected term because of a lack of sufficient data. Therefore we
estimate the expected term by using the simplified method, which calculates the expected term as
the average of the time-to-vesting and the contractual life of the options.

e Expected volatility. Expected volatility is derived from the average historical volatilities of publicly
traded companies within our industry that we consider to be comparable to our business over a
period approximately equal to the expected term. We intend to continue to consistently apply this
process using the same or similar public companies until a sufficient amount of historical
information regarding the volatility of our own common stock price becomes available, or unless
circumstances change such that the identified companies are no longer similar to us, in which case,
more suitable companies whose share prices are publicly available would be utilized in the
calculation.

*  Risk-free interest rate. The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield in effect at the
time of grant for zero coupon U.S. Treasury notes with maturities approximately equal to the
expected term.
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e Expected dividend. The expected dividend is assumed to be zero as we have never paid dividends
and have no current plans to pay any dividends on our common stock.

e Expected forfeitures. We use historical data to estimate pre-vesting option forfeitures and record
stock-based compensation expense only for those awards that are expected to vest. To the extent
actual forfeitures differ from the estimates, the difference will be recorded as a cumulative
adjustment in the period that the estimates are revised.

Significant Factors, Assumptions and Methodologies Used in Determining Fair Value of Our Common Stock

As noted above, we are required to estimate the fair value of the common stock underlying our stock-based
awards when performing the fair value calculations using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. In the
absence of an active market for our common stock, we utilized methodologies in accordance with the
framework of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants’ Technical Practice Aid, Valuation of
Privately-Held Company Equity Securities Issued as Compensation, to estimate the fair value of our common
stock. In addition, we have conducted periodic assessments of the valuation of our preferred stock and our
common stock. Specifically, we obtained a report assessing the fair value of the common stock underlying our
Series B convertible preferred stock as of December 31, 2015. This valuation performed a Monte Carlo option
model to determine the fair value of the underlying common stock. A Monte Carlo option model is used to
calculate the value of an asset with multiple sources of uncertainty or with complicated features. Based on this
iterative analysis, and given that the Series B convertible preferred stock was issued at a fair value of $7.75
per share, the fair value of the common stock was determined to be $7.575 per share as of December 31,
2015, which valuation was used by us for purposes of our stock-based compensation calculations during 2015.

The assumptions underlying these valuations represent management’s best estimates, which involve inherent
uncertainties and the application of management’s judgment. If we had made different assumptions than those
used, the amount of our stock-based compensation expense, net income and net income per share amounts
could have been significantly different. The fair value per share of our common stock for purposes of
determining stock-based compensation expense is the closing price of our common stock as reported on the
applicable grant date. The compensation cost that has been included in the statements of operations and
comprehensive loss for all stock-based compensation arrangements is as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2016 2015
(in thousands)
General and administrative eXpenses . .. ... ... ................ $2,964 $ 6,331
Research and development expense . . ........................ 403 4,931
Total stock-based compensation expense . . . .. .................. $3,367 $11,262

The intrinsic value of stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2016 is $9.7 million, of which
$7.2 million and $2.5 million would have been related to stock options that were vested and unvested,
respectively, at that date.

Emerging Growth Company Status

The Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or the JOBS Act, permits an “emerging growth company”’
such as us to take advantage of an extended transition period to comply with new or revised accounting
standards applicable to public companies until those standards would otherwise apply to private companies.
We have irrevocably elected to “opt out” of this provision and, as a result, we intend to comply with new or
revised accounting standards when they are required to be adopted by public companies that are not emerging
growth companies.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.

Not applicable.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors
and Stockholders of SenesTech, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of SenesTech, Inc. as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, and
the related statements of income, comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of

the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2016. SenesTech’s management is responsible for these
financial statements. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our
audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The company is not
required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our
audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such
opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of SenesTech, Inc. as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2016, in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

/sl M&K CPAS, PLLC

www.mkacpas.com
Houston, Texas
March 31, 2017
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SENESTECH, INC.
BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except shares and per share data)

ASSETS
Current assets:

Prepaid eXpenses . .. ... ...
Inventory . . ... ...
Total Current assetS . . . ... .. vttt e
Property and equipment, net . . ... ... ... ... ..
Deferred offering costs . . .. ... ... ... ..
Security deposits . ... .. ...
Total @SSELS . . o . v

LIABILITIES, CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)

Current liabilities:
Short-term debt . .. ... ... .. e
Accounts payable . ... ...
Accrued contract cancellation settlement . .. .......... ... ... .....
AcCTUEd EXPENSES .« . v v e e e e
Notes payable, related parties . ... ........ ... ...
Convertible notes payable, related parties . . ... ...................
Deferred revenue . . ... .. ... ... ...
Total current liabilities . ... ....... ... .. .. .. .. .
Notes payable, related parties . ... ... ..... ...t
Long-term debt, net . .. ... ... ... ...
Common stock warrant liability .. ........ ... .. ... .. .. .. .. .....
Deferred rent . . . ... ..
Deferred compensation obligations . ... ................ ... .. ... ..
Total liabilities . . .. ... ...

Commitments and contingencies (See note 15) . .. ...................
Series A convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value, authorized

2,000,000 shares; 400,000 shares issued and outstanding at December 31,

2015; liquidation preference of $2.017 at December 31, 2015 ... ... .. ..
Series B convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value, authorized

7,515,000 shares; 399,512 shares issued and outstanding at

December 31, 2015 . . . . ...

Stockholders’ equity (deficit):

Common stock, $0.001 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized,
10,157,292 and 4,108,766 shares issued and outstanding at December 31,
2016 and 2015, respectively . ... ..... .. .. ...

Additional paid-in capital .. ... ... ... ..

Accumulated other comprehensive income, series A convertible preferred
stock dividend . . . ...

Stock subscribed but not issued ... ... ... o

Accumulated deficit . .. ..... . ..
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) .. ... ....... ... . ... ......
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity (deficit) . ................

December 31,

December 31,

2016 2015

$ 11,826 $ 141
10 13

337 36

57 —
12,230 190
631 613

9 6

— 132

$ 12,870 $ 941
$ 45 $ 27
351 544
1,000 —
371 758

30 462

— 200

— 221

1,797 2212

6 34

138 450

69 63

33 28

— 2,000
2,043 4,787
_ 4,380

— 3,096

10 4
72,069 39,000
— 17

59 14
(61,311) (50,357)
10,827 (11,322)

$ 12,870 $ 941

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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SENESTECH, INC.

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(In thousands, except shares and per share data)

For the Years
Ended December 31,

2016 2015
Revenue:
LIiCENSE TEVENUE . . . . v i et e e e e e e e e e e e $ 186 $ 186
Other revenue . .. ... ... . ... 132 55
Total revenue . . .. ... ... 318 241
Operating expenses:
Research and development . . . ........ ... . ... ... .. ... ... .... 2,705 7,221
General and administrative . . . . . . .. ... 8,129 8,605
Total operating eXpenses . . . . . ... vttt 10,834 15,886
Net operating 10SS . . . . . oot (10,516) (15,645)
Other income (expense):
Interest EXPense . . . . .. i 32) (418)
Interest expense, related parties . . ... ...... .. ... (55) (437)
(Loss) gain on extinguishment of notes and convertible notes, related
PATtICS . . o vt e e e (161) 569
Loss on extinguishment of NAU promissory note . ................. — (1,530)
Loss on extinguishment of secured promissory note . . .. ............. — (34)
Other INCOME (EXPENSE) .« « . v v v v e e e e e e e e e e et e e e e 31 (678)
Total other income (EXPense) . . .. .. ... vi vt (279) (2,528)
Net 10SS . o vt (10,795) (18,173)
Series A convertible preferred stock dividends . ................... (159) 17)
Net loss and comprehensive loss . .. .......... ... ... ... ......... $ (10,954) $ (18,190)
Weighted average common shares outstanding — basic and fully diluted . . . .. 6,417,936 3,852,349
Net loss per common share — basic and fully diluted . .. ............... $ (1.71) $ “4.71)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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SENESTECH, INC.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
(In thousands, except shares and per share data)

Series A Series B

Convertible Convertible Additional Stock Subscribed Accg‘:}:g:'ted Stoclrfl‘::)?cliers’
Preferred Stock Preferred Stock Common Stock Paid-In not Issued Comprehensive Accumulated Equity
Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount  Capital Shares Amount Loss Deficit (Deficit)

Balance, December 31, 2014 . . . — $ — — $ —13629921 $4 $26,281 10,496 $ 158 $— $(32,167)  $ (5,724)
Issuance of series A convertible

preferred stock for cancellation

ofnote .. ... ........ 400,000 4,380 — — — — — — — — — —
Issuance of series A convertible

preferred stock for cash . . . . — — 20,000 155 — — — — — — — —
Issuance of series B convertible

preferred stock for cash . . . . — — 379,512 2941 — — — — — — — —
Issuance of common stock upon

conversion of notes . .. ... — — — — 80,417 — 610 — — — — 610
Issuance of common stock for

SEIVICES . . . . . ... ... — — — — 100 — 1 3,250 15 — — 16
Shares of common stock

forfeited . ... ........ — — — — — — — (3,041 47) — — 47)
Issuance of common stock upon

exercise of stock options and

warrants . . . . ... ... .. — — — — 390,873 — 78 — — — — 78
Stock-based compensation . . . . — — — — — — 11,262 — — — — 11,262

‘Warrant issued in connection with
cancellation of NAU
promissory note . . . .. ... — — — — — — 330 — — — — 330

Recognition of warrants issued
with 2014/2015 convertible

notes . . ... ... ... — — — — — — 97 — — — — 97
Recognition of warrant issued

with promissory notes . . . . . — — — — — — 229 — — — — 229
Reclassification of subscribed

shares to common stock . . . . — — — — 7,455 — 112 (7,455) (112) — — —

Dividends on preferred shares . . — — — — — — — — — 17 (17) —
Net loss for the year ended
December 31, 2015 . .. ... — — — — —
Balance, December 31, 2015. . 400,000 $ 4,380 399,512 $ 3,096 | 4,108,766
Issuance of series B convertible
preferred stock for cash . . . . — — 115,668 896 — — — — — — — —
Issuance of series B convertible
preferred stock for conversion
ofnotes . . ... ... ..... — — 2,007 16 — — — — — — — —
Issuance of common stock upon
conversion of series A
preferred stock . . . . ... .. (400,000) (4,380) — — 400,000 — 4,380 — — — — 4,380
Issuance of common stock upon
conversion of series B

= (18,173)  (18,173)
$39,000 3250 § 14 $17 $(50357)  $(11.322)

©»
~

preferred stock . . . ... ... — — (517,187) (4,008)| 517,187 1 4,007 — — — — 4,008
Issuance of common stock sold

forcash . . . ... ....... — — — — | 4,353,486 4 18,828 — — — — 18,832
Issuance of common stock for

SEIVices . . . . ... ... ... — — — — 126,373 — 338 5,250 45 — — 383
Issuance of common stock for

services, related parties . . . . — — — — 13,320 — 295 — — — — 295
Stock-based compensation . . . . — — — — — — 2,689 — — — — 2,689
Forgiveness of accrued liabilities,
related party . . .. ... ... — — — — — — 2,003 — — — — 2,003
Issuance of common stock upon
exercise of stock options and
warrants . . . ... ... ... — — — — | 630,935 1 520 — — — — 521
Recognition of warrants issued

with unsecured notes . . . . . . — — — — — — 9 — — — — 9
Cashless exercise of warrants . . — — — — 7,225 — — — — — — —
Dividends paid on preferred

shares . . . ... ... ... .. — — — — — — — — — 17) (159) (176)

Net loss for the year ended
December 31, 2016 . . . . .. — — — — —

Balance, December 31, 2016. . — $ — — $ — 10,157,292

— (10,795) (10,795)
$72,069 8,500 $ 59

$(61,311)  $ 10,827

&+
—_
(=)

7]
[1]

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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SENESTECH, INC.

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

For the Years
Ended December 31,

2016 2015
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net 1oSS .« . .o $(10,795) $(18,173)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization . . . ... .. .. ... ... 196 182
Stock-based compensation . . . .. ... 2,689 11,262
Shares of common stock issued for services, net of forfeitures . ........... 678 (10)
Common stock warrant issued as compensation . .. ................... — 53
Non-cash interest expense from convertible notes and notes payable . . . . ... .. — 519
Amortization of debt discount . .. ....... .. ... L o 27 177
Change in fair value of convertible notes payable, related parties . . . ........ — 671
Loss on remeasurement of common stock warrant liability . . ... .......... 6 10
Loss (gain) on extinguishment of secured convertible promissory note, related
PATtIS . . o ot — (569)
(Gain) loss on extinguishment of debts, net . . ... .................... 161 1,564
(Increase) decrease in current assets:
Accounts receivable . . ... ... 3 18
Prepaid expenses . . . . .. ... .. (301) 3)
Inventory . . . . . .. 57) —
Deposits . . . oo 3) 3
Increase (decrease) in current liabilities:
Accounts payable . . . ... (193) 393
AcCrued EXPENSES . . . v v it e e e 1,109 388
Deferred rent . . . . .. .. .. L 5 —
Deferred revenues . . .. . . ... ... (221) (151)
Net cash used in operating activities . ... ...................... (6,696) (3,666)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property and equipment . . ... ..... ... .. ... ... (57) (130)
Net cash used in investing activities . . ... ............. ... ... 57 (130)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Dividend payments on preferred stock . . ... ...... ... ... . .. ... (176) —
Proceeds from the issuance of series B convertible preferred stock . . ... ... .. 896 155
Proceeds from the issuance of common stock . ........... .. ... .. ... . 18,832 —
Proceeds from the issuance of convertible notes payable, related parties . . . . .. 310 1,915
Repayments of convertible notes payable, related parties . ............... (310) —
Proceeds from the issuance of convertible notes payable . ............... 16 —
Repayments of convertible notes payable . ......................... (500) —
Proceeds from notes payable, related parties . .. ..................... — 222
Repayments of notes payable, related parties . . . ..................... (1,101) (71)
Proceeds from notes payable . ...... ... .. ... ... — 1,000
Repayments of notes payable . ... ........ ... .. ... . .. ... (29) (13)
Repayments of capital lease obligations . . ......................... 210 (16)
Payment of deferred offering costs . ... ..... ... ... . ... . . ... . ... — (132)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and warrants . ... .............. 521 56
Net cash provided by financing activities . . ..................... 18,438 3,116
NET CHANGE IN CASH . . . ... . e 11,685 (680)
CASH AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD . . . ... ... . . 141 821
CASH AT END OF PERIOD . . ... ... e $ 11,826 $ 141

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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SENESTECH, INC.

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS — (continued)
(In thousands)

For the Years
Ended December 31,

2016 2015
SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION:
Interest paid . . . ... oot $ 393 $ 16
Income taxes paid . . .. ... ... $ — $ —
NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Issuance of series A convertible preferred stock and common stock warrant in
connection with cancellation of debt . . ... ... ... . ... . ... .. .... $ — $4,380
Issuance of series B convertible preferred stock in connection with conversion
of convertible notes and notes payable .......................... $ — $2,941
Issuance of shares of common stock upon conversion of convertible notes
payable . ... $8,387 $ 610
Issuance of capital lease obligations for purchase of equipment . .......... $ 157 $ 30
Debt discount on convertible notes . .. ......... ... e $ 9 $ 229
Issuance of warrants with notes payable . .......................... $ — $ 97
Original issue diSCount . . . .. ... ..ttt $ 147 $ —
Contributed capital, debt forgiveness by related parties . ................ $2,003 $ —
Related party convertible note extinguished for settlement payable . ........ $ 404 $ —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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SENESTECH, INC.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

1. Organization and Description of Business

SenesTech, Inc. (the “Company”) was formed in July 2004 and incorporated in the state of Nevada. The
Company subsequently reincorporated in the state of Delaware in November 2015. The Company has its
corporate headquarters in Flagstaff Arizona.

The Company has developed proprietary technology for managing animal pest populations through fertility
control. The Company believes that its innovative non-lethal approach, targeting reproduction, is more
humane, less harmful to the environment, and more effective in providing a sustainable solution to pest
infestations than traditional lethal pest management methods. Its first fertility control product candidate,
ContraPest, will be marketed for use in controlling the rat population. The innovative compound is consumed
by rats and leaves them non-reproductive without other observable side effects. The Company is pursuing
regulatory approvals for ContraPest in various jurisdictions, including the United States (““U.S.””), India,
Argentina and the European Union (“EU’’). On August 23, 2015, the Company submitted ContraPest for
registration with the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (‘EPA”), and the EPA granted registration
approval for ContraPest effective August 2, 2016. Following regulatory approval for ContraPest, the Company
plans to commercialize and distribute ContraPest by leveraging new and existing third party relationships with
manufacturing, marketing and distribution partners in the U.S. and internationally.

Need for Additional Capital

In the course of its research and development activities, the Company has sustained operating losses since its
inception and expects such losses to continue for the foreseeable future. The Company’s ultimate success
depends upon the outcome of a combination of factors, including: (i) the success of its research and
development; (ii) regulatory approval and commercialization of ContraPest and its other product candidates;
(iii) market acceptance and commercial viability of ContraPest and other products if the Company obtains the
necessary regulatory approvals; (iv) the ability to market its products and establish an effective sales force and
marketing infrastructure to generate significant revenue; (v) the ability to retain and attract key personnel to
develop, operate and grow its business; and (vi) the timely and successful completion of additional financing
as needed. The Company has funded its operations to date through the sale of convertible preferred stock and
common stock, including an initial public offering of 1,875,000 shares of its common stock on December 8,
2016, debt financing, consisting primarily of convertible notes and, to a lesser extent, payments received in
connection with research grants and licensing fees. As of December 31, 2016, the Company had cash and cash
equivalents of $11,826. Based upon its current operating plan, they expect that cash and cash equivalents at
December 31, 2016, will be sufficient to fund its current operations for at least the next 12 months. However,
for reasons detailed above, the Company may require additional capital and would have to continue to fund its
operating losses and research and development activities in the near term by issuing additional debt and equity
instruments. However, if such equity or debt financing is not available at adequate levels, the Company will
need to reevaluate its plans.

All amounts shown in these financial statements are in thousands, except percentages and per share and share
amounts. Per share and share amounts reflect post-reverse split values.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”’) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The
significant estimates in the Company’s financial statements include the valuation of preferred stock, common
stock and related warrants, and other stock-based awards. Actual results could differ from such estimates.
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SENESTECH, INC.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — (continued)

Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation. These
reclassifications had no impact on net earnings, financial position or cash flows.

Deferred Offering Costs

Deferred offering costs consist primarily of legal, accounting and other direct and incremental fees and costs
related to the Company’s initial public offering on December 8, 2016. Deferred offering costs of $2,234 were
offset against the proceeds received from the initial public offering in December of 2016. At December 31,
2015, deferred offering costs of $132 were deferred in the accompanying balance sheet.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of ninety days or less at the
time of deposit to be cash equivalents. The Company does not have any cash equivalents for the periods
presented.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable consist primarily of trade receivables. The Company provides an allowance for doubtful
trade receivables equal to the estimated uncollectible amounts. That estimate is based on historical collection
experience, current economic and market conditions and a review of the current status of each customer’s
trade accounts receivable. The allowance for doubtful trade receivables was $0 as of December 31, 2016 and
2015 as we believe all of our receivables are fully collectable.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market value, using the first-in, first-out convention. Inventories
consist of raw materials and finished goods. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company had
inventories of $57 and $0, respectively.

Prepaid Expenses

Prepaid expenses consist primarily of payments made for director compensation to be earned in the first
6 months of 2017 as well as payments made for director and officer insurance, rent and legal deposits to be
expensed in the current year.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Equipment held under capital leases
are stated at the present value of minimum lease payments less accumulated amortization.

Depreciation on property and equipment is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated

useful lives of the respective assets. The cost of leasehold improvements is amortized over the life of the
improvement or the term of the lease, whichever is shorter. Equipment held under capital leases are amortized
over the shorter of the lease term or estimated useful life of the asset. The Company incurs maintenance costs
on its major equipment. Repair and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets, such as property and equipment, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. If circumstances
require long-lived assets or asset groups to be tested for possible impairment, the Company compares the
undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated from the use of the asset or asset group to its carrying
amount. If the carrying amount of the long-lived asset or asset group is not recoverable on an undiscounted
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SENESTECH, INC.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — (continued)

cash flow basis, an impairment charge is recognized to the extent that the carrying amount exceeds its fair
value. Fair value is determined through various valuation techniques, such as discounted cash flow models and
the use of third-party independent appraisals. The Company has not recorded an impairment of long-lived
assets since its inception.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue from the commercial sales of products, licensing agreements and contracts
to perform pilot studies when (i) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; (ii) the performance of service
has been rendered to a customer or delivery has occurred; (iii) the amount of fee to be paid by a customer is
fixed and determinable; and (iv) the collectability of the fee is reasonably assured.

The Company has generated revenue from a license agreement with a strategic partner, pursuant to which the
Company had granted to such partner the exclusive right to manufacture and distribute its product, ContraPest,
once the required regulatory approvals were received (See Note 16). This licensing agreement was
subsequently terminated on January 23, 2017 (See Note 18). The terms of the licensing agreement contained
multiple elements or deliverables, as discussed below. Management evaluates whether the arrangement
involving the multiple deliverables contains more than one unit of accounting. To determine the units of
accounting under a multiple-element arrangement, management evaluates certain separation criteria, including
whether the deliverables have stand-alone value, based on the relevant facts and circumstances of the
arrangement.

The Company determined that the license granted pursuant to the license agreement did not have stand-alone
value and, therefore, the nonrefundable, upfront license fee payments received by the Company are recognized
on a straight-line basis over the estimated related performance period (i.e. from the effective date of the
agreement through the estimated completion date of the Company’s substantive performance obligations).

In accordance with the terms of the license agreement, the Company was also to receive a future fixed amount
of contingent milestone payments (i.e. post-regulatory approval license fees) and contingent sales-based
royalties to be received upon the achievement of certain milestone events. The milestone events under the
agreement include regulatory approval, patent issuance or alternative intellectual property coverage, and
sales-based events. The Company did not earn or receive any of the potential contingent milestone payments,
as the milestone events to receive such post-approval license fees and sales-based royalties were not achieved.
The Company recognizes revenue that is contingent upon the achievement of a substantive milestone event in
its entirety in the period in which the milestone is achieved. A milestone is considered substantive when the
consideration payable to the Company for such milestone has all of the following characteristics: (i) there is
substantive uncertainty at the date the arrangement is entered into that the event will be achieved; (ii) the
event can only be achieved based in whole or part on either the Company’s performance or a specific outcome
resulting from the Company’s performance; and (iii) if achieved, the event would result in additional
payments being due to the Company. As the potential contingent consideration was to be received only upon
the achievement of milestone events that are considered substantive, the Company would only recognize such
revenue in the period the milestone is achieved and the milestone payments are due and collectible. In
addition, the Company accounts for sales-based royalties as revenue upon achievement of certain sales
milestones.

Amounts received prior to satisfying the revenue recognition criteria are recorded as deferred revenue on the
balance sheet. Amounts expected to be recognized as revenue in the next twelve months following the balance
sheet date are classified as a current liability.

The Company recognizes other revenue earned from pilot studies upon the performance of specific services
under the respective service contract.

To date, the Company has generated minimal revenue from the commercial sales of products.

F-10



SENESTECH, INC.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — (continued)

Research and Development

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Research and development expenses primarily
consist of salaries and benefits for research and development employees, stock-based compensation, consulting
fees, lab supplies, and costs incurred related to conducting scientific trials and field studies, and regulatory
compliance costs. Also, included in research and development expenses is an allocation of facilities related
costs, including depreciation of research and development equipment.

Stock-based Compensation

Employee stock-based awards, consisting of stock options expected to be settled in shares of the Company’s
common stock, are recorded as equity awards. The grant date fair value of these awards is measured using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model. The Company expenses the grant date fair value of its stock options on a
straight-line basis over their respective vesting periods. Performance-based awards are expensed over the
performance period when the related performance goals are probable of being achieved.

For equity instruments issued to non-employees, the stock-based consideration is measured using a fair value
method. The measurement of the stock-based compensation is subject to re-measurement as the underlying
equity instruments vest.

Convertible Preferred Stock

With the closing of the Company’s initial public offering, in December, 2016, the Series A and Series B
convertible preferred stock were converted into shares of common stock. The holder of all of the outstanding
shares of Series A convertible preferred stock agreed to convert and has converted all of its shares of Series A
convertible preferred stock into shares of common stock on a one-for-one basis immediately prior to the
consummation of this offering. See Note 12.

The Series A convertible preferred stock and Series B convertible preferred stock were presented outside of
permanent equity, in temporary or mezzanine equity, on the Company’s December 31, 2015 balance sheet.
The Company initially records preferred stock that may be redeemed at the option of the holder based on the
occurrence of an event outside of the Company’s control, at the value of the proceeds received. Subsequently,
if it is probable that the preferred stock will become redeemable, the Company recognizes changes in the
redemption value immediately as they occur and adjusts the carrying amount of the preferred stock to equal
its redemption value at the end of each reporting period. If it is not probable that the preferred stock will
become redeemable, the Company does not adjust its carrying amount. In the absence of retained earnings,
these charges are recorded against additional paid-in capital, if any, and then to accumulated deficit.

Valuation of Common Stock

Due to the absence of an active market for the Company’s common stock, the Company utilized
methodologies in accordance with the framework of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants’
Technical Practice Aid, Valuation of Privately-Held Company Equity Securities issued as Compensation, to
estimate the fair value of its common stock. The valuation methodology includes estimates and assumptions
that require significant judgments made by the Company’s management. These estimates assumptions include
a number of objective and subjective factors, including external market conditions affecting the biotechnology
industry sector, and the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event, such as an initial public offering or sale.

Significant changes to the key assumptions used in the valuations could result in different fair values of the
Company’s common stock at each valuation date.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition
of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been



SENESTECH, INC.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — (continued)

included in the financial statements. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based
on the differences between the financial statements and tax bases of assets and liabilities and net operating
loss carryforwards using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to
reverse. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in the period
that includes the enactment date.

The Company records net deferred tax assets to the extent it believes these assets will more likely than not be
realized. These deferred tax assets are subject to periodic assessments as to recoverability and if it is
determined that it is more likely than not that the benefits will not be realized, valuation allowances are
recorded which would increase the provision for income taxes. In making such determination, the Company
considers all available positive and negative evidence, including future reversals of existing taxable temporary
differences, projected future taxable income, tax planning strategies and recent financial operations.

In November 2015, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB’’) issued Accounting Standards
Update No. 2015-17, Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes, which eliminates the guidance in

Topic 740, Income Taxes, that required an entity to separate deferred tax assets and liabilities between current
and noncurrent amounts in a classified balance sheet. The amendments require that all deferred tax assets and
liabilities of the same jurisdiction or a tax filing group, as well as any related valuation allowance, be offset
and presented as a single noncurrent amount in a classified balance sheet. The standard became effective for
annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods within those annual periods, and may
be applied on either prospectively to all deferred tax liabilities and assets or retrospectively to all periods
presented. Early adoption was permitted and the Company early adopted this standard for the year ended
December 31, 2015 and currently for December 31, 2016. The adoption of this standard did not have a
material impact on the Company’s financial statements.

The Company applies a more-likely-than-not recognition threshold for all tax uncertainties. Only those
benefits that have a greater than fifty percent likelihood of being sustained upon examination by the taxing
authorities are recognized. Based on its evaluation, the Company has concluded there are no significant
uncertain tax positions requiring recognition in its financial statements.

The Company recognizes interest and/or penalties related to uncertain tax positions in income tax expense.
There are no uncertain tax positions as of December 31, 2016 or 2015 and as such, no interest or penalties
were recorded in income tax expense.

Comprehensive Loss

Net loss and comprehensive loss were the same for all periods presented; therefore, a separate statement of
comprehensive loss is not included in the accompanying financial statements.

Loss Per Share Attributable to Common Stockholders

Basic loss per share attributable to common stockholders is calculated by dividing the net loss attributable to
common stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period.
Diluted loss per share attributable to common stockholders is computed by dividing the loss attributable to
common stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares and potentially dilutive securities
outstanding for the period determined using the treasury stock and if-converted methods. For purposes of the
computation of diluted loss per share attributable to common stockholders, the Series A convertible preferred
stock, Series B convertible preferred stock, convertible promissory notes, common stock purchase warrants,
and common stock options are considered to be potentially dilutive securities but have been excluded from the
calculation of diluted loss per share attributable to common stockholders because their effect would be
anti-dilutive given the net loss reported for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015. Therefore, basic
and diluted loss per share attributable to common stockholders was the same for all periods presented.
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SENESTECH, INC.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — (continued)

The following table sets forth the outstanding potentially dilutive securities that have been excluded in the
calculation of diluted loss per share attributable to common stockholders (in common stock equivalent shares):

December 31,

2016 2015

Series A convertible preferred stock ... ....... ... .. . ... — 400,000
Series B convertible preferred stock . ........... ... ... . ... — 399,512
Convertible promissory Notes . . . ... .. ... ..., — 56,500
Common stock purchase warrants . .. ...................... 829,285 610,487
Restricted stock unit . ... ... ... .. . ... 455,430 —
Common Stock OpHioNS . . . . .o oot 1,477,300 1,282,862

Total . . ... 2,762,015 2,749,361

In August 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2014-15, Disclosures of Uncertainties
about an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern (‘‘ASU 2014-15"). This standard requires
management to perform an evaluation in each interim and annual reporting period whether there are
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the entity’s ability to
continue as a going concern within one year of the date the financial statements are issued. If such conditions
or events exist, ASU 2014-14 also requires certain disclosures of management’s plans and evaluation, as well
as the plans, if any, that are intended to mitigate those conditions or events that will alleviate the substantial
doubt. ASU No. 2014-15 is effective for the annual period ending after December 15, 2016 and for annual
and interim periods thereafter. Early adoption is permitted for annual or interim reporting periods for which
the financial statements have not been previously issued. The Company is evaluating the impact of the
adoption of ASU No. 2014-15 on its financial statements and related disclosures.

In January 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-01, Financial Instruments —
Overall: Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (‘“‘ASU 2016-01""). This
standard affects the accounting for equity instruments, financial liabilities under the fair value option and the
presentation and disclosure requirements of financial instruments. ASU 2016-01 is effective in the first quarter
of 2019. The Company is evaluating the impact of the adoption of ASU 2016-01 on its financial statements
and related disclosures.

In February 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-02, Leases (“ASU 2016-02").
This standard amends various aspects of existing accounting guidance for leases, including the recognition of
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the balance sheet for all leases with terms longer than 12 months.
Leases will be classified as either finance or operating, with classification affecting the pattern of expense
recognition in the income statement. This standard also introduces new disclosure requirements for leasing
arrangements. ASU 2016-02 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim
periods within those fiscal years for public business entities. Early adoption is permitted and the new standard
must be adopted using a modified retrospective approach, and provides for certain practical expedients. The
Company is evaluating the impact of the adoption of ASU 2016-02 on its financial statements and related
disclosures.

In March 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-09, Improvements to Employee
Share-Based Payment Accounting (“‘ASU 2016-09”"). This standard involves several aspects of the accounting
for share-based payment transactions, including the income tax consequences, classification of awards as either
equity or liabilities and classification on the statement of cash flows. ASU 2016-09 is effective for annual
periods beginning after December 15, 2016 and interim periods within those annual periods for public
business entities. The method of adoption is dependent on the specific aspect of accounting addressed in this
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SENESTECH, INC.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — (continued)

new guidance. Early adoption is permitted in any interim or annual period. The Company is evaluating the
impact of the adoption of ASU 2016-09 on its financial statements.

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic230): Classification of
Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments. The amendments in this ASU provide guidance on the following
eight specific cash flow classification issues: (1) debt prepayment or debt extinguishment costs; (2) settlement
of zero-coupon debt instruments or other debt instruments with coupon interest rates that are insignificant in
relation to the effective interest rate of the borrowing; (3) contingent consideration payments made after a
business combination; (4) proceeds from the settlement of insurance claims; (5) proceeds from the settlement
of corporate-owned life insurance policies, including bank-owned life insurance policies; (6) distributions
received from equity method investees; (7) beneficial interests in securitization transactions; and (8) separately
identifiable cash flows and application of the predominance principle. Current GAAP does not include specific
guidance on these eight cash flow classification issues. The amendments of this ASU are effective for
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, with early adoption permitted. The adoption of

ASU No. 2016-15 is not expected to have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements and
related disclosures.

3. Fair Value Measurements

The accounting guidance for fair value, among other things, defines fair value, establishes a consistent
framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosure for each major asset and liability category
measured at fair value on either a recurring or nonrecurring basis. Fair value is defined as the price that would
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the reporting date. The framework for measuring fair value consists of a three-level
valuation hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value based upon
whether such inputs are observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from
independent sources, while unobservable inputs reflect market assumptions made by the reporting entity. The
three-level hierarchy for the inputs to valuation techniques is briefly summarized as follows:

*  Level 1 — Inputs are unadjusted, quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities at
the measurement date;

*  Level 2 — Inputs, other than the quoted prices in active markets, that are observable either directly
or indirectly; and

e Level 3 — Unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data, which require the
reporting entity to develop its own assumptions.

An asset’s or liability’s fair value measurement level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest
level of any input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Valuation techniques used need to
maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are based on one or more of the following three valuation
techniques:

A. Market approach: Prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions involving
identical or comparable assets or liabilities.
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SENESTECH, INC.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

3. Fair Value Measurements — (continued)

B. Cost approach: Amount that would be required to replace the service capacity of an asset
(replacement cost).

C. Income approach: Techniques to convert future amounts to a single present amount based upon
market expectations, including present value techniques, option-pricing and excess earnings models.

Items Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

The following table sets forth the Company’s financial instruments that were measured at fair value on a
recurring basis by level within the fair value hierarchy:

December 31,

Valuation

2016 2015 Technique
Common stock warrant liability . ................... $69 $63 C
Convertible notes payable — current liability . .......... $— $— C

The following table sets forth a summary of the changes in the fair value of the Company’s Level 3 financial
liabilities:

Common 2014/2015
Stock Convertible
Warrant Notes
Liability Payable
Balance at December 31,2014 . ... ... ... ... ... . . . ....... — 447
Issuance of common stock warrant . .. ..................... 53 —
Issuance of convertible notes . . ... ......... . ... ... ... — 1,818
Change in fair value™ . ... ... ... .. .. ... . .. ... 10 728
Extinguishment of convertible notes for Series B convertible preferred
StOCK . . — (2,993)
Balance at December 31, 2015 . . . ... .. $63 $ —
Change in fair value . .. ....... ... .. ... .. . .. . .. ... 6 —
Balance at December 31,2016 . .. ........ . ... . . ... . ... ... $69 $ —

(1) The change in the fair value of the common stock warrant and convertible notes payable was recorded as
an increase to other income (expense) and interest expense of $677 and $63, respectively, in the
statements of operations and comprehensive loss

Financial Instruments Not Carried at Fair Value

The carrying amounts of the Company’s financial instruments, including accounts payable and accrued
liabilities, approximate fair value due to their short maturities. The estimated fair value of the convertible
notes and other notes, not recorded at fair value, are recorded at cost or amortized cost which was deemed to
estimate fair value.
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SENESTECH, INC.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

4. Prepaid expenses

Prepaid expenses consist of the following:

December 31,

2016 2015
Director COmpensation . . . . ... ...ttt et $215 $6
Director and officer insurance . .......... .. .. .. .. . . ... 70 —
Legal retainer . . ... .. ... ...t 25 —
Rent ... 17 16
Engineering, software licenses and other . . . .. .................. 10 14
Total accrued EXPEnSES . . .. vttt e $337 $36

5. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, net consist of the following:

December 31,

Useful Life 2016 2015

Research and development equipment . ........... 5 years $ 989 $ 834
Office and computer equipment .. .............. 3 years 235 181
Furniture and fixtures . ...................... 7 years 17 12
Leasehold improvements .. ................... * 189 189

1,430 1,216
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization . . . . . 799 603
Total . ..... ... . ... $ 631 $ 613

*  Shorter of lease term or estimated useful life

Depreciation and amortization expense was approximately $196 and $182 for the year ended December 31,
2016 and 2015, respectively.

6. Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consist of the following:

December 31,

2016 2015
Compensation and related benefits . . ......................... $ 82 $425
Accrued INterest . . . . ..ot e — 4
Accrued interest — related parties . . .. ... ... Lo — 329
Accrued Litigation . ... ... .. ... 286 —
Other . ... 3 =
Total accrued eXPEnSES . . ..ottt $371 $758



SENESTECH, INC.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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7. Accrued contract cancellation settlement

The accrued contract cancellation settlement of $1.0 million was a result of the Company entering into a
settlement agreement with Neogen Corporation in which Neogen and the Company agreed to (a) terminate the
existing Exclusive License Agreement between us and Neogen dated May 15, 2014 (the “‘License
Agreement’’), with neither Neogen or the Company having any further obligations thereunder (other than
certain confidentiality obligations); (b) dismiss with prejudice the court action filed by Neogen in the District
Court for the District of Arizona on January 19, 2017 (the “Court Action”), and (c) mutually release any and
all existing or future claims between the parties and their affiliates related to or arising from the License
Agreement or the Court Action. Under the terms of the agreement, the Company agreed to make a one-time
payment in the amount of $1.0 million in settlement of all claims and termination of all existing contracts
between the parties. See notes 17 and 18 for further details.

8. Borrowings

A summary of the Company’s borrowings, including capital lease obligations, is as follows:

At December 31,

2016 2015

Short-term debt:
NAU Promissory NOte . . .. ...ttt $ — $ —
Current portion of long-termdebt . . . .. ...... .. ... ... .. ..... 45 27
Total short-term debt . . .. ... ... ... .. ... ... $ 45 $ 27

Long-term debt:
Capital lease obligations . .. ............... .. ..., $ 51 $ 72
Other unsecured promissory NOtES . . . . .. .o v v v v v e .. 132 400
Other promisSsory NOtES . . . . v v v vt et et e e et e e — 5
Total . ... 183 477
Less: current portion of long-term debt . . .................. 45 27
Total long-term debt . . . ....... ... ... ... ... $138 $450

Capital Lease Obligations

Capital lease obligations are for computer and lab equipment leased through Great American and Thermo
Fisher. These capital leases expire at various dates through May of 2020.

Unsecured Promissory Note with Northern Arizona University

In July 2015, the Company and NAU Ventures entered into an Amended and Restated Letter Agreement
(“NAU Agreement”) to issue to NAU Ventures 400,000 shares of Series A convertible preferred stock and a
three-year warrant to purchase 210,526 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $15.00 per share
(“NAU Warrant”), subject to standard anti-dilution provisions, in exchange for the cancellation of the NAU
Promissory Note. The NAU Warrant agreement includes an early termination provision that states in the event
of a public offering, consolidation, merger, sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets, the
NAU Warrant will terminate unless exercised prior to the occurrence of such above-mentioned events.

The NAU Agreement replaced in its entirety a prior letter agreement, dated July 2, 2014, that was not
consummated. This previous letter agreement provided for similar terms as the NAU Agreement.

Pursuant to the NAU Agreement, the cancellation of the NAU Promissory Note and issuance of Series A
convertible preferred stock was contingent on reincorporation of the Company to a Delaware corporation. In
November 2015, a certificate of conversion was filed to reincorporate the Company from a Nevada
corporation to a Delaware corporation. Immediately following the reincorporation, the transactions
contemplated by the NAU Agreement closed. The Company issued to NAU Ventures 2,000,000 shares of
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8. Borrowings — (continued)

Series A convertible preferred stock, valued at $4,380, and the NAU Warrant, valued at $330, in exchange for
full cancellation of the NAU Promissory Note. As a result, the outstanding balance on the NAU Promissory
Note, including accrued interest of $1,313, of $3,180 was extinguished. The Company recorded a loss on the
extinguishment of the NAU Promissory Note of $1,530 during the year ended December 31, 2015.

The fair value of the Series A convertible preferred stock was determined using a simulation model of
discounted cash flows and included an assumption for the likelihood of a qualified financing or a change in
control event, each as defined in the documents creating the Series A preferred stock. The Warrant was valued
using the following inputs to a Monte Carlo model: underlying stock price of $7.50, term of three years,
exercise price of $15.00, volatility of 70.6%, risk free rate of 1.27% and an estimate of the likelihood of an
early termination. The estimated fair value of the NAU Warrant on the date of issuance was recorded in
additional paid-in capital.

On August 1, 2016, the Company and NAU Ventures, LLC, the holder of the Series A convertible preferred
stock, entered into a Conversion and Termination Agreement (the “Conversion Agreement’’). Pursuant to the
Conversion Agreement, the holder has agreed to convert all of its shares of Series A convertible preferred
stock into 400,000 shares of common stock immediately prior to the consummation of the Company’s
proposed initial public offering. In addition, the Company has agreed to make a cash payment of $175,890 to
the holder of the Series A convertible preferred stock for its agreement to waive all accrued dividends on the
Series A convertible preferred stock and convert all of its shares of Series A convertible preferred stock into
common stock immediately prior to the consummation of this offering. In the event the Company’s initial
public offering was not consummated on or before July 31, 2017, then the Conversion Agreement would have
terminated in its entirety and the terms of the Series A convertible preferred stock would have reverted back
to its original terms.

With the closing of the Company’s initial public offering, in December, 2016, NAU converted all of their
shares of Series A convertible preferred stock into shares of common stock on a one-for-one basis
immediately prior to the consummation of this offering. See Note 12.

Secured Promissory Note

In April 2015, the Company issued a secured promissory note to an investor with an aggregate principal
amount of $500 (the “Secured Promissory Note™) together with common stock warrants to purchase

69,333 shares of common stock, for total proceeds of $500. The Secured Promissory Note required interest at
4% per annum with a maturity date in April 2016. The Secured Promissory Note was collateralized by all of
the Company’s personal property. See Note 11 for a description of the features of the warrants.

The Secured Promissory Note exists independently from the detachable warrants and is accounted for
separately. At the time of issuance, the proceeds received from the issuance of the Secured Promissory Note
was allocated to the Secured Promissory Note and warrant based on the relative fair values of the Secured
Promissory Note with the warrants and without the warrants. The Company determined the estimated fair
value of the Secured Promissory Note using a lattice model and the estimated fair value of the warrants
using a Monte Carlo model. The relative fair value of the warrants of $113 was recorded to additional
paid-in-capital. The remainder of the proceeds was allocated to the Secured Promissory Note. The Company
recorded the value of the warrant as a debt discount on the related note. The Secured Promissory Note is
carried at amortized cost and the debt discount of $113 is amortized to interest expense, using the effective
interest method, through the maturity date of the Secured Promissory Note. During the year ended
December 31, 2015, the Company recorded accretion of debt discount of $79 within interest expense in the
accompanying statements of operations and comprehensive loss.
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8. Borrowings — (continued)

On December 31, 2015, the Secured Promissory Note was cancelled as consideration for the purchase of
shares of Series B convertible preferred stock at $7.75 per share, which was the same price as the shares sold
to other investors in the Company’s Series B convertible preferred stock financing in December 2015. The
Company issued 66,705 shares of Series B convertible preferred stock to the holder in exchange for the
cancellation of the Secured Promissory Note with an aggregate principal amount of $500 plus unpaid accrued
interest. As a result, the Company issued shares of Series B convertible preferred stock for $517 to reacquire
the Secured Promissory Note (including unpaid accrued interest), with a net carrying amount of $483 which
resulted in a loss on the date of extinguishment of $34, representing the elimination of the related unamortized
debt discount on the Secured Promissory Note.

Other Promissory Notes

During September, October and December 2015, the Company issued unsecured promissory notes to an
investor with an aggregate principal amount of $500 (the ‘2015 Unsecured Notes™) together with warrants to
purchase 69,333 shares of common stock for total cash proceeds of $500. The 2015 Unsecured Notes required
interest at 4% per annum with a maturity date in April 2017. The 2015 Unsecured Notes are convertible into
common stock or Series B convertible preferred stock solely upon mutual agreement of both the Company
and the holder at a conversion price of $7.75 per share. Also, the Company may prepay the 2015 Unsecured
Notes at any time prior to their maturity date without the consent of the holder or penalty. See Note 11 for a
description of the features of the warrants.

The 2015 Unsecured Notes notes exist independently from the detachable warrants and are accounted for
separately. At the date of issuance, the proceeds received from the issuance of the 2015 Unsecured Notes was
allocated to the 2015 Unsecured Notes and warrants based on the relative fair values of the 2015 Unsecured
Notes with the warrants and without the warrants. The Company determined the estimated fair value of the
2015 Unsecured Notes using a lattice model and the estimated fair value of the warrants using a Monte Carlo
model. The relative fair value of the warrants of $116 was recorded to additional paid-in-capital. The
remainder of the proceeds was allocated to the 2015 Unsecured Notes. The Company recorded the value of
the warrants as a debt discount on the related 2015 Unsecured Notes. The 2015 Unsecured Notes are carried
at amortized cost and the debt discount of $116 is amortized to interest expense, using the effective interest
method, through the maturity date of the 2015 Unsecured Notes. The outstanding carrying amount of the 2015
Unsecured Notes, net of $100 unamortized debt discount, was $0 and $400 at December 31, 2016 and 2015,
respectively, and was classified on the balance sheet as long-term debt.

In May 2012, the Company entered into a promissory note for the purchase of equipment. The note is payable
in monthly payments of $1 with an interest rate of 5% per annum. The note matured in May 2016.

At December 31, 2016 and 2015, the note had a balance outstanding of $0 and $5, respectively.

2016 Unsecured Notes

In February and March 2016, the Company issued to two investors unsecured, short-term promissory notes
(the ““2016 Unsecured Notes”) with an aggregate principal amount of $310 bearing interest at a rate of
4% per annum. In May 2016, these 2016 Unsecured Notes were surrendered as consideration for purchase
of 124,000 shares of common stock in the Rights Offering at the subscription price of $2.50 per share. See
Note 13.

In March 2016, the Company issued to two investors additional 2016 Unsecured Notes with an aggregate
principal amount of $16, together with detachable warrants to purchase 9,032 shares of common stock, for
total proceeds of $16. These 2016 Unsecured Notes were then immediately surrendered as consideration for
the purchase of 10,036 shares of Series B convertible preferred stock at a price of $7.75 per share. At
issuance, the Company allocated the proceeds of $7 and $9 to the debt and equity components, respectively.
The Company recorded the equity component as a discount to these 2016 Unsecured Notes. The
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8. Borrowings — (continued)

extinguishment of these 2016 Unsecured Notes, upon their cancellation and exchange into the Series B
convertible preferred stock resulted in a write-off of the unamortized debt discount and the Company recorded
a loss on extinguishment of $9 in the year ended December 31, 2016.

9. Notes Payable, Related Parties

A summary of the Company’s notes payable, related parties is as follows:

December 31,

2016 2015

Unsecured promissory note, interest rate of 4.25% and 8% per annum $36 $ 73
Unsecured promissory note, interest rate of 8% per annum . ......... — 236
Unsecured promissory note, interest rate of 6% per annum . ......... — 27
Unsecured promissory notes, interest rate of 4% per annum . . ... .. ... — 160
Total notes payable, related parties . . ....................... 36 496
Less: current portion of notes payable, related parties . ........... 30 462
Total notes payable, long-term . . ... ....................... $6 $ 34

The Company issued a series of unsecured promissory notes to a previous executive employee for deferred
salaries to be repaid in a future period. The notes accrue interest at a rate of 8% per annum. The outstanding
balance on these notes, including accrued interest, totaled $380 at December 31, 2015. In March 2016, the
Company issued an amended and restated promissory note (‘“‘Revised Note”) in the amount of $414, which
includes accrued and unpaid interest and other settlement costs and replaced in their entirety the previous
unsecured promissory notes. The Revised Note of $414 requires the Company to pay an initial payment of
$25 upon the effective date of the note, and monthly and quarterly payments of $10 and $25, respectively,
thereafter, with interest accruing at 12% per annum. Additionally, the Revised Note provides for an
acceleration of the amount due in the event of (i) a merger, sale or acquisition of substantially of the
Company’s assets; (ii) initial public offering; (iii) total equity raise of $2.5 million or more; and (iii) debt
financing of $2.5 million with an unaffiliated lender within thirty days of such events.

In May 2016, the Company repaid the outstanding balance under the Revised Note, plus accrued and unpaid
interest totaling $389, as the consummation of the Rights Offering triggered an acceleration of the amounts
due under the Revised Note.

In April 2013, the Company and a previous employee entered into an agreement to settle all outstanding
obligations consisting of a promissory note of $40, dated March 2009, and deferred salaries amounting to $72.
The note and salary obligation continue to bear interest at 8% and 4.25%, respectively. The note requires
monthly payments of $1 and matures in May 2018. The deferred salary obligation requires monthly payments
of $1 and matures in June 2018.

Amounts outstanding on these obligations were $36 and $73 at December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

In October 2011, the Company entered into an unsecured promissory note in the amount of $30 with its chief
executive officer with interest accruing at 4%. At the same time, the Company entered into an unsecured
promissory note in the amount of $30 with its Chief Research Officer with the same terms and conditions.
Both of these notes were repaid in 2015.

In 2015, the Company entered into short-term unsecured promissory notes, totaling $195, with its previous
chief executive officer. The notes accrued interest at 4% per annum and matured in December 2015. The funds

were used to meet working capital requirements. The Company repaid $35 on the promissory notes during
2015 and repaid the balance in May 2016.
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9. Notes Payable, Related Parties — (continued)

In August 2015, the Company entered into a short-term unsecured promissory note for $27 with a member of
its advisory board. The note accrued interest at 6% per annum and was due in February 2016. Upon maturity,
the holder transferred the note to a certain stockholder who acquired the note. The maturity date of the note
was then extended for ninety days. On April 7, 2016, this note was settled with the issuance of 54,000 shares
of common stock. See note 13.

Equity Participation Promissory Notes

In September 2016, the Company entered into a settlement agreement with the holder of equity participation
promissory notes. The settlement agreement terminated the holder’s equity participation and conversion rights.
The Company agreed to pay the promissory note holder principal, interest and expenses of $464 with

$88 paid at the agreement execution and equal monthly payments of $14. Interest continues to accrue on
unpaid balances at 1.25% per month with the total outstanding balance to be paid in full by the earlier of

(1) May 25, 2017, (ii) the sale, merger or acquisition of the Company or substantially all of its assets, or

(iii) 45 days after an initial public offering. This settlement was fully paid at December 31, 2016.

Interest expense on the notes payable, related parties, was $56 and $33 for the years ended December 31,
2016 and 2015, respectively.

10. Convertible Notes Payable, Related Parties

A summary of the Company’s convertible notes payable, related parties is as follows:

December 31,
2016 2015

Convertible notes payable, short term:
Equity Participation NoOtes . .. ... ...... i, $— $200
2014/2015 Convertible Notes . . . . ... .. .. i —
Other convertible notes payable . ........... ... ... ......... —

Total convertible notes payable, short term . ... .............. $200

[T
|

Equity Participation Promissory Notes

In late 2009 and early 2010, the Company entered into unsecured promissory note agreements with certain of
its existing stockholders for an aggregate principal amount of $675 with an original maturity date of May 31,
2010 (the “Equity Participation Notes”’). The Company continues to accrue unpaid interest on the Equity
Participation Notes at a rate 15% per annum, The terms of the Equity Participation Notes provide for the
holder to convert, at any time, the outstanding principal and unpaid accrued interest into shares of common
stock at an conversion rate of $10.00 per share provided, however, that in the event, that the Company’s
common stock is registered in an initial public offering, prior to such time the Company achieves a net profit
of $15 million, then the conversion rate shall be $5.00 per share. Additionally, the Equity Participation Notes
provide the holder an equity participation right at the rates from .8330% to 4% on the first $15 million of net
profit, which is defined as net profit before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization (“EBITDA”) and
compensation of officers, directors and any of their related parties. There were no amounts accrued for these
contingent equity participation payments at December 31, 2016 and 2015.

2014 Convertible Promissory Notes

In the first quarter of 2015, the Company made an offer to the holders of the 2014 Notes to allow the holders
to tender their convertible notes prior to maturity in exchange the Company would agree to include interest

through the original maturity date in calculating the number of conversion shares. In May and June 2015, the
Company converted the outstanding principal and accrued interest due on the 2014 Notes, totaling $452, into
71,446 shares of common stock at the following conversion rates: principal at $7.50 per share and interest at
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10. Convertible Notes Payable, Related Parties — (continued)

$5.00 per share. The discount on the 2014 Notes was amortized to interest expense through the conversion
dates using the effective interest method. The Company recorded an expense of $231, including the charge of
the unamortized discount of $142, for the inducement to convert the 2014 Notes as additional interest
expense. The Company recorded interest expense on the 2014 Notes of $0 and $312 during the year ended
December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

201472015 Secured Convertible Promissory Notes

During the period from December 2014 through November 2015, the Company issued secured convertible
promissory notes (the “2014/2015 Convertible Notes’’) to certain existing stockholders which provided for
borrowings of $2,365. The 2014/2015 Convertible Notes bore interest at a rate of 4% per annum, matured one
year from their date of issuance and were collateralized by all of the Company’s personal property. The
2014/2015 Convertible Notes could not be repaid prior to their maturity date without the consent of the
holders of at least a majority of the outstanding principal amount of the 2014/2015 Convertible Notes. The
2014/2015 Convertible Notes contained two conversion options contingent upon the occurrence of a future
event, as follows: (i) all outstanding principal and unpaid accrued interest on the 2014/2015 Convertible Notes
would automatically convert into equity securities upon the consummation of an equity financing with
proceeds of at least $2 million (“Qualified Financing”) at conversion rates of 70% or 80%, as noted below;
and (ii) if the Company was acquired, prior to a Qualified Financing, in a change in control transaction, the
holder had an option to have all outstanding principal plus any unpaid accrued interest paid in cash or convert
such amount into shares of common stock at a conversion price equal to $7.50 per share, subject to
adjustment for such events as stock splits, combination, and reorganization.

The Company received proceeds of $875 from the 2014/2015 Convertible Notes issued from December 2014
through February 2015 with an aggregate principal amount of $875. In the event of a Qualified Financing,
these 2014/2015 Convertible Notes provided automatic conversion of all outstanding principal and unpaid
accrued interest thereon into the shares of the equity securities sold in the Qualified Financing at a conversion
rate of 70% of the price per share paid by the other purchasers in the Qualified Financing.

From April 2015 through November 2015, the Company issued additional 2014/2015 Convertible Notes with
an aggregate principal amount of $1,490 together with detachable common stock warrants for proceeds of
$1,490. However, in the event of a Qualified Financing, these 2014/2015 Convertible Notes provided
automatic conversion of all outstanding principal and unpaid accrued interest thereon into the shares of the
equity securities sold in the Qualified Financing at a higher conversion rate of 80% of the price per share paid
by the other purchasers in the Qualified Financing.

The Company determined that the conversion option upon a Qualified Financing is the predominant
conversion option and is a conditional obligation that the Company would settle by issuing a variable number
of its shares. In this manner, the value that the convertible note holder would receive upon a Qualified
Financing conversion event is a fixed monetary amount known at inception. Although the two contingent
conversion features are embedded derivative features, they did not require bifurcation to be accounted for
separately. Therefore, the 2014/2015 Convertible Notes are measured initially at fair value and subsequently
with changes in fair value recognized in earnings.

There were a total of 131,733 detachable common stock warrants issued with the 2014/2015 Convertible
Notes. The 2014/2015 Convertible Notes and warrants exist independently as separate securities. See Note 9
for a description of the warrants. As the 2014/2015 Convertible Notes are measured at fair value, such notes
are allocated a portion of the proceeds equal to their fair value with the remaining proceeds being allocated to
the detachable warrants. The estimated aggregate fair value of the 2014/2015 Convertible Notes issued was
determined to be $2,268 with the remaining $97 of proceeds allocated to the detachable warrants. The
Company determined the estimated fair value of the 2014/2015 Convertible Notes using a lattice model. For
the year ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company recognized the changes in fair value on the
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10. Convertible Notes Payable, Related Parties — (continued)

2014/2015 Convertible Notes of $0 and $671, respectively, within other income (expense), in the
accompanying statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

As part of a Series B convertible preferred stock financing in December 2015, the Company provided an offer
to the holders of the 2014/2015 Convertible Notes to cancel and exchange their notes as consideration for
their purchase of the Series B convertible preferred stock at the same price as the shares to be sold to other
investors in the preferred stock financing. In consideration of the Company pricing the Series B convertible
preferred stock at $7.75 per share in the preferred stock financing and securing the $7.75 conversion price, the
holders of the 2014/2015 Convertible Notes waived the discount that provided for the automatic conversion of
the convertible notes into the equity securities sold in a Qualified Financing of at least $2 million. With this
offer, the holders of the 2014/2015 Convertible Notes received no additional consideration, there was no
modification of terms in their notes, and it did not represent the exercise of a conversion right obtained in the
terms of the 2014/2015 Convertible Notes at issuance. On December 31, 2015, all holders of the 2014/2015
Convertible Notes accepted the Company’s offer to cancel and exchange their notes as consideration for the
purchase of the Series B convertible preferred stock. The Company determined that the offer made to the
holders of the 2014/2015 Convertible Notes should be accounted for as an extinguishment of debt.

The Company issued 312,861 shares of Series B convertible preferred stock to the holders of the 2014/2015
Convertible Notes to cancel and exchange the aggregate $2,365 principal amount and unpaid accrued interest
totaling $2,465 on their notes as consideration for their purchase of the preferred stock at the $7.75 per share
price. In determining the reacquisition price in the extinguishment of the convertible notes, the value of the
Series B convertible preferred stock was readily determinable as the preferred stock was sold separately to
other investors as part of the preferred stock financing at $7.75 per share. As a result, the $2,425 amount to
reacquire the convertible notes was less than the $2,993 fair value carrying amount of the 2014/2015
Convertible Notes on December 31, 2015, the date of extinguishment. As such, the Company recorded a gain
on extinguishment of $569, which represents the elimination of the fair value accounting adjustments in the
year ended December 31, 2015.

Other convertible notes

The Company entered into an unsecured promissory note with a stockholder in the amount of $60 with
interest accruing at a rate of 10% per annum. The note provided for the holder to convert the outstanding
principal and accrued and unpaid interest into shares of common stock at a conversion rate equal to $7.50 per
share. In 2015, the holder converted the note balance, including accrued and unpaid interest, in the aggregate
amount of $68, into 8,971 shares of common stock in accordance with the original conversion terms of

the note.
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11. Common Stock Warrants and Common Stock Warrant Liability

The table summarizes the common stock warrant activity as of December 31, 2016 as follows:

Number of Exercise
Common Stock Warrants Warrants Date Issued Term Price
Secured Promissory Note . ....... 69,333 April 2015 5 years™" $ 7.50
2014/2015 Convertible Notes . . . . . . 131,734 April — November 2015 5 years" $ 7.50
Other Promissory Notes . ........ 69,333 September — December 2015 5 years'" $ 7.50
270,400

University of Arizona .. ......... 15,000  June 2015 5 years® $ 7.50
Consulting Agreement . . ........ 121,228 July 2015 10 years® $ 7.50
Northern Arizona University . . . . . . 210,526  November 2015 3 years™® $15.00

Warrants issued . ............ 617,154

Warrants exercised . .......... 6,667
Outstanding at December 31, 2015 . . 610,487
Initial Public Offering Underwriter . . 187,500  December 2016 5 years $ 9.60
Marketing and Development

Services . ... 100,000  February 2016 5 years" $ 7.50
Other Advisory Services . ........ 40,000 August 2016 3 years" $ 7.50
Promissory Notes . ............ 9,031 March 2016 3 years? $ 7.50

Warrants issued . ............ 336,531

Warrants exercised . .......... 117,733
Outstanding at December 31, 2016 . . 829,285

(1) The warrants also terminate, if not exercised, upon the closing of (i) an initial public offering of common

stock; or (ii) a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company.

(2) In the event of a terminating change of the Company, as defined in the warrant agreement, the warrant
holder would be paid in cash the aggregate fair market value of the warrant shares immediately prior to

the consummation of the terminating change event.

(3) The warrant also terminates, if not exercised, (i) two years after the closing of an initial public offering

of common stock; or (ii) the closing of a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company.

(4) The warrant also terminates, if not exercised, upon the closing of (i) an initial public offering of common
stock; or (ii) a consolidation, merger, sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the Company’s

assets

Secured Promissory Note, 2014/2015 Convertible Notes, other promissory notes Common Stock Warrants

In conjunction with the issuance of the Secured Promissory Note, 2014/2015 Convertible Notes, and certain
other promissory notes, the Company issued detachable common stock warrants (“Warrants’’) to purchase an
aggregate 270,400 shares of common stock, with an exercise price of $7.50 per share. The Warrants are
exercisable until the earlier of (i) 5 years from the date of grant; (ii) the closing of an initial public offering of

common stock by the Company; and (iii) the closing of liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the

Company.

The Warrants have a net share settlement (cashless exercise) provision. With this provision the holder may, in
lieu of payment of the exercise price in cash, surrender the warrant and receive a net amount of shares based
on the fair market value of the common stock at the time of exercise of the warrant after deduction of the
aggregate exercise price. However, the Warrants would be exercised automatically in full pursuant to the net
exercise provision, without any further action on behalf of the holder, immediately prior to the time the

Warrants would otherwise terminate.
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11. Common Stock Warrants and Common Stock Warrant Liability — (continued)

The Warrants are considered freestanding instruments as (i) they were transferred together with the notes
issued but exist independently as a separate security; (ii) they may be exercised separately from the notes; and
(iii) they are exercisable for a specific period (term) and do not impact the notes if and when exercised.

The Company estimated the fair value of the Warrants at issuance using a Monte Carlo option pricing model
based on the following significant inputs: common stock price of $7.50 to $7.575; comparable company
volatility of 58.0% to 76.7%; risk-free rates of 1.31% to 1.76%; and the probability of an equity event
occurring. The Company reflected the amounts recorded for the Warrants issued within stockholders’ deficit,
as additional paid-in-capital. Although the Warrants are a derivative that can be net share settled, the Warrants
are considered indexed to the Company’s common stock and the Company has the ability to settle the warrant
contract in common shares and met the conditions within the contract to classify the Warrants as an equity
instrument.

Common Stock Warrant Issued for Marketing and Development Services

In February 2016, the Company issued to a stockholder a warrant to purchase 100,000 shares of common
stock at an exercise price of $7.50 per share as consideration for providing marketing and development
services in Southeast Asia. The warrant was fully vested and exercisable on the date of grant. The common
stock warrant has the similar features as the Warrants disclosed in Note 11, except it is exercisable until the
earlier of (i) five years from the date of grant; (ii) two years after the closing of an initial public offering of
common stock by the Company; and (iii) the closing of a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the
Company. The Company estimated the fair value of the common stock warrant to be $431 on the date of
grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing model based on the following significant inputs: common stock
price of $7.57; comparable company volatility of 77.8%; remaining term 3.75 years; dividend yield of 0% and
risk-free rate of 2.09%. The Company recorded the fair value of the warrant as stock-based compensation
expense within general and administrative expense on the date of grant.

March 2016 Promissory Notes Common Stock Warrants

In March 2016, the Company issued certain 2016 Unsecured Notes with common stock warrants to purchase
an aggregate of 9,032 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $7.50 per share. See Note 8. The
common stock warrants are exercisable until the earlier of (i) 3 years from the date of grant; (ii) 2 years after
the closing of an initial public offering of common stock; and (iii) the closing of a liquidation, dissolution or
winding up of the Company. The Company estimated the fair value of the common stock warrants on the date
of grant using a Monte Carlo pricing model based on the following significant inputs: common stock price of
$7.575; comparable company volatility 79.6%; and risk-free rate of 1.49%.

August 2016 Other Advisory Services

On August 16, 2016, the Company issued to each of two advisors warrants to purchase 20,000 shares of
common stock at an exercise price of $7.50 per share, in each case, on a post-reverse split basis, as
consideration for providing advisory services to the Company. The warrants were fully vested and exercisable
on the date of grant until the earlier of (i) three years from the date of grant; (ii) two years after the closing of
an initial public offering of common stock; and (iii) the closing of a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of
the Company. The Company recorded the fair value of the warrants as stock-based compensation expense
within general and administrative expense on the date of grant.

Common Stock Warrant Issued To Initial Public Offering Underwriter

In December 2016, the Company issued to the underwriter of its [PO a warrant to purchase 100,000 shares of
common stock at an exercise price of $9.60 per share as consideration for providing services in connection
with our initial public offering. The warrant was fully vested and exercisable on the date of grant. The
common stock warrant is exercisable until five years from the date of grant. The Company estimated the fair
value of the common stock warrant to be $939 on the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing
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11. Common Stock Warrants and Common Stock Warrant Liability — (continued)

model based on the following significant inputs: common stock price of 8.00; comparable company volatility
of 82.1%; remaining term 5 years; dividend yield of 0% and risk-free rate of 1.92%.

University of Arizona Common Stock Warrant

In connection with the June 2015 amended and restated exclusive license agreement with the University of
Arizona (“University”’), the Company issued to the University a common stock warrant to purchase

15,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $7.50 per share. The warrant is exercisable
immediately and expires, if not exercised, five years from the date of grant. In the event of a ‘““terminating
change” of the Company, as defined in the warrant agreement, the warrant holder would be paid in cash the
aggregate fair market value of the underlying shares immediately prior to the consummation of the terminating
change event. Due to the cash settlement provision, the derivative warrant liability was recorded at fair value
and is revalued at the end of each reporting period. The changes in fair value are reported in other income
(expense) in the statements of operations and comprehensive loss. The estimated fair value of the derivative
warrant liability was $53 at the date of grant.

The estimated fair value of the derivative warrant liability was $63 at December 31, 2015. As this derivative
warrant liability is revalued at the end of each reporting period, the fair values as determined at the date of
grant and subsequent periods was based on the following significant inputs using a Monte Carlo option pricing
model: common stock price of $7.50 to $7.575; comparable company volatility of 60.8% to 81.4% of the
underlying common stock; risk-free rates of 1.21% to 1.76%; and dividend yield of 0%; including the
probability assessment of a terminating change event occurring. The change in fair value of the derivative
warrant liability was $10 for the year ended December 31, 2015 and was recorded in other income (expense)
in the accompanying statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

July 2015 Consulting Agreement Common Stock Warrant

In July 2015, the Company issued a common stock warrant to purchase 121,227 shares of common stock,
with an exercise price of $7.50 per share, as consideration for services under a consulting arrangement. The
warrant was fully vested and exercisable on the date of grant. This common stock warrant has the similar
features as the Warrants described above, except it is exercisable until the earlier of (i) 10 years from the date
of grant; (ii) 2 years after the closing of an initial public offering of common stock by the Company; and
(iii) the closing of a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company. The estimated the fair value of
the common stock warrant on the date of grant was $537 as determined by using a Black-Scholes option
pricing model based on the following significant inputs: common stock price of $7.575; comparable company
volatility of 60.9%; expected term of 6.25 years; risk-free rate of 2.09%; and dividend yield of 0%. The
Company recorded the fair value of the, warrant as stock-based compensation expense within general and
administrative expense in the accompanying statements of operations and comprehensive loss in 2015.

Northern Arizona University Common Stock Warrant

In November 2015, the Company issued a common stock warrant to purchase 210,526 shares of common
stock at an exercise price of $15.00 per share to Northern Arizona University (“NAU”) as part of the
consideration given with the Series A convertible preferred stock in exchange for the full cancellation of the
NAU Promissory Note. See Note 8.

12. Convertible Preferred Stock

Series A Convertible Preferred Stock

In November 2015, the Company issued 400,000 shares of Series A convertible preferred stock, valued at
$4,380, in exchange for cancellation of the NAU Promissory Note. See Note 8.

The Series A convertible preferred stock was recorded at the date of issuance at fair value. The Company’s
Series A convertible preferred stock has been classified as temporary equity on its balance sheet at
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12. Convertible Preferred Stock — (continued)

December 31, 2015. Upon certain liquidation events, as discussed below, that are not solely within the control
of the Company, including liquidation, sale or transfer of control of the Company, holders of the Series A
convertible preferred stock can cause the redemption of the Series A convertible preferred stock for cash
highlighting the potential future cash obligation.

A general summary of the rights with respect to the Series A convertible preferred stock are provided below:

Dividends

The holders of the Series A convertible preferred stock are entitled to dividends at the rate of 6% of the
original issue price ($5.00) per annum which accrues whether or not earned or declared by the Board of
Directors, whether or not there are profits or funds legally available for the payment and are cumulative to the
extent not paid. The Company is restricted to pay or declare any dividend or make any other distribution on
the common stock, or purchase, redeem or acquire for value any shares of common stock as long as the
Series A convertible preferred stock is outstanding.

Voting

Each holder of the Series A convertible preferred stock is entitled to the number of votes equal to the number
of shares of common stock into which such shares of Series A convertible preferred stock could be converted.
The preferred stockholders shall vote as a separate class to (i) approve amendments to the Certificate of
Incorporation, (ii) authorization of any new classes of stock, and (iii) any asset transfers or acquisitions or any
voluntary dissolution or liquidation of the Company.

For so long as any shares of preferred stock remain outstanding, the holders of the Series A convertible
preferred stock may appoint one member of the Board in a nonvoting observer capacity.

Conversion Rights

Series A convertible preferred stock may, at the option of the holder, be converted at any time into shares of
common stock at a conversion rate of $5.00 per share, subject to certain adjustments for stock splits, stock
dividends, reclassifications and certain other events.

Each share of Series A convertible preferred stock will automatically be converted into shares of common
stock on the then — effective Series A conversion price (i) at any time upon the affirmative election of the
holders of the majority of the outstanding shares of the Series A convertible preferred stock or

(ii) immediately upon the closing of a firmly underwritten public offering of common stock in which the gross
cash proceeds to the Company are at least $20 million and the Company’s shares have been listed for trading
on the New York Stock Exchange, NASDAQ Global Select Market or NASDAQ Global Market (“Qualified
IPO”). Upon conversion, any declared and unpaid dividends would be paid.

Redemption Rights

Pursuant to the NAU Agreement, in connection with a Qualified IPO, the Company agreed to use the proceeds
to redeem all shares of Series A convertible preferred stock (or common stock issued upon conversion) at a
price per share equal to the greater of (i) the original issue price ($5.00) of Series A convertible preferred
stock plus all unpaid accrued dividends and (ii) the then fair market value (‘‘Redemption Price”).

In connection with a “‘change of control event,” the Company would use such proceeds to redeem all shares
of Series A convertible preferred stock (or common stock issued upon conversion) at a price per share equal
to the greater of (i) the original issue price ($5.00) of the Series A convertible preferred stock plus all unpaid
accrued dividends and (ii) the then-current Redemption Price. A change of control event is defined as a
liquidation, merger, stock sale or sale of substantially all of the assets of the Company.
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Liquidation Rights

The holders of the Series A convertible preferred stock have a liquidation preference that gives such holders
first priority upon a change in control event whereby such holders shall be entitled to receive an amount in
liquidation equal to the original issued price ($5.00) plus accrued unpaid dividends.

Series B Convertible Preferred Stock

In December 2015, the Company issued Series B convertible preferred stock at $7.75 per share as follows:

(1) 312,861 shares to the holders of the 2014/2015 Convertible Notes in exchange for the cancellation of such
notes; (ii) 66,651 shares to the holder of the Secured Promissory Note in exchange for the cancellation of
such note; and (iii) 20,000 shares sold to a related party investor for cash in the Series B convertible preferred
stock financing.

The Series B convertible preferred stock has been classified as temporary equity on the accompanying balance
sheet at December 31, 2015. Although the Series B convertible preferred stock is not subject to mandatory
redemption, upon certain change in control liquidation events that are outside of the Company’s control, the
holders of the Series B convertible preferred stock can elect to receive, at their option, cash in amount equal
to the liquidation value of such holder’s Series B convertible preferred stock.

As of December 31, 2015, the Company has 399,512 shares of Series B convertible preferred stock issued and
outstanding with an aggregate carrying value of $3,096.

For year ended December 31, 2016, the Company issued an aggregate of 115,668 shares of Series B
convertible preferred stock to investors at a per share price of $7.75 for total cash consideration of $896. In
addition, in January 2016, a holder of 33,578 shares of Series B convertible preferred stock converted its
shares into 33,578 shares of common stock.

In March 2016, certain 2016 Unsecured Notes were exchanged by the holders for 2,007 shares of Series B
convertible preferred stock. See Note 8.

Upon the closing of the initial public offering in December of 2016, 483,609 shares of the Series B
convertible preferred stock automatically converted into 483,609 shares of the Company’s common stock.

Significant provisions of the Series B convertible preferred stock are as follows:

Dividends

Dividends may be declared and paid on the Series B convertible preferred stock from funds legally available
thereof as and when determined by the Board of Directors.

Liquidation Value

A change in control is treated as a liquidation event that entitles the holder to receive, at their option, cash in
amount equal to the liquidation value of each holder’s Series B convertible preferred shares. The liquidation
value for each share of Series B convertible preferred stock is an amount equal to $7.75 per share, subject to
adjustment in the event of a stock split, stock dividend or similar event.

Conversion Rights

The holder of the Series B convertible preferred stock has the right to convert at any time all or part of the
preferred shares into shares of common stock. Each share of Series B convertible preferred stock will
automatically convert into shares of common stock on the closing of an underwritten public offering of the
Company’s equity securities which results in gross proceeds of at least $5 million. The initial conversion price
is $7.75 per share, subject to certain adjustments for stock splits, stock dividends, reclassification and certain
other defined events.
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12. Convertible Preferred Stock — (continued)
Voting

Each holder of the Series B convertible preferred stock is entitled to the number of votes equal to the number
of shares of common stock into which such shares of Series A convertible preferred stock could be converted.
The holders of shares of Series B convertible preferred stock are entitled to vote on all matters submitted to
the vote of the stockholders.

Redemption Rights

The Series B convertible preferred stock is not subject to redemption.
13. Stockholders’ Deficit

Capital Stock

The Company was organized under the laws of the state of Nevada on July 27, 2004 and was subsequently
reincorporated under the laws of the state of Delaware on November 10, 2015. In connection with the
reincorporation, as approved by the stockholders, the Company changed its authorized capital stock to consist
of (i) 100 million shares of common stock, $.001 par value, and (ii) 2 million shares of preferred stock,
$0.001 par value, designated as Series A convertible preferred stock. In December 2015, the Company
amended its Certificate of Incorporation to change its authorized capital stock to provide for 15 million
authorized shares of preferred stock of which 7,515,000 was designated as Series B convertible preferred
stock, par value $.001 per share.

Prior to November 10, 2015, the Company’s authorized capital stock consisted of 100 million shares of
common stock, $.001 par value, and 10 million shares of preferred stock, $.001 par value.

Common Stock

The Company had 10,157,292 and 4,108,766 shares of common stock issued and outstanding as of
December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The holders of shares of common stock are entitled to one vote
per share on all matters submitted to a vote of the stockholders. As long as shares of preferred stock are
outstanding, the holders of outstanding shares of common stock are not entitled to receive any dividends. In
the event of liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, the holders of common stock are entitled
to share ratably in all assets remaining after payment of liabilities and the liquidation preference of any then
outstanding shares of preferred stock. The holders of common stock have no preemptive, conversion or other
subscription rights. There are no redemption or sinking fund provisions applicable to the common stock.

In May and June 2015, the 2014 Notes with an outstanding principal and accrued interest of $452 were
converted into 71,446 shares of common stock (conversion rate: principal — $7.50 per share; interest — $5.00
per share). The shares of common stock were recorded at their estimated fair value of $7.575 per share on the
date of issuance. See Note 10.

In November 2015, the Company converted a note payable with a stockholder that had an outstanding
principal balance, including accrued interest, totaling $68, into 8,971 shares of common stock in accordance
with its original conversion terms. See Note 10.

On April 7, 2016, a short-term unsecured promissory note for $27 was settled with the issuance of
54,000 shares of common stock.

During 2015, the Company issued 390,873 shares of common stock upon the exercise of stock options for
cash proceeds of $78.

On December 8§, 2016, in connection with its initial public offering, the Company issued 1,875,000 shares of
common stock for net consideration of $12.6 million.
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In May, 2016, certain 2016 Unsecured Notes were surrendered as consideration for purchase of
124,000 shares of common stock in the Right’s offering at the subscription price of $2.50 per share.

For the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company issued 630,935 shares of common stock upon the
exercise of stock options and warrants for cash proceeds of $521.

During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company issued an aggregate of 13,320 ordinary shares in net
settlement of vested restricted stock units, valued at $295.

Rights Offering

In April 2016, the Company offered to the existing holders of shares of (i) its common stock and (ii) Series B
convertible preferred stock, in each case, as of April 8, 2016 (the “Record Date’’), at no charge,
non-transferable subscription rights, on a pro rata basis, to purchase shares of common stock at a subscription
price of $2.50 per share (the “Rights Offering”). In addition, the holders also had the right to purchase
additional shares of common stock, if any shares remain unsubscribed. The Company offered subscription
rights on 5,794,162 shares of its common stock. The Rights Offering was conducted as a private placement on
a “best efforts” basis, with no minimum subscription required.

The subscription rights were initially exercisable beginning on April 8, 2016 and expiring on April 29, 2016
(the ““Subscription Period’’). However, the Company reserved the right to extend the Subscription Period for
up to two additional weeks. The Company extended the Subscription Period for one additional week. The
Rights Offering closed on May 6, 2016.

The Company issued 2,478,486 shares of common stock and received aggregate consideration of $6,199 in the
Rights Offering. The aggregate consideration received consisted of: (i) $5,284 in cash; (ii) $821 in
consideration paid through the cancellation of $821 in outstanding principal amount (and related unpaid
interest) under certain 2016 Unsecured Notes (as defined below) and the 2015 Unsecured Notes; and (iii) the
extinguishment of $94 in amounts owed by the Company for services and related miscellaneous expenses.
Such cash proceeds will be used for working capital and general corporate purposes. As the Rights Offering
was offered to certain existing holders of the Company’s stock, the shares sold are treated as outstanding from
the date of their issuance in the computation of loss per share, basic and diluted in future periods.

14. Stock-based Compensation

Effective December 2008, the Company established the 2008 — 2009 Non-Qualified Stock Option Plan

(the ““2008 — 2009 Plan’’) under which 20,000 stock options remain outstanding at December 31, 2016. The
stock-based awards were issued with a price not less than $15.00 per share or 100% of the fair value of a
share of common stock on the date of grant. After July 2015, no further awards were granted under the
2008 — 2009 Plan. Such outstanding awards will continue to be governed by their existing terms under the
2008 — 2009 Plan.

Effective July 2015, the Company’s stockholders approved the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2015 Plan™),
which permits the issuance of up to 2,000,000 shares reserved for the grant of stock options, stock
appreciation rights, restricted stock units and other stock-based awards for employees, directors or consultants
of the Company. The Board of Directors approved an additional 1,000,000 shares of common stock for
issuance under the 2015 Plan. The stock-based awards are generally issued with a price equal to no less than
fair value at the date of grant. Options granted under the 2015 Plan generally vest immediately, or ratably
over a two- to 36-month period coinciding with their respective service periods; however, participants may
exercise their options prior to vesting as provided by the 2015 Plan. Unvested shares issued for option
exercised early may be subject to a repurchase by the Company if the participant terminates at the original
exercise price. Options under the 2015 Plan generally have a contractual term of five or ten years. Certain
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stock option awards provide for accelerated vesting upon a change in control or an initial public offering. As
of December 31, 2016, the Company had 1,419,480 shares of common stock available for issuance under the
2015 Plan.

The Company measures the fair value of stock options with service-based and performance-based vesting
criteria to employees, directors and consultants on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model. The fair value of equity instruments issued to non-employees is re-measured as the award vests. The
Black-Scholes valuation model requires the Company to make certain estimates and assumptions, including
assumptions related to the expected price volatility of the Company’s stock, the period under which the
options with be outstanding, the rate of return on risk-free investments, and the expected dividend yield for
the Company’s stock.

During 2016, the Company issued a total of 126,373 shares of common stock, valued at $383, for services
performed.

The weighted-average assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option-pricing model used to calculate the fair
value of options granted during the year ended December 31, 2015, were as follows:

Employee Non-Employee
Expected volatility . ......... ... ... .. ... . .. .. ... 66.4% 76.6%
Expected dividend yield . ........... ... ... .. .. . .. ... ... — —
Expected term (in years) . ... ... .. ...t 4.0 5.0
Risk-free interest rate . .. ... ... ... .. ... 1.3% 1.7%

The weighted-average assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option-pricing model used to calculate the fair
value of options granted during the year ended December 31, 2016, were as follows:

Employee Non-Employee

Expected volatility . ......... .. ... . . .. ... ... 82.1% N/A
Expected dividend yield . ............ .. ... ... .. ... ... — N/A
Expected term (in years) . ... .. .. ... ... 3.25 N/A
Risk-free interest rate . . .. .. ... ... ... 1.83% N/A

Due to the Company’s limited operating history and lack of company-specific historical or implied volatility,
the expected volatility assumption was determined based on historical volatilities from traded options of
biotech companies of comparable in size and stability, whose share prices are publicly available. The expected
term of options granted to employees is calculated based on the mid-point between the vesting date and the
end of the contractual term according to the simplified method as described in SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin
110 because the Company does not have sufficient historical exercise data to provide a reasonable basis upon
which to estimate the expected term due to the limited period of time its awards have been outstanding.

For non-employee options, the expected term of options granted is the contractual term of the options.

The risk-free rate by reference to the implied yields of U.S. Treasury securities with a remaining term equal to
the expected term assumed at the time of grant. The expected dividend assumption is based on the Company’s
history and expectation of dividend payouts. The Company has not paid and does not intend to pay dividends.
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The table summarizes the stock option activity, for both plans, for the periods indicated as follows:

Weighted Weighted

Average Average

Exercise Remaining Aggregate

Number of Price Contractual Intrinsic
Options Per Share Term (years) Value”

Outstanding at December 31, 2014 . ... ... .... 255,509 $ 2.35 3.9 $3,230
Granted ............ ... .. .. . ... ... 2,477,255 $ 0.50 7.1
Exercised . ... ... ... ... 384,206 $ 0.05
Forfeited ........... ... .. .. ... .. .... 210,876 $ 0.50
Expired . ... ... ... 13,348 $15.00
Outstanding at December 31,2015 ... ........ 2,124,334 $ 0.50 6.4 $4,249
Granted ............. ... .. .. . ... . ..., 200,000 $ 7.98 5.0 $ 34
Exercised . ... ... 621,602 $ 0.73
Forfeited . ... .. ... ... 210,849 $ 0.50
Expired ... ... ... 14,583 $15.00
Outstanding at December 31, 2016 . ... ....... 1,477,300 1.61 5.8 $9,662
Exercisable at December 31, 2016 . .......... 999,310 $ 1.00 5.6 $7,145

(1) The aggregate intrinsic value on the table was calculated based on the difference between the estimated
fair value of the Company’s stock and the exercise price of the underlying option. The estimated stock
values used in the calculation was $8.15 and $2.50 per share for each of the years ended December 31,
2016 and 2015 respectively.

The weighted average grant-date fair value of options granted to employees for the year ended December 31,
2016 was $7.98 per share.

The stock-based compensation expense was recorded as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2016 2015
Research and development . . .......................0...... $ 403 $ 4,931
General and administrative . . . ... .. ... ... .. 2,966 6,331
Total stock-based compensation expense . .. .................. $3,369 $11,262

The allocation between research and development and general and administrative expense was based on the
department and services performed by the employee or non-employee.

Included in the table above, the Company recorded stock-based compensation expense of $207 and $338 for
the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, for stock options granted to non-employees.

In June 2016, the Company entered into an employment letter agreement with its chief executive officer which
replaced the previous employment agreement dated October 16, 2013. At the same time, the Company entered
into an employment letter agreement with its president and chief research officer that contained similar
features and terms which replaced her previous employment agreement dated October 16, 2013. By entering
into the employment letter agreements (the “2016 agreements’’) and accepting the signing bonus, the chief
executive officer and the president and chief research officer (collectively, the “executive officers’) waived all
rights to receive any compensation amounts provided for in the previous employment agreements.

The 2013 agreements, among other provisions, provided for a signing bonus of $1,000 on the acceptance and
signing of such agreements. Upon the signing of the 2013 agreements, the Company recorded a deferred
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compensation obligation as an undiscounted noncurrent liability, in the amount of an aggregate $2,000 for the
amount of the signing bonuses, since the payment of such obligation was not reliably determinable. The
amount was classified as a noncurrent liability as an event that makes the payment due and payable had not
occurred.

In June 2016, the Company reversed the deferred compensation obligation of $2,000 to additional paid in
capital which is in the period the terms of 2016 agreements were accepted and replaced the previous
employment agreements. As such, the executive officers, whom are also principal stockholders, have forgiven
the compensation that was previously earned and due under the 2013 agreements.

The 2016 agreements, among other things, provide for an annual base salary which may be adjusted
periodically and, upon signing of the 2016 agreements, a signing bonus was payable within one business day
after the signing the 2016 agreements. In addition, the 2016 agreements provide for an annual incentive bonus
with a minimum target value equal to a certain stated percentage of annual base salary; however, any
incentive bonus is determined at the discretion of the Board of Directors.

The 2016 agreements also provide for the grant of the award of restricted stock units (RSU) representing the
right to receive 220,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. The RSU award will vest and be settled
over a three-year period, with one-third of the units vesting on the twelve-month anniversary of the date of
grant, and the remaining units vesting in equal quarterly tranches over the following twenty-four months of
continuous service.

Upon the sale of the Company, the 2016 agreements provides for a bonus of (a) 1% of the amount of the net
sales price of the Company that is $100,000 or less, plus (ii) an additional 0.5% of the amount of the net sales
price of the Company that is more than $100,000, payable in cash or other proceeds payable to other
stockholders in such Company. Under the terms of her agreement, the executives shall be entitled to this
change of control bonus if the change of control transaction occurs within 12 months following the
termination of the executive’s employment by the Company without cause (as such term is defined in the
2016 agreement excluding death or disability) or within 12 months following the executive’s resignation for
good reason (as such term is defined in the 2016 agreement), provided that the executive remains in
compliance with the confidentiality and other ongoing post-termination obligations under the 2016 agreement.

In the event of terminated without cause or resignation for good reason (as such terms are defined in the 2016
agreements) or upon death, all base salary and benefits for a period of twelve months following the effective
date of such termination will be payable. Also, any earned but unpaid annual bonus, and all outstanding equity
awards will accelerate immediately upon the date of termination.

In recognition of his continued support and cooperation, and to resolve a dispute regarding whether his
options appropriately expired in the first quarter of 2016, in July 2016, the Company’s Board of Directors
agreed to issue to its former chief executive officer 120,000 shares of the Company’s common stock.

The expense of $300 associated with this full and final settlement was recorded in the year ended
December 31, 2016.

At December 31, 2016, the total compensation cost related to non-vested options not yet recognized was
$4,503, which will be recognized over a weighted average period of four years, assuming the employees
complete their service period required for vesting.

Effective December 2008, the Company established the 2008 — 2009 Non-Qualified Stock Option Plan (the
“2008 — 2009 Plan”’) under which 20,000 stock options remain outstanding at September 30, 2016. The
stock-based awards were issued with a price not less than $15.00 per share or 100% of the fair value of a
share of common stock on the date of grant. After July 2015, no further awards were granted under the
2008 — 2009 Plan. Such outstanding awards will continue to be governed by their existing terms under the
2008 — 2009 Plan.
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Effective July 2015, the Company’s stockholders approved the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2015 Plan”),
which permits the issuance of up to 2,000,000 shares reserved for the grant of stock options, stock
appreciation rights, restricted stock units and other stock-based awards for employees, directors or consultants

Restricted Stock Units

The following table summarizes restricted stock unit activity for the years ended December 31, 2016
and 2015:

Weighted Average

Grant-Date

Number of Fair Value

Units Per Units
Outstanding as of December 31,2014 ... ....... ... .. ..... — $ —
Granted . ... ... ... ... — $ —
Vested ... — $ —
Forfeited . .. ... ... .. . . . . — $ —
Outstanding as of December 31,2015 .. ...... ... ... ...... — $ —
Granted ... ... 474,720 $1.57
Vested .. .o (19,290) $8.10
Forfeited . ... ... ... . . . . — $ —
Outstanding as of December 31, 2016 ... ................. 455,430 $0.76

(1) 440,000 restricted stock units were granted and issued on September 30" with a weighted average grant
date fair value of $0.50 and vest 5 on the first anniversary of grant and the remaining balance quarterly
over the subsequent 8 quarters. 19,290 restricted stock units were granted on December 19, 2016 with a
weighted average grant date fair value of $8.10 and vested immediately. An additional 15,430 restricted
stock units were granted on December 19, 2016 and fully vest on the first anniversary of grant. The
Company accounts for the restricted stock units as equity-settled awards in accordance with ASC 718.
The total fair value of restricted stock units vested during the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015
was $156 and $0.00, respectively.

15. Income Taxes

Tax Rate Reconciliation

The income tax benefit differed from the amounts computed by applying the federal statutory income tax rate
of 34% to pretax income from operations as a result of the following:

Year Ended December 31,

2016 2015

Income tax benefit at statutory federal rate . .................. $(3,723) $(6,179)
Increase (reduction) in income taxes resulting from:

Nondeductible expenses . . ... ..........i... 7 69

Fair value adjustment on convertible notes . . ............... 2 226

State and local income taxes, net of federal income tax benefit . .. (505) (799)

Federal valuation allowance . .......................... 3,714 5,884

State valuation allowance . ............................ 505 799

$ — $  —
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15. Income Taxes — (continued)

Significant Components of Current and Deferred Taxes

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets are
presented below:

At December 31,

2016 2015
Deferred tax assets:
Deferred rent . .. ..... ... .. ... $ 25 $ 11
Deferred revenue . ... .... ... . ... .. ... — 85
Federal and state net operating loss carryforwards . ........... 10,818 10,727
Stock-based compensation . . .......... ... 4,831 6,493
Compensation accruals and other . . .. .................... 553 36
Total deferred tax assets . . ... ..... ... ... 16,227 17,352
Valuation allowance . ................ .. ..., ... (16,144) (17,277)
Net deferred tax assets . ... .. .... ... 83 75
Deferred tax liabilities:
Total deferred tax liabilities . . .. ...................... (83) (75)
Net deferred tax asset (liability) . ...................... $ — $ —
Property and equipment . .. ........... ... ... ... ... ... (83) (75)

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more-likely-than-not
that some portion or all of the deferred taxes will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax
assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those
temporary differences become deductible. Management considered the scheduled reversal of the deferred tax
liabilities including the impact of available carryback and carryforward periods and does not believe it is
more-likely-than-not the Company will realize the benefits of the deferred tax assets. Accordingly, a valuation
allowance has been recorded against the deferred tax assets. The valuation allowance decreased by
approximately $1.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 and increased $6.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2015.

At December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company had federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of
$34.0 million and $27.8 million, respectively. The state loss carryforwards will begin expiring in 2016 and the
federal loss carryforwards will begin expiring in 2021, unless previously utilized.

Utilization of the net operating loss carryforwards may be subject to a substantial annual limitation due to the
ownership change limitations provided by Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code and similar state
provisions. Generally, in addition to certain entity reorganizations, the limitation applies when one or more 5%
stockholders increase their ownership, in the aggregate, by more than 50% percentage points over a 36-month
time period testing period, or the beginning the day after the most recent ownership change, if shorter. The
annual limitation may result in the expiration of net operating losses and credit before utilization.

The Company files a federal income tax return. For taxable years ending before 2012, the Company is no
longer subject to U.S. federal examination; however, the Internal Revenue Service has the ability to
review years prior to 2012 to the extent the Company utilizes tax attributes carried forward from those
prior years. The statute of limitations on the Company’s state filings is four years.
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16. License and Other Agreements
Neogen Corporation

In May 2014, the Company entered into an exclusive license agreement with Neogen Corporation
(““Neogen’). The Company granted an exclusive license to Neogen to (i) use the Company’s intellectual
property (“IP’"), consisting primarily of the ContraPest technology and (ii) manufacture, distribute and sell
commercial rodent control products in the United States and certain U.S. territories, Canada and Mexico.
Under the terms of the licensing agreement, the Company was required to submit an application to the
United States Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”) for approval of ContraPest, complete two
agricultural field trials that support commercial feasibility for use of the product, and submit such studies and
results to Neogen for their approval. The application to the EPA was submitted in August 2015, and the EPA
granted registration approval for ContraPest effective August 2, 2016. The first field trial is complete, but has
not yet been approved by Neogen. With respect to the second trial, the EPA indicated to the Company that it
would be more efficient to wait until the product was approved rather than applying for an additional
experimental use permit. Given that the EPA has granted registration approval, the Company is now preparing
to commence the second field trial.

The Company has received nonrefundable, upfront license fee payments, totaling $488. The remaining license
fee of $162 will be received when Neogen formally accepts the Company’s report on its study of the field
trials. The Company has determined that the license does not have stand-alone value therefore, the license fees
of $488 are deferred and recognized, on a straight-line basis, from May 2014, the effective date of the
agreement, over the estimated related period of performance through December 2016, which includes the
acceptance by Neogen of the Company’s study for the field trials that support commercial feasibility for use
of the product.

For each of the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company recognized revenue of $186 under
the licensing agreement. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, deferred revenue amounted to $0 and $186,
respectively. Any changes in the estimated period of performance wound have been accounted for
prospectively as a change in estimate.

In addition, Neogen was obligated under the licensing agreement to pay additional consideration to the
Company consisting of future fixed-amount of contingent milestone payments (i.e. post-regulatory approval
license fees) of up to an aggregate of $3 million, and sales-based royalties on the net sales of licensed
products by Neogen, as well as its affiliates and sublicensees. The Company did not receive or earn these
potential contingent consideration payments as the milestone events to receive such post-approval license fees
and sales based royalties were not achieved prior to the termination of the agreement. The agreement was to
expire upon the later of (i) the last expiration of last patent included in the licensed IP; or (ii) the

tenth anniversary of the effective date of the agreement (i.e. May 2024).

As previously disclosed in our Current Report on Form 8-K dated and filed January 23, 2017, on January 23,
2017 we entered into a termination agreement (the ““Settlement Agreement’’) with Neogen Corporation
(“Neogen’). Pursuant to the Settlement Agreement, the parties agreed to (a) terminate the existing Exclusive
License Agreement between us and Neogen dated May 15, 2014 (the “License Agreement’), with neither
Neogen or us having any further obligations thereunder (other than certain confidentiality obligations);

(b) dismiss with prejudice the court action filed by Neogen in the District Court for the District of Arizona on
January 19, 2017 (the “Court Action”), as further described below; and (c) mutually release any and all
existing or future claims between the parties and their affiliates related to or arising from the License
Agreement or the Court Action. As part of the Settlement Agreement, we agreed to pay to Neogen upon the
execution of the Settlement Agreement an aggregate of $1.0 million in settlement of all claims.

NeoVenta Solutions, Inc.

In September 2015, the Company entered into a marketing, sales and distribution agreement with NeoVenta
Solutions, Inc. (“NeoVenta”). The Company granted an exclusive license to NeoVenta to market, sell and
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16. License and Other Agreements — (continued)

distribute its product in certain granted foreign countries (‘“‘granted countries’’), consisting of Bangladesh,
India, Indonesia, Malaysia, Singapore, Sri Lanka and Thailand. Other granted countries can be added when
approved and agreed upon by the parties. NeoVenta will be responsible for seeking applicable regulatory
approvals to market ContraPest in the granted countries. After such regulatory approvals have been obtained,
the Company has granted to NeoVenta an exclusive license to market, sell and distribute its product in these
granted countries. NeoVenta will make purchases of product at predetermined prices from the Company.
NeoVenta has agreed to minimum sales commitments of rodent control products in granted countries, which
total $23 million over the first five years. NeoVenta will make purchases of product at predetermined prices
from the Company.

The initial term of the agreement is for five years from the earlier of (i) obtaining the required certifications
for ContraPest or any products saleable in any of the countries in the territory; or (ii) six months after
approval of ContraPest or any other products by the EPA. The agreement will automatically renew for one
additional five year period. Thereafter, the agreement will renew for successive one-year periods unless written
notification of intent not to renew is provided by either party to the other not less than sixty days prior to the
beginning of any one-year renewal period.

Somerville

In May 2014, the Company entered into a service contract with the City of Somerville, Massachusetts
(““Somerville’”) whereby the Company was providing services and/or supplies in connection with conducting a
rodent population study through field trials for Somerville. The total contract amount was not to exceed

$215 for the services rendered and/or supplies received. Through an amendment to the contract, the contract
was extended to December 31, 2016. Services under the contract are now complete. The Company has
recognized revenue for services rendered under this contract of $132 during the year ended December 31,
2016 in other revenue in the statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

Chicago Transit Authority

In September 2015 the Company entered into a services contract with the Chicago Transit Authority, or CTA,
to begin a field trial of the Company’s bait station, which study is now complete. The total contract amount
was not to exceed $58. The services contract ended in March 2016. The Company recognized revenue for
services rendered under this contract of $42 during the year ended December 31, 2015, in other revenue in the
statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

University of Arizona

In 2005, the Company entered into an exclusive license agreement with the Arizona Board of Regents of the
University of Arizona (“University”’) to in-license certain patents and other intellectual property to be used in
the future product development in the domestic animal fertility control market. The patent claims in the
United States, Australia and New Zealand cover the use of the vinyl cyclohexene Diep oxide to deplete
ovarian follicles in individual mammals and reproduction of mammals. The license agreement gives the
Company exclusive rights to commercialize products based on this intellectual property. The University owns
the patent rights, but the agreement requires the Company to pay all costs incurred by the University in
maintaining and perfecting the patent rights. In exchange for the intellectual property, the Company paid the
University a nonrefundable fee of $5, agreed to reimburse the University for its patent costs, pay milestone
payments totaling up to $75 upon the achievement of certain research, development and regulatory milestones.
In addition, the University is entitled to royalty fees of 5% of net sales of the licensed product and
sublicensing royalty income of licensed product.

In June 2015, the Company and University executed an amended and restated exclusive license agreement.
The amendment reduced the milestone payments to totaling up to $50,000 upon the achievement of certain
research, development and regulatory milestones and royalty fees from 5% to 2% of net sales of licensed
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16. License and Other Agreements — (continued)

product and 4% of any sublicensing royalty income of licensed product. As consideration for the amended
terms, the Company entered into a warrant purchase agreement whereby the University was granted a warrant
to purchase 15,000 shares of common stock, with an initial fair value of $53. The warrant is exercisable
immediately for a term of five years from the effective date of the amendment. See Note 9.

The agreement will terminate with last-to-expire patent licensed under the agreement which extends to 2026.
The Company may terminate the agreement or the grant of rights under the agreement, at any time, upon
ninety days prior written notice to the University. Future milestone payments are considered to be contingent
consideration and will be accrued when probable of being paid. At December 31, 2015 and 2016, no
milestone payments were probable of being paid and it is not likely in the near future.

Bioceres/INMET S.A. Agreement

In January 2016, the Company entered into a services agreement with Bioceres, Inc. (“Bioceres’), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Bioceres S.A., a leading agricultural biotechnology company in Argentina, and its
Argentinean subsidiary, Ingenieria Metabolica

S.A. (“INMET”) to develop a production method for synthetic triptolide, the main ingredient in ContraPest.
The Company also entered into an agency agreement with INMET whereby the Company appointed INMET
as its exclusive agent to seek regulatory approval for and conduct pre-sales and marketing of its product,
ContraPest, in Argentina. The Company and INMET have also agreed to manufacture and distribute its
product in Argentina and other countries, as mutually agreed, through a newly formed entity.

The term of the service agreement is for two years. The service agreement can be terminated at any time upon
written notice by either party for any reason. The term of the agency agreement with INMET is the earlier of:
(1) when the Company and INMET incorporate the joint venture entity in Argentina or (ii) January 2018.

17. Commitments and Contingencies
Legal Proceedings

The Company may be subject to legal proceedings and claims arising from contracts or other matters from
time to time in the ordinary course of business. Management is not aware of any pending or threatened
litigation where the ultimate disposition or resolution could have a material adverse effect on its financial
position, results of operations or liquidity.

Neogen Settlement Agreement

As previously disclosed in the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated and filed January 23, 2017, on
January 23, 2017, the Company entered into an agreement (the “Settlement Agreement”) with Neogen
Corporation (“Neogen’). Pursuant to the Settlement Agreement, the parties agreed to (a) terminate the
existing Exclusive License Agreement between us and Neogen dated May 15, 2014 (the “License
Agreement’”), with neither Neogen or the Company having any further obligations thereunder (other than
certain confidentiality obligations); (b) dismiss with prejudice the court action filed by Neogen in the District
Court for the District of Arizona on January 19, 2017 (the “Court Action’), as further described below; and
(c) mutually release any and all existing or future claims between the parties and their affiliates related to or
arising from the License Agreement or the Court Action. Prior to the notice of filing received by SenesTech,
the Company was unaware that any action was contemplated or actioned and was proceeding with all
elements of the agreement in good faith. All communications prior to the complaint indicated that Neogen
also was proceeding in good faith to execute on the agreement.

Under the terms of the agreement, the Company agreed to make a one-time payment in the amount of $1,000
in settlement of all claims and termination of all existing contracts between the parties. Both Neogen and the
Company further agreed to drop any and all legal complaints, claims or threat of litigation for failure to
perform under the previous contractual relationship.
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17. Commitments and Contingencies — (continued)

Although notice of the legal action by Neogen and the subsequent agreement to terminate existing agreements
with Neogen, occurred AFTER December 31, 2016, as per the provisions of Accounting Standards
Codification Topic 450 Loss Contingencies, included in the financial statements of the Company at

December 31, 2016 is a $1,000 charge to general and administrative expenses and a corresponding accrual of
contract cancellation settlement agreement related to this agreement.

Employment Agreements

The Company entered into an employment agreement, dated October 2013, with the Chief Executive Officer
which provides for an employment term of three years and will automatically renew for an additional
three-year period unless terminated by either party by giving ninety days written notice. At the same time, the
Company entered into an employment agreement with its Chief Research Officer that contained similar
features and terms. The agreements, among other provisions, provides for an annual base salary which will be
reviewed and may be adjusted periodically, and upon signing the agreement, a signing bonus of $1,000. The
signing bonus was to be paid over three years in eleven quarterly installments of $91 per quarter, payable only
from product revenue after providing for all operational expenses and such bonus was not to be paid from
funds received from capital investment. The bonus would become immediately payable and due upon the
employees’ termination, disability or death. Upon the signing of the employment agreements in 2013, the
Company recorded a deferred compensation obligation, undiscounted non-current liability, in the amount of an
aggregate $2,000 in signing bonuses, since the payment of such obligation was not reliably determinable. The
amount was classified as a non-current liability until an event occurs that makes the payment due and payable.

In addition, upon the sale of the Company, the agreements provided for, at the employees’ election, a lump
sum cash payment equal to the current value of shares of common stock held, or no less than $3.00 per share,
whichever is greater. In addition, upon the sale of the Company, the agreement provided for a bonus of

(a) 1% of the amount of the net sales price that is $100,000 or less and (ii) 0.5% of the amount of the net
sales price that is more than $100,000. Under the terms of the agreement, this change of control bonus would
be paid regardless of whether employed by the Company at the time of any sale of all or a portion of the
stock or assets, and if deceased, such amount would be paid to the employees’ estate.

The agreements provided for cash payments pursuant to a phantom equity interest in all patents owned and/or
leased by the Company, such that the payments under the phantom equity interest shall be determined as if
the phantom patent interested represented a one half of one percent (0.5%) gross profits interest in the patents.
Gross profit means the amount received from customers that license product that has registrations. The patent
bonus is due in perpetuity for so long as the Company or any successor exists regardless of whether the
employees continue to be employed at the time the profits are earned by the Company or any successor entity.

In June 2016, the Company entered into an employment letter agreement with its chief executive officer which
replaced the previous employment agreement dated October 16, 2013. At the same time, the Company entered
into an employment letter agreement with its president and chief research officer that contained similar
features and terms which replaced her previous employment agreement dated October 16, 2013. By entering
into the employment letter agreements (the “2016 agreements”) and accepting the signing bonus, the chief
executive officer and the president and chief research officer (collectively, the “executive officers’) waived all
rights to receive any compensation amounts provided for in the previous employment agreements noted above.

The 2013 agreements, among other provisions, provided for a signing bonus of $1,000 on the acceptance and
signing of such agreements. Upon the signing of the 2013 agreements, the Company recorded a deferred
compensation obligation as an undiscounted noncurrent liability, in the amount of an aggregate $2,000 for the
amount of the signing bonuses, since the payment of such obligation was not reliably determinable. The
amount was classified as a noncurrent liability as an event that makes the payment due and payable had not
occurred.
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17. Commitments and Contingencies — (continued)

In June 2016, the Company reversed the deferred compensation obligation of $2,000 to additional paid in
capital which is in the period the terms of 2016 agreements were accepted and replaced the previous
employment agreements. As such, the executive officers, whom are also principal stockholders, have forgiven
the compensation that was previously earned and due under the 2013 agreements.

The 2016 agreements, among other things, provide for an annual base salary which will be reviewed and may
be adjusted periodically and, upon signing of the 2016 agreements, a signing bonus was payable within one
business day after the signing the 2016 agreements. In addition, the 2016 agreements provide for an annual
incentive bonus with a minimum target value equal to a certain stated percentage of annual base salary;
however, any incentive bonus is determined at the discretion of the Board of Directors.

The 2016 agreements also provide for the grant of the award of restricted stock units (RSU) representing the
right to receive 220,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. The RSU award will vest and be settled
over a three-year period, with one-third of the units vesting on the twelve-month anniversary of the date of
grant, and the remaining units vesting in equal quarterly tranches over the following twenty-four months of
continuous service.

Upon the sale of the Company, the 2016 agreements provides for a bonus of (a) 1% of the amount of the net
sales price of the Company that is $100,000 or less, plus (ii) an additional 0.5% of the amount of the net sales
price of the Company that is more than $100,000, payable in cash or other proceeds payable to other
stockholders in such Company. Under the terms of her agreement, the executives shall be entitled to this
change of control bonus if the change of control transaction occurs within 12 months following the
termination of the executive’s employment by the Company without cause (as such term is defined in the
2016 agreement excluding death or disability) or within 12 months following the executive’s resignation for
good reason (as such term is defined in the 2016 agreement), provided that the executive remains in
compliance with the confidentiality and other ongoing post-termination obligations under the 2016 agreement.

In the event of terminated without cause or resignation for good reason (as such terms are defined in the 2016
agreements) or upon death, all base salary and benefits for a period of twelve months following the effective
date of such termination will be payable. Also, any earned but unpaid annual bonus, and all outstanding equity
awards will accelerate immediately upon the date of termination.

Resolution of Dispute

In recognition of his continued support and cooperation, and to resolve a dispute regarding whether his
options appropriately expired in the first quarter of 2016, in July 2016, the Company’s Board of Directors
agreed to issue to its former chief executive officer 120,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. The
expense of $300 associated with this full and final settlement was recorded at December 31, 2016.

Lease Commitments

The Company is obligated under capital leases for certain research and computer equipment that expires in
October 2017 through May 2020. At December 31, 2015, the gross amount of office and computer equipment,
and research equipment and the related accumulated amortization recorded under the capital leases was

$69 and $21, respectively.

In February 2012, the Company entered into an operating lease for its corporate headquarters. The lease was
due to expire in January 2015. In December 2013, the Company amended its lease to expand into the
remaining area in the building and extended the term to December 31, 2019. In February 2014, the Company
further amended the lease to expand into an adjacent building. The lease requires escalating rental payments
over the lease term. Minimum rental payments under the operating lease are recognized on a straight-line
basis over the term of the lease and accordingly, the Company records the difference between the cash rent
payments and the recognition of rent expense as a deferred rent liability. The lease is guaranteed by the
President of the Company.
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On November 16, 2016, we leased an additional 25,000 square feet of research and development space, also
in Flagstaff, This lease expires on November 15, 2018. The lease requires fixed rental payments over the lease
term. Minimum rental payments under the operating lease are recognized on a straight-line basis over the term
of the lease and accordingly, the Company records the difference between the cash rent payments and the
recognition of rent expense as a deferred rent liability.

Rent expense was $234 and $205 and $175 for the year ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014,
respectively. The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating lease and future minimum
capital lease payments as of December 31, 2016 are follows:

Capital Operating
Leases Lease
Years Ending December 31,
20017 26 254
2008 18 258
20010 e 10 221
2020 . 3 =
Total minimum lease payments . ... ...............oouuern... $57 $733
Capital
Leases
Less: amounts representing interest (6.39%, ranging from 10.48% to 11.56%) ... ... $7
Present value of minimum lease payments .. .......... ... ... ... ... 50
Less: current installments under capital lease obligations .. .................. 22
Total long-term POrtion . . . . . ..ttt e $28

18. Subsequent Events

Neogen Settlement Agreement

As previously disclosed in the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated and filed January 23, 2017, on
January 23, 2017, the Company entered into an agreement (the “Settlement Agreement”) with Neogen
Corporation (“Neogen’). Pursuant to the Settlement Agreement, the parties agreed to (a) terminate the
existing Exclusive License Agreement between us and Neogen dated May 15, 2014 (the “License
Agreement’’), with neither Neogen or the Company having any further obligations thereunder (other than
certain confidentiality obligations); (b) dismiss with prejudice the court action filed by Neogen in the District
Court for the District of Arizona on January 19, 2017 (the “Court Action’), as further described below; and
(c) mutually release any and all existing or future claims between the parties and their affiliates related to or
arising from the License Agreement or the Court Action. Prior to the notice of filing received by SenesTech,
the Company was unaware that any action was contemplated or actioned and was proceeding with all
elements of the agreement in good faith. All communications prior to the complaint indicated that Neogen
also was proceeding in good faith to execute on the agreement.

Under the terms of the agreement, the Company agreed to make a one-time payment in the amount of $1,000
in settlement of all claims and termination of all existing contracts between the parties. This payment was
made in January, 2017. Both Neogen and the Company further agreed to drop any and all legal complaints,
claims or threat of litigation for failure to perform under the previous contractual relationship.
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Although notice of the legal action by Neogen and the subsequent agreement to terminate existing agreements
with Neogen, occurred AFTER December 31, 2016, as per the provisions of FAS 5 Loss Contingency,
included in the financial statements of the Company at December 31, 2016 is a $1,000 charge to general and
administrative expenses and a corresponding accrual of contract cancellation settlement agreement related to
this agreement.

In January, 2017, the Company issued 3,750 shares of common stock to a consultant for services.

In March, 2017, the Board of Directors granted 40,000 restricted stock units to a Vice President of the
Company. These options vested immediately and the Company will recognize compensation expense in March
of 2017 for the value of the grant.

The Company has evaluated subsequent events from the balance sheet date through March 31, 2017, the date
at which the financial statements were issued, and determined that there were no other items that require
adjustment to or disclosure in the financial statements.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that the information required to be
disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act™) is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms,
and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure. In connection with the preparation of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, our management carried
out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, as of December 31, 2016, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure
controls and procedures, as such term is defined under Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act.
Based upon this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our
disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2016.

This annual report does not include a report of management’s assessment regarding internal control over
financial reporting or an attestation report of the company’s registered public accounting firm due to a
transition period established by rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission for newly public companies.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We previously identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting for the year
ended December 31, 2015. See ““Risk Factors — We have not fully assessed our internal control over financial
reporting. We have previously identified and may in the future identify material weaknesses in our internal
control over financial reporting. If we are unable to remediate these material weaknesses, or if we experience
additional material weaknesses in the future or otherwise fail to maintain an effective system of internal
controls, we may not be able to accurately or timely report our financial condition or results of operations,
which may adversely affect investor confidence in us and, as a result, the value of our common stock.” While
we have not yet assessed our internal control over financial reporting, we are in the process of implementing
measures designed to improve our internal control over financial reporting, including how to remediate the
control deficiencies that led to our previously identified material weaknesses, including:

e the appointment of a Corporate Controller in May 2016;
* the establishment of formalized accounting policies and procedures and internal controls; and

e the implementation of manual and automated controls to support our overall control environment
and the segregation of duties and procedures.

Item 9B. Other Information.

None.
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PART III

Item 10.  Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

Certain information required by this Item regarding our directors and executive officers is set forth in Part I of
this report under Item 1, “Business — Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant” and will be
included in our definitive proxy statement for our 2017 annual meeting of shareholders to be filed with the
SEC under the captions ““‘Director Nominees,” “‘Continuing Directors” and “Executive Officers” and is
incorporated herein by this reference.

The information required by this Item regarding compliance by our directors, executive officers and holders of
ten percent of a registered class of our equity securities with Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 will be included in our definitive proxy statement for our 2017 annual meeting of shareholders to be
filed with the SEC under the caption ““Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” and is
incorporated herein by this reference.

The remaining information required by this Item will be included in our definitive proxy statement for our
2017 annual meeting of shareholders to be filed with the SEC under the caption “Corporate Governance” and
is incorporated herein by this reference.

Item 11.  Executive Compensation.

The information required by this Item will be included in our definitive proxy statement for our 2017 annual
meeting of shareholders to be filed with the SEC under the captions ““Corporate Governance’ and “Executive
Officer Compensation” and is incorporated herein by this reference.

Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters.

The information required by this Item regarding equity compensation plan information will be included in our
definitive proxy statement for our 2017 annual meeting of shareholders to be filed with the SEC under the
caption “Equity Compensation Plan Information” and is incorporated herein by this reference.

The information required by this Item regarding security ownership will be included in our definitive proxy
statement for our 2017 annual meeting of shareholders to be filed with the SEC under the caption *“Security
Ownership of Principal Stockholders, Directors and Management” and is incorporated herein by this
reference.

Item 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

The information required by this Item will be included in our definitive proxy statement for our 2017 annual
meeting of shareholders to be filed with the SEC under the captions “Corporate Governance’ and ‘““Certain
Relationships and Related Transactions’ and is incorporated herein by this reference.

Item 14.  Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

The information required by this Item with respect to principal accounting fees and services will be included
in our definitive proxy statement for our 2017 annual meeting of shareholders to be filed with the SEC under
the captions “‘Ratify Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” and is incorporated
herein by this reference.
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Item 15.

PART IV

Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

(a) Financial Statements and Schedules

1.

Financial Statements.

The following consolidated financial statements are filed as part of this report under Item 8 of Part II,
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”

A.

B.

C.

D.

2.

Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2016 and 2015.

Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the years ended December 31, 2016
and 2015.

Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015.
Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015.

Financial Statement Schedules.

Financial statement schedules not included herein have been omitted because they are either not required, not
applicable, or the information is otherwise included herein.

3.

Exhibits.

Exhibits are incorporated herein by reference or are filed with this report as indicated below (numbered in
accordance with Item 601 of Regulation S-K).

(b) Exhibits

The exhibits listed in the accompanying Index to Exhibits are filed with this report or incorporated herein by

reference.

(c) Financial Statement Schedules

None

Item 16.

Form 10-K Summary.

Not applicable.

44



SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

SENESTECH, INC.

Date: March 31, 2017 By: /s/ Loretta P. Mayer, Ph.D.
Loretta P. Mayer
Chair of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Scientific Officer

Date: March 31, 2017 By: /s/ THomas C. CHESTERMAN

Thomas C. Chesterman
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

Each person whose individual signature appears below hereby authorizes and appoints Loretta P. Mayer, Ph.D.
and Thomas C. Chesterman, and each of them, with full power of substitution and resubstitution and full
power to act without the other, as his true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent to act in his name, place and
stead and to execute in the name and on behalf of each person, individually and in each capacity stated below,
and to file, any and all amendments to this report, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other
documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said
attorneys-in fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act
and thing, ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any of them or their or his
substitute or substitutes may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue thereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on March 31, 2017, on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated.

Signature Title
/s/ Loretta P. Mayer, Ph.D. Chair of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Loretta P. Mayer, Ph.D. Scientific Officer (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Thomas C. Chesterman Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
Thomas C. Chesterman (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
/s/ Cheryl A. Dyer, Ph.D. President, Chief Research Officer and Director

Cheryl A. Dyer, Ph.D.

/s/ Grover Wickersham Vice-Chair of the Board
Grover Wickersham

/s/ Marc Dumont Director

Marc Dumont

/s/ Bob Ramsey Director
Bob Ramsey
/s/ Matthew K. Szot Director

Matthew K. Szot

/s/ Julia Williams, M.D. Director
Julia Williams, M.D.
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SENESTECH, INC.
INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Exhibit foi!fl?s}?:d Incorporated by Reference
Number Description Herewith Form Filing Date  Exhibit File No.
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of S-1/A 10/20/2016 3.3 333-213736
Incorporation
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws S-1 9/21/2016 3.5 333-213736

10.1Y SenesTech, Inc. 2008 — 2009 Non-Qualified S-1 9/21/2016  10.1  333-213736
Stock Option Plan and form of agreement
thereunder

102 SenesTech, Inc. 2015 Equity Incentive Plan S-1 9/21/2016  10.2 333-213736
and forms of agreement thereunder

10.3Y  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement 8-K  12/21/2016 4.1 001-37941

10.4Y Form of Indemnification Agreement S-1 9/21/2016  10.2  333-213736

10.5Y  Employment Letter Agreement by and S-1 9/21/2016  10.7 333-213736
between the Registrant and Loretta P. Mayer,
Ph.D. dated June 30, 2016

10.6"”  Employment Letter Agreement by and S-1 9/21/2016  10.8 333-213736
between the Registrant and Cheryl A. Dyer,
Ph.D. dated June 30, 2016

10.7"  Employment Offer Letter by and between S-1 9/21/2016  10.9 333-213736
the Registrant and Thomas Chesterman dated
November 20, 2015.

10.8 Lease by and between the Registrant and S-1 9/21/2016  10.5 333-213736
Caden Court, LLC, dated as of December 20,
2011 and amendments thereto dated
December 6, 2013 and February 27, 2014.

1099 Agency Agreement by and between the S-1 9/21/2016 ~ 10.10 333-213736
Registrant, Inmet S.A. and Bioceres, Inc.
dated January 21, 2016.

10.10®  Services Agreement by and between the S-1 9/21/2016  10.11 333-213736
Registrant, Inmet S.A. and Bioceres, Inc.
dated January 21, 2016.

10.11”  Marketing, Sales and Distribution Agreement S-1  9/21/2016  10.13 333-213736
by and between the Registrant and Neo Venta
Solutions, Inc. dated September 26, 2015.

10.12  Settlement Agreement and Release dated 8-K  1/23/2017 1.1 001-37941
January 23, 2017 by and between Neogen
Corporation and the Registrant.

21.1 Subsidiaries of the Registrant X

23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public X

Accounting Firm



Filed or

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Furnished
Number Description Herewith Form Filing Date  Exhibit File No.
31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant X
to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) under the
Securities and Exchange Act of 1934
312 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant X
to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) under the
Securities and Exchange Act of 1934
32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer X
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002
322 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant X

(1) Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002

(2) Confidential treatment has previously been granted by the SEC for certain portions of the referenced
exhibit.



senestech.

Sound science. Effective solutions.

SENESTECH, INC.

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS
TO BE HELD ON May 19, 2016

TO THE STOCKHOLDERS:

Notice is hereby given that the 2017 Annual Meeting of Stockholders of SenesTech, Inc., a Delaware
corporation (the “Company”’), will be held on Friday, May 19, 2017 at 10:00 a.m., local time, at the Holiday
Inn Hotel & Suites, Phoenix Airport North at 1515 N 44™ St., Phoenix, AZ 85008, for the following purposes:

1. To elect the following individuals to the board of directors: Julia Williams and Marc Dumont as
Class I directors, each to serve for a three-year term until the annual general meeting of stockholders
to be held in 2020 and until her or his successor is duly elected and qualified;

2. To ratify the appointment of M&K CPAS, PLLC as the Company’s independent registered public
accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2017; and

3. To transact such other business as may properly come before the meeting or any adjournment or
adjournments thereof.

The foregoing items of business are more fully described in the Proxy Statement accompanying this Notice.

The board of directors has fixed the close of business on April 12, 2017 as the record date for the
determination of stockholders entitled to vote at this meeting. Only stockholders of record at the close of
business on April 12, 2017 are entitled to receive notice of, and to vote at, the meeting and any adjournment
thereof.

All stockholders are invited to attend the meeting in person. However, to ensure your representation at the
meeting, you are urged to mark, sign, date and return the enclosed proxy card as promptly as possible in the
postage-prepaid envelope enclosed for that purpose. Any stockholder attending the meeting may vote in
person even if such stockholder has previously returned a proxy.

By Order of the Board of Directors

Loretta P. Mayer, Chair of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
Flagstaff, Arizona
April 20, 2017

Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for the Stockholder Meeting to
Be Held on May 19, 2017: The proxy statement and annual report to stockholders are available at
http://senestech.investorroom.com/.
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SENESTECH, INC.

PROXY STATEMENT
FOR THE 2017 ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

PROCEDURAL MATTERS

General

The enclosed proxy is solicited by the board of directors of SenesTech, Inc., a Delaware corporation, for use
at the 2017 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the *““Annual Meeting”) to be held on Friday, May 19, 2017

at 10:00 a.m., local time, and at any adjournment thereof, for the purposes set forth herein and in the
accompanying Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders. The Annual Meeting will be held at the Holiday
Inn Hotel & Suites, Phoenix Airport North at 1515 N 44" St., Phoenix, AZ 85008. Our principal executive
offices are located at 3140 N. Caden Court, Suite 1, Flagstaff, AZ 86004 and the telephone number at such
principal executive offices is (928) 779-4143. As used in this proxy statement, “we,” “‘us,” “our’ and the
“Company” refer to SenesTech, Inc.

These proxy solicitation materials were mailed on or about April 20, 2017 to all stockholders entitled to vote
at the Annual Meeting.

Record Date and Outstanding Shares

Only stockholders of record at the close of business on April 12, 2017 (the “record date’’) are entitled to
receive notice of and to vote at the Annual Meeting. Our only outstanding voting securities are shares of
common stock, $0.001 par value. As of the record date, 10,161,042 shares of our common stock were issued
and outstanding, which shares of common stock are held by approximately 867 stockholders of record.

Revocability of Proxies

Any proxy given pursuant to this solicitation may be revoked by the person giving it at any time prior to its
use by delivering to our Secretary, at the address referenced above, a written instrument revoking the proxy or
delivering a duly executed proxy bearing a later date (in either case no later than the close of business on
May 18, 2017) or by attending the Annual Meeting and voting in person.

Voting and Solicitation

Each holder of common stock is entitled to one vote for each share held.

This solicitation of proxies is made by our board of directors, and all related costs will be borne by us. We
may reimburse brokerage firms and other persons representing beneficial owners of shares for their expenses
in forwarding solicitation material to such beneficial owners. Proxies may also be solicited by certain of our
directors, officers or administrative employees without the payment of any additional consideration.
Solicitation of proxies may be made by mail, by telephone, by email, in person or otherwise.

Stockholders of Record and “Street Name” Holders

Where shares are registered directly in the holder’s name, that holder is the stockholder of record with respect
to those shares. If shares are held by an intermediary, meaning in a stock brokerage account or by a bank,
trust or other nominee, then the broker, bank, trust or other nominee is considered the stockholder of record as
to those shares. Those shares are said to be held in “street name” on behalf of the beneficial owner of the
shares. Street-name holders generally cannot directly vote their shares, and must instead instruct the broker or
other nominee how to vote their shares using the voting instruction form provided by that broker or other
nominee. Many brokers also offer the option of giving voting instructions over the internet or by telephone.
Instructions for giving your vote as a street-name holder are provided on your voting instruction form.

Quorum; Abstentions; Broker Non-Votes

At the Annual Meeting, an inspector of elections will determine the presence of a quorum and tabulate the
results of the voting by stockholders. A quorum exists when holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of
stock entitled to vote are present in person, by remote communication, if applicable, or by proxy. A quorum is
necessary for the transaction of business at the Annual Meeting.



Broker non-votes can occur as to shares held in street name. Under the current rules that govern brokers and
other nominee holders of record, if a street-name holder does not give instructions to its broker or other
nominee, such broker or other nominee will be able to vote such shares only with respect to proposals for
which the broker or other nominee has discretionary voting authority. A “‘broker non-vote’” occurs when a
broker or other nominee submits a proxy for the Annual Meeting but does not vote on a particular proposal
because such broker or other nominee does not have discretionary voting power with respect to that proposal,
and has not received instructions from the beneficial owner.

The approval of the election of directors (Proposal No. 1) is a proposal for which brokers do not have
discretionary voting authority. If you hold your shares in street name and you do not instruct your broker how
to vote on this proposal, your broker will not vote on them and those non-votes will be counted as broker
non-votes. The ratification of the appointment of M&K CPAS, PLLC as our independent registered public
accounting firm (Proposal No. 2) is considered to be discretionary and your brokerage firm will be able to
vote on this proposal even if it does not receive instructions from you, as long as it holds your shares in its
name.

Abstentions and broker non-votes are treated as shares present for the purpose of determining whether there is
a quorum for the transaction of business at the Annual Meeting. For purposes of the proposal to elect directors
(Proposal No. 1) and the proposal to ratify the appointment of M&K CPAS, PLLC as our independent
registered public accounting firm (Proposal No. 2), abstentions and broker non-votes are not counted for
determining the number of votes cast, and therefore will not affect the outcome of the vote on such proposals.

Required Votes and Voting

Assuming that a quorum is present at the Annual Meeting, the following votes will be required:

e With regard to Proposal No. 1, the two nominees for election to the board of directors who receive
the greatest number of votes cast “for” the election of the directors by the shares present, in person
or by proxy, will be elected to the board of directors. Stockholders are not entitled to cumulate votes
in the election of directors.

e With regard to Proposal No. 2, approval of this proposal requires the affirmative vote of a majority
of shares of common stock present in person or by proxy.

All shares entitled to vote and represented by properly executed, unrevoked proxies received before the
Annual Meeting will be voted at the Annual Meeting in accordance with the instructions given on those
proxies. If no instructions are given on a properly executed proxy, the shares represented by that proxy will be
voted as follows:

FOR the director nominees named in Proposal No. 1 of this proxy statement; and

FOR Proposal No. 2, to ratify the appointment of M&K CPAS, PLLC as our independent registered public
accounting firm.

If any other matters are properly presented for consideration at the Annual Meeting, which may include, for
example, a motion to adjourn the Annual Meeting to another time or place (including, without limitation, for
the purpose of soliciting additional proxies), the persons named in the enclosed proxy and acting thereunder
will have discretion to vote on those matters as they deem advisable. We do not currently anticipate that any
other matters will be raised at the Annual Meeting.

Deadlines for Receipt of Stockholder Proposals

Stockholder proposals may be included in our proxy statement and form of proxy for an annual meeting so
long as they are provided to us on a timely basis and satisfy the other conditions set forth in Rule 14a-8
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), regarding the inclusion of
stockholder proposals in company-sponsored proxy materials. We currently anticipate holding our 2018 annual
meeting of stockholders in May 2018, although the Board may decide to schedule the meeting for a different
date. For a stockholder proposal to be considered pursuant to Rule 14a-8 for inclusion in our proxy statement
and form of proxy for the annual meeting to be held in 2018, we must receive the proposal at our principal
executive offices, addressed to our Secretary, no later than January 21, 2018. Any proposals received after



such date will be considered untimely. Submitting a stockholder proposal does not guarantee that it will be
included in our proxy statement and form of proxy.

In addition, a stockholder proposal that is not intended for inclusion in our proxy statement and form of proxy
under Rule 14a-8 (including director nominations) shall be considered ‘“‘timely” as calculated in accordance
with Rule 14a-4(c) under the Exchange Act, and may be brought before the 2018 annual meeting of
stockholders provided that we receive information and notice of the proposal addressed to our Secretary at our
principal executive offices, no later than March 7, 2018.

Further, our Amended and Restated Bylaws (our “Bylaws™) provide that only such business shall be
conducted at an annual meeting of stockholders as shall have been properly brought before the meeting. To be
properly brought before an annual meeting, business must be brought in accordance with Section 2.4 of our
Bylaws. A copy of our Bylaws can be found as Exhibit 3.5 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1
(Registration No. 333-213736) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on
September 21, 2016 and incorporated herein by reference.

We strongly encourage any stockholder interested in submitting a proposal to contact our Secretary in advance
of these deadlines to discuss any proposal he or she is considering, and stockholders may want to consult
knowledgeable counsel with regard to the detailed requirements of applicable securities laws. All notices of
stockholder proposals, whether or not intended to be included in our proxy materials, should be in writing and
sent to our principal executive offices, located at: SenesTech, Inc., 3140 N. Caden Court, Suite 1, Flagstaff,
Arizona 86004, Attention: Secretary.



PROPOSAL NO. 1

ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

General

Our Bylaws provide that the authorized number of directors of the Company shall be fixed by the board of
directors from time to time. The board of directors has previously set the size of the board of directors at
seven directors. The directors shall be elected at each annual general meeting of the stockholders. If for any
reason directors are not elected at the annual meeting of the stockholders, they may be elected at any special
meeting of the stockholders that is duly called and held for that purpose in the manner provided by the
Bylaws.

The board of directors is divided into three classes. Except for the remainder of the initial terms for the

Class II and Class III directors elected at the 2016 annual meeting of stockholders, which initial terms are
currently in progress, each director will serve a three-year term. A director serves in office until her or his
respective successor is duly elected and qualified, unless the director is removed, resigns or, by reason of
death or other cause, is unable to serve in the capacity of director. We expect that any additional directorships
resulting from an increase in the number of directors will be distributed among the three classes so that, as
nearly as possible, each class will consist of one third of the total number of directors.

Set forth below is certain information furnished to us by the director nominees and by each of the incumbent
directors whose terms will continue following the Annual Meeting. Loretta Mayer, our co-founder, chair of the
board, chief executive officer and chief scientific officer, and Cheryl Dyer, our co-founder, president, chief
research officer and a director, are married. Other than Drs. Mayer and Dyer, there are no family relationships
among our directors or director nominees.

Nominees for Director

Two directors are to be elected at the Annual Meeting to the terms set forth below. The board of directors has
nominated the following individuals for election to the board of directors: Julia Williams and Marc Dumont as
Class I directors, each to serve for a three-year term until the annual general meeting of stockholders to be
held in 2020 and until her or his successor is duly elected and qualified.

Unless otherwise instructed, the proxy holders will vote the proxies received by them for the election of Julia
Williams and Marc Dumont to the board of directors. Each of these individuals has indicated that she or he
will serve if elected. We do not anticipate that any of these nominees will be unable or unwilling to stand for
election, but if that occurs, all proxies received may be voted by the proxy holders for another person
nominated by the board of directors. As there are two nominees, proxies may be voted for up to two persons.

Vote Required for Election of Directors

If a quorum is present, the nominees for election to the board of directors receiving the greatest number of
votes cast “for” the election of the directors by the shares present, in person or by proxy, will be elected to
the board of directors.

Nominees and Continuing Directors

The names and certain information as of the record date about the nominees and each director continuing in
office after the Annual Meeting are set forth below.

Name of Director Nominees Age Position Director Since Term Expires
Marc Dumont 73 Director 2016 2017 (Class 1)
Julia Williams, M.D. 57 Director 2011 2017 (Class I)



Name of Continuing Directors Age Position Director Since Term Expires

Cheryl A. Dyer, Ph.D. 65 Director; President and 2004 2018 (Class II)
Chief Research Officer
Loretta P. Mayer, Ph.D. 67 Chair of the Board, 2004 2019 (Class III)

Chief Executive
Officer and Chief
Scientific Officer

Bob Ramsey 71 Director 2016 2018 (Class II)

Matthew Szot 42 Director 2015 2019 (Class III)

Grover Wickersham 68 Vice-Chair of the 2015 2019 (Class III)
Board

Marc Dumont was elected to our board of directors in January 2016. Mr. Dumont is owner, chairman and
chief executive officer of Chateau de Messey Wineries, Meursault, France, a position he has held since

March 1995. Mr. Dumont served as the president of PSA International SA (a PSA Peugeot Citroen Group
company) from January 1981 to March 1995. He is an international financial consultant and advisor for clients
in Europe and Asia, as well as the United States. He has served as the chairman of Sanderling Ventures (a
European affiliate of a U.S. venture capital firm) since 1996. In the past, Mr. Dumont has served as director of
Finter Bank Zurich, Novalog/Winslow Corporation, NUKO Information Systems Inc. in San Jose, CA, and
Banque Internationale in Luxembourg, all of which were public companies. Mr. Dumont holds a Degree in
Electrical Engineering and Applied Economics from the University of Louvain, Belgium and an MBA from
the University of Chicago. We believe Mr. Dumont is qualified to serve as a member of our board of directors
because of his experience and knowledge of corporate finance, international business development and
operations, and his experience as a past director of other public and private companies.

Julia Williams, M.D. was elected to our board of directors in August 2011. She has been an emergency
department physician since 1989. She has worked at Flagstaff Medical Center since 1999. Dr. Williams is the
founder and President of Humanitarian Efforts Reaching Out, or HERO, a non-profit 501(c)(3) organization
that provides humanitarian services including medical and dental care, alternative power sources, solar
cookers, vitamins, eye glasses, nutritional support and animal care. HERO’s mission is to help build healthy
sustainable communities in underdeveloped Nations around the world. Dr. Williams has received her Doctor of
Medicine from the University of Maryland School of Medicine and her Bachelors of Science from the
University of Maryland. We believe that Dr. Williams is qualified to serve as a member of our board of
directors because of her medical and scientific background, commitment to and experience with animal care,
and long commitment to our vision.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT STOCKHOLDERS VOTE FOR
THE ELECTION OF DR. WILLIAMS AND MR. DUMONT TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
AS CLASS I DIRECTORS, EACH TO SERVE FOR A THREE-YEAR TERM UNTIL THE ANNUAL
GENERAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS TO BE HELD IN 2020.

Cheryl A. Dyer, Ph.D. is one of our co-founders and has served as our president and a member of our board
of directors since our inception in July 2004. She has served as our chief research officer since 2004, where
she oversees all of our research activities for relevance to our business goals, adherence to scientific standards
and assurance of regulatory, legal and contractual compliance. From June 1990 to September 1995, Dr. Dyer
served as a NIH-funded Principal Investigator at The Scripps Research Institute, La Jolla, California and from
1995 to 2010 was on faculty at Northern Arizona University, Flagstaff, Arizona where she maintained an
extramurally-funded research program and laboratory. She was the first Research Professor in the Department
of Biology at Northern Arizona University and the first Established Investigator for the American Heart
Association in the State of Arizona. Dr. Dyer earned a Bachelor’s degree in Biology from the University of
California at San Diego in 1974 and a Ph.D. in Physiology and Pharmacology in 1986 in the School of
Medicine at University of California at San Diego. Dr. Dyer was appointed as an Adjunct Member of the
Graduate Faculty at Texas A&M University in 2015. We believe that Dr. Dyer is qualified to serve as a
member of our board of directors because of her unique scientific background, her role as our co-founder and
inventor of our first product, ContraPest.



Loretta P. Mayer, Ph.D. is one of our co-founders, and has served as our chair of the board since our
inception in July 2004. Since June 2009, Dr. Mayer has served as our chief scientific officer. In

December 2015, she assumed the title of chief executive officer, a position she previously held from

June 2011 to January 2015. She is a co-inventor on the patent licensed from the University of Arizona that
formed the basis for the launch of our research and development efforts and continues to contribute as
co-inventor on additional patent improvements and new technology. Prior to her career in medicine and
science, from 1978 to 1991 Dr. Mayer served as CEO of Binnacle Development, Inc., a California-based Real
Estate Development company, where she established the first Senior Citizen Housing project in the city of
San Diego, developed $45 million in product and managed an annual budget of $10 million. Dr. Mayer also
served as Vice President of Soroptimist International of the Americas from 1990 to 1991, where she was
responsible for NGO representation at United Nations and international board meetings, Cambridge,

UK 1990 — 1991. She also served Soroptimist International of the Americas as a federation board member
from 1988 to 1990 and as regional governor from 1984 to 1986. She earned a master’s degree in 1997 and a
Ph.D. in 2000 in Biology from Northern Arizona University. Dr. Mayer earned a bachelors degree in
Sociology from University of California, San Diego in 1971. She accepted a post-doctoral appointment with
the College of Medicine at the University of Arizona in 2000. We believe that Dr. Mayer is qualified to serve
as a member of our board of directors because of her scientific experience, business background and her role
as our co-founder.

Bob Ramsey was elected to our board of directors in January 2016. Since 1978, Mr. Ramsey has served as
chief executive officer of Starwest Associates, which develops and implements new business models in public
partnerships for ambulance and EMS services. Mr. Ramsey also currently serves as chief executive officer of
the Ramsey Social Justice Foundation, a non-profit organization that is dedicated to charitable work in the
fields of global sustainability and affordable housing for at-risk and vulnerable populations, including women
and children. The Ramsey Social Justice Foundation is a member of the Clinton Global Initiative. Mr. Ramsey
has been appointed by six different Arizona governors to various Arizona state boards and commissions,
including the Arizona Department of Health Services Emergency Medical Services Council on which he has
served continuously since 1988. Mr. Ramsey holds a Bachelor of Arts from Arizona State University, and
Arizona State University has named a school after Mr. Ramsey. We believe Mr. Ramsey is qualified to serve
as a member of our board of directors because of his experience and knowledge of business development,
global sustainability, charitable organizations and state and local government.

Matthew Szot was elected to our board of directors in December 2015 and appointed as the chairman of the
audit committee of our board of directors in December 2015 and as the chairman of the compensation
committee of our board of directors in July 2016. Since March 2010, he has served as the chief financial
officer and treasurer of S&W Seed Company, a Nasdaq-listed agricultural seed company. From February 2007
until October 2011, Mr. Szot served as the chief financial officer for Cardift Partners, LLC, a strategic
consulting company that provided executive financial services to various publicly traded and privately held
companies. From 2003 to December 2006, Mr. Szot served as chief financial officer and Secretary of

Rip Curl, Inc., a market leader in wetsuit and action sports apparel products. From 1996 to 2003, Mr. Szot
was a Certified Public Accountant with KPMG and served as an Audit Manager for various publicly traded
companies. Mr. Szot has a Bachelor of Science degree in Agricultural Economics/Accountancy from the
University of Illinois, Champaign-Urbana and is a Certified Public Accountant in the State of California. We
believe that Mr. Szot is qualified to serve as a member of our board of directors because of his experience and
knowledge of corporate finance, mergers and acquisitions, corporate governance as well as other operational,
financial and accounting matters gained as a past and present chief financial officer of other public and private
companies.

Grover Wickersham was elected to our board of directors and appointed as its vice-Chairman in

December 2015. Mr. Wickersham also serves on the board of directors of S&W Seed Company, a
Nasdaqg-traded agricultural company, Eastside Distilling, Inc., an OTCQB-traded producer of high quality
spirits, and Verseon Corporation, a London AIM-listed pharmaceutical development company. Since
November 2016, Mr. Wickersham has served as the chief executive officer of Eastside Distilling, Inc.

Mr. Wickersham has been a director and portfolio advisor of Glenbrook Capital Management, the general
partner of a partnership that invests primarily in the securities of public companies, from 1996 to present. For



more than five years, Mr. Wickersham has served as the chairman of the board of trustees of Purisima Fund, a
mutual fund advised by Fisher Investments of Woodside, California, which fund has assets under management
of approximately $375 million. Between 1976 and 1981, Mr. Wickersham served as a staff attorney, and then
as a branch chief, of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. He holds an A.B. from the Univ. of
California at Berkeley, an M.B.A. from Harvard Business School and a J.D. from Univ. of California
(Hastings). We believe that Mr. Wickersham is qualified to serve as a member of our board of directors
because of his experience and knowledge of corporate finance and legal matters, his experience and
knowledge of operational matters gained as a past and present director of other public and private companies,
and his knowledge of our company.

Executive Officers

The names and certain information about our executive officers as of the record date are set forth below:

Name Age Position

Loretta P. Mayer, Ph.D. 67 Chair of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Scientific Officer

Cheryl A. Dyer, Ph.D. 65 President, Chief Research Officer and Director

Thomas C. Chesterman 57 Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer
and Assistant Secretary

Kim Wolin 61 Executive Vice President, Operations and Secretary

Drs. Mayer and Dyer’s biographical details are set out above under the heading “Continuing Directors.”

Tom Chesterman joined our company in September 2015, and has served as our chief financial officer and
treasurer since December 2015. He has over 20 years of experience as the chief financial officer of a public
company in the life science, technology and telecommunications industries. Most recently, he was the vice
president and treasurer of General Communication Inc., a telecommunications company in Alaska, from 2013
to 2015. Previously, he was the chief financial officer of life science companies Bionovo Inc. from 2007 to
2012, Aradigm Corp. from 2002 to 2007 and Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc. from 1996 to 2002. Mr. Chesterman
is adept at a variety of capital market access techniques, and has significant experience in developing the
operational and financial infrastructures in companies to help support successful and rapid growth.

Mr. Chesterman earned a bachelor’s degree from Harvard University and an MBA from the University of
California at Davis.

Kim Wolin joined our company as a marketing technologist in May 2013, and in May 2014 was appointed
executive vice president of operations. From January 2009 to May 2013, she was a vice president, branch
sales and service manager of Sunwest Bank, a community bank located in Flagstaff, Arizona. From
November 1996 to December 2009, Ms. Wolin held the positions of assistant vice president, branch manager
and Licensed Financial Advisor at Wells Fargo Bank. She has owned and operated Creative Net Solutions, a
website design and hosting business, since 1994. From 1984 to 1992, Ms. Wolin owned and operated Kodas
Produce Market, a health food and organic produce store in Oakland, CA. Ms. Wolin earned a bachelor’s
degree in Psychology from the State University of New York/Buffalo in 1977.



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Board of Directors Leadership Structure

The board of directors has adopted a structure under which the vice-chair of our board of directors is an
independent director and a separate role from our board chair and chief executive officer. We believe the
current separation of the vice-chair from the board chair and chief executive officer role allows the chief
executive officer to focus her time and energy on running our business and managing our operations, while
leveraging the experience and perspectives of an independent vice-chairman. Our chief executive officer has
generally also been a member of the board of directors. Dr. Mayer is a director as well as our chief executive
officer. We believe it is important to enable our chief executive officer to provide information and insight
about us directly to the directors in their deliberations. Our board of directors believes that separating the
board chair/chief executive officer and vice-chairman of the board roles is the appropriate leadership structure
for us at this time and demonstrates our commitment to effective corporate governance.

Our board chair is responsible for the effective functioning of our board of directors, enhancing its efficacy by
guiding board of directors processes and presiding at board of directors meetings. Our board chair presides at
stockholder meetings and ensures that directors receive appropriate information from our management to fulfill
their responsibilities. Our board chair also acts as a liaison between our board of directors and executive
management, facilitating clear and open communication between management and the board of directors.

Board of Directors Role in Risk Oversight

One of the key functions of our board of directors is informed oversight of our risk management process. Our
board of directors will not have a standing risk management committee, but rather intends to administer this
oversight function directly through our board of directors as a whole, as well as through various standing
committees that address risks inherent in their respective areas of oversight. In particular, our board of
directors is responsible for monitoring and assessing strategic risk exposure and our audit committee has the
responsibility to consider and discuss our major financial risk exposures and the steps our management has
taken to monitor and control these exposures. The audit committee also has the responsibility to issue
guidelines and policies to govern the process by which risk assessment and management is undertaken and to
monitor compliance with legal and regulatory requirements. Our compensation committee assesses and
monitors whether any of our compensation policies and programs have the potential to encourage excessive
risk-taking.

Director Independence

Generally, under the continued listing requirements and rules of Nasdaq, independent directors must comprise
a majority of a listed company’s board of directors. Our board of directors has undertaken a review of its
composition, the composition of its committees and the independence of each director. Our board of directors
has determined that Messrs. Dumont, Ramsey, Szot and Wickersham, and Dr. Williams are independent within
the meaning of Nasdaq listing standards and that none of such directors has any relationship with us that
would interfere with the exercise of their independent business judgment. Accordingly, a majority of our
directors is independent, as required under applicable Nasdaq rules. In making this determination, our board of
directors considered the current and prior relationships that each non-employee director has with our company
and all other facts and circumstances our board of directors deemed relevant in determining their
independence, including the beneficial ownership of our capital stock by each non-employee director.

Standing Committees and Attendance

The board of directors held a total of 14 meetings during 2016. All directors attended more than 75% of the
aggregate of the meetings of the board of directors and committees thereof, if any, upon which such director
served during the period for which he or she has been a director or committee member during 2016.

Our board of directors includes an audit committee, a compensation committee and a corporate governance
and nominating committee. Our audit, compensation and governance committees are comprised solely of
independent board members. Information about these standing committees and committee meetings is set forth
below.



Audit Committee

Our audit committee currently consists of Matthew Szot, who is the chair of the committee, Grover
Wickersham and Marc Dumont. The board of directors has determined that, after consideration of all relevant
factors, each of these directors qualifies as an “independent” director under applicable SEC and NASDAQ
rules. Each member of the audit committee is able to read and understand fundamental financial statements,
including our consolidated balance sheets, consolidated statements of operations and consolidated statements
of cash flows. Further, no member of the audit committee has participated in the preparation of our
consolidated financial statements, or those of any of our current subsidiaries, at any time during the past
three years. The board of directors has designated Mr. Szot as an “‘audit committee financial expert” as
defined under applicable SEC rules and has determined that Mr. Szot possesses the requisite ‘‘financial
sophistication” under applicable NASDAQ rules. The audit committee operates under a written charter
setting forth the functions and responsibilities of the committee, which is reviewed by the audit committee on
an annual basis. A current copy of the audit committee charter is available on our website at
http://senestech.investorroom.com/ on the “Board Committees” page under the heading “Corporate
Governance.” The functions of the audit committee include:

*  Opverseeing the engagement of our independent public accountants;

e Reviewing our accounting policies, judgments and assumptions used in the preparation of our
financial statements;

e Reviewing our audited financial statements and discussing them with the independent public
accountants and our management;

e Meeting with the independent public accountants and our management to consider the adequacy of
our internal controls;

e Establishing procedures regarding complaints concerning accounting or auditing matters, reviewing
and, if appropriate, approving related-party transactions, reviewing compliance with our Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics, and reviewing our investment policy and compliance therewith; and

e Reviewing our investment policy and financial plans, reporting recommendations to our full board of
directors for approval and authorizing actions.

Both our independent registered accounting firm and internal financial personnel regularly meet with our audit
committee and have unrestricted access to the audit committee.

Compensation Committee

Our compensation committee currently consists of Matthew Szot, who is the chair of the committee, Bob
Ramsey and Julie Williams, each of whom has been determined by our board of directors to be independent
in accordance with Nasdaq standards. Each member of our compensation committee is also a non-employee
director, as defined pursuant to Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act, and an outside director, as
defined pursuant to Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code. The
compensation committee operates under a written charter, which is reviewed by the committee on an

annual basis. A current copy of the compensation committee charter is available on our website at
http://senestech.investorroom.com/ on the “Board Committees’ page under the heading ‘“‘Corporate
Governance.” The functions of the compensation committee include:

*  Reviewing and, if deemed appropriate, recommending to our board of directors policies, practices,
and procedures relating to the compensation of our directors, officers, and other managerial
employees and the establishment and administration of our employee benefit plans;

e Determining or recommending to the board of directors the compensation of our executive officers;
and

e Advising and consulting with our officers regarding managerial personnel and development.



Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

Our nominating and corporate governance committee currently consists of Grover Wickersham, who is the
chair of the committee, Marc Dumont and Bob Ramsey, each of whom has been determined by our board of
directors to be independent in accordance with Nasdaq standards. The corporate governance and nominating
committee operates under a written charter, which is reviewed by the committee on an annual basis and by the
Board of Directors as appropriate. A current copy of the nominating and corporate governance committee
charter is available on our website at http://senestech.investorroom.com/ on the “Board Committees” page
under the heading “Corporate Governance.” The functions of the corporate governance and nominating
committee include:

e Evaluating the composition, size and governance of our board of directors and its committees and
make recommendations regarding future planning and the appointment of directors to our
committees;

e Evaluating and recommending candidates for election to our board of directors;

e Establishing a policy for considering stockholder nominees for election to our board of directors;
and

e Reviewing our corporate governance principles and providing recommendations to the board
regarding possible changes.

Director Nomination Process

The board of directors has determined that director nomination responsibilities should be overseen by the
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee (the “Committee’). One of the Committee’s goals is to
assemble a Board that brings to us a variety of perspectives and skills derived from high quality business and
professional experience. Factors considered by the Committee include judgment, knowledge, skill, diversity
(including factors such as race, gender and experience), integrity, experience with businesses and other
organizations of comparable size, including experience in animal and health sciences, business, finance,
administration or public service, the relevance of a candidate’s experience to our needs and experience of
other Board members, familiarity with national and international business matters, experience with accounting
rules and practices, the desire to balance the considerable benefit of continuity with the periodic injection of
the fresh perspective provided by new members, and the extent to which a candidate would be a desirable
addition to the board of directors and any committees of the board of directors. In addition, directors are
expected to be able to exercise their best business judgment when acting on behalf of us and our stockholders,
act ethically at all times and adhere to the applicable provisions of our code of ethics and business conduct.
Other than consideration of the foregoing and applicable SEC and Nasdaq requirements, unless determined
otherwise by the Committee, there are no stated minimum criteria, qualities or skills for director nominees.
However, the Committee may also consider such other factors as it may deem are in the best interests of us
and our stockholders. In addition, at least one member of the board of directors serving on the audit
committee should meet the criteria for an “audit committee financial expert” having the requisite ““financial
sophistication” under applicable Nasdaq and SEC rules, and a majority of the members of the board of
directors should meet the definition of “independent director” under applicable Nasdaq rules.

The Committee identifies director nominees by first evaluating the current members of the board of directors
willing to continue in service. Current members of the board of directors with skills and experience that

are relevant to our business and who are willing to continue in service are considered for re-nomination,
balancing the value of continuity of service by existing members of the board of directors with that of
obtaining a new perspective. The Committee also takes into account an incumbent director’s performance as
a Board member. If any member of the board of directors does not wish to continue in service, if the
Committee decides not to re-nominate a member for reelection, if the Board decided to fill a director position
that is currently vacant or if the board of directors decides to recommend that the size of the board of
directors be increased, the Committee identifies the desired skills and experience of a new nominee in light
of the criteria described above. Current members of the board of directors and management are polled for
suggestions as to individuals meeting the Committee’s criteria. Research may also be performed to identify
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qualified individuals. Nominees for director are selected by a majority of the members of the Committee, with
any current directors who may be nominees themselves abstaining from any vote relating to their own
nomination.

It is the policy of the Committee to consider suggestions for persons to be nominated for director that are
submitted by stockholders. The Committee will evaluate stockholder suggestions for director nominees in the
same manner as it evaluates suggestions for director nominees made by management, then-current directors or
other appropriate sources. Stockholders suggesting persons as director nominees should send information
about a proposed nominee to our Secretary at our principal executive offices as referenced above at least

120 days before the anniversary of the mailing date of the prior year’s proxy statement. This information
should be in writing and should include a signed statement by the proposed nominee that he or she is willing
to serve as a director of SenesTech, a description of the proposed nominee’s relationship to the stockholder
and any information that the stockholder feels will fully inform the Committee about the proposed nominee
and his or her qualifications. The Committee may request further information from the proposed nominee and
the stockholder making the recommendation. In addition, a stockholder may nominate one or more persons for
election as a director at our annual meeting of stockholders if the stockholder complies with the notice,
information, consent and other provisions relating to stockholder nominees contained in our Bylaws. Please
see the section above titled “Deadlines for Receipt of Stockholder Proposals’ for important information
regarding stockholder proposals, including director nominations.

Code of Conduct and Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics in compliance with applicable rules of the SEC that
applies to our principal executive officer, our principal financial officer and our principal accounting officer or
controller, or persons performing similar functions, as well as to all members of our Board of Directors and
all other employees. A copy of this policy is available on our website at http://senestech.investorroom.com/ on
the “Documents and Policies™ page under the heading “Corporate Governance,” or free of charge upon
written request to the attention of our Secretary, by regular mail at our principal executive offices, email to
inquiries @senestech.com or fax at 928-526-0243. We will disclose, on our website, any amendment to, or a
waiver from, a provision of our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to our principal executive
officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar
functions and that relates to any element of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics enumerated in
applicable rules of the SEC. In addition, we have adopted a policy for research misconduct, which also
applies to all officers, directors and employees.

2016 Director Compensation

The following table sets forth information regarding compensation earned by or paid to our non-employee
directors during the year ended December 31, 2016.

Cash Awards Option Awards RSU Award Total
Name $® $@ $)
Marc DUumont . . .. ... $ 32,5000 $169,040 $24,997 $226,537
Bob Ramsey . ..................... $ 30,000V $169,040 $24,997 $224,037
Matthew K. Szot . . . oo oo $105,000?% $ 88,240 $24,997 $218,237
Julia Williams, MD. .. ............... $ 27,5000 $ 88,240 $24,997 $140,737
Grover Wickersham . . . ............... $ 70,000V $ 88,240 $24,997 $183,237

(1) These cash awards represent pre-payment of 2017 Board Cash Compensation (as detailed below). These
pre-payment amounts were paid in December 2016 for service to be provided through the Annual
Meeting.

(2) The $105,000 cash award represents pre-payment of 2017 Board Cash Compensation (as detailed below)
of $55,000. These pre-payment amounts were paid in December 2016 for service to be provided through
the Annual Meeting. In addition, Mr. Szot received a one-time $50,000 payment in recognition of past
service to the Board.
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(3) Represents grants of non-statutory options that scheduled to vest at various times through January, 2019.

(4) Represents grants of restricted stock units that vest on the 12 month anniversary of grant. All awards
listed will be vested by December 31, 2017.

Non-Employee Director Compensation Program

On December 19, 2016, the Board adopted a non-employee director compensation program (the ‘“Program’)
for providing cash and equity compensation to its non-employee directors for their service on the Board and
committees of the Board. The Program became effective for the service of non-employee directors beginning
January 1, 2017. The components of the Program are as follows:

Cash Compensation: Amount
Annual general retainer for serving on the Board . .............. .. .. .. ... $25,000
Incremental annual retainer for the Vice-Chair of the Board . ................ $30,000
Incremental annual retainer for Chair of the Audit Committee . ... ............ $20,000
Incremental annual retainer for directors also serving on the Audit Committee . . . . . $ 5,000
Incremental annual retainer for each Chair of the Compensation and Nominating and

Corporate Governance COmMmMIttees . . . .. .. ... ..t v v, $10,000
Incremental annual retainer for directors also serving on the Compensation and

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committees . . ... ................ $ 2,500
Incremental fee for attendance at each meeting of the Audit, Compensation and

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committees exceeding one hour .. ... .. $ 250
Equity Compensation: Grant details
Annual RSU grant for serving on the Board A number of RSUs equal to $25,000 divided by

the closing market price of the common stock
on the date of grant; 100% of which RSUs will
vest after one year of continuous service on the
Board. Grants may be made at the next regularly
scheduled meeting of the board of directors
following the Annual Meeting.
Annual stock option grant for serving on the Nonstatutory stock options to purchase

Board 20,000 shares of common stock; exercise price
equal to the closing market price of the common
stock on the date of grant; 25% of which
options will vest on the first day of each
calendar quarter following the date of grant, so
that 100% of the options will be fully vested on
the one-year anniversary of the date of grant.
The options will expire on the fifth anniversary
of the date of grant. Grants may be made at the
next regularly scheduled meeting of the board of
directors following the Annual Meeting.

In addition, we reimburse non-employee directors for reasonable travel expenses for participation in board
meetings and for travel conducted on behalf of our business.

Each of Dr. Mayer, who serves as our chair of the board, chief executive officer and chief scientific officer,
and Dr. Dyer, who serves as our president and chief research officer, receives no compensation for her service
as a director, and the compensation received by Drs. Mayer and Dyer as employees during 2016 is presented
in “Executive Officer Compensation — Summary Compensation Table.”
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EXECUTIVE OFFICER COMPENSATION

As a smaller reporting company, we are not required to provide a separately-captioned ‘“Compensation
Discussion and Analysis” (“CD&A”) section. However, in order to provide a greater understanding to our
stockholders regarding our compensation policies and decisions with respect to our named executive officers,
we are including the following narrative disclosure to highlight salient portions of a typical CD&A. This
narrative disclosure should be read in conjunction with the Summary Compensation Table and related tables
that are presented elsewhere in this Proxy Statement.

Compensation Philosophy and Processes

Compensation for our executives and key employees is designed to attract and retain people who share our
vision and values and who can consistently perform in such a manner that enables us to achieve its strategic
goals. The compensation committee believes that the total compensation package for each of our executive
officers is competitive with the market, thereby allowing us to retain executive talent capable of leveraging the
skills of our employees and our unique assets in order to increase stockholder value. Our “named executive
officers” refers to those executive officers identified in the Summary Compensation Table below. Our named
executive officers for fiscal year 2016 included the following individuals: Loretta P. Mayer, Ph.D., Chair of the
Board, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Scientific Officer; Cheryl A. Dyer, Ph.D., President and Chief
Research Officer; and Thomas Chesterman, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Assistant Secretary.

Our executive compensation programs are designed to (1) motivate and reward our executive officers,

(2) retain our executive officers and encourage their quality service, (3) incentivize our executive officers to
appropriately manage risks while improving our financial results, and (4) align executive officers’ interests
with those of our stockholders. Under these programs, our executive officers are rewarded for the achievement
of company objectives and the realization of increased stockholder value.

The program seeks to remain competitive with the market while also aligning the executive compensation
program with stockholder interests through the following types of compensation: (i) base salary; (ii) annual
cash-based incentive bonuses; and (iii) equity-based incentive awards.

Key Executive Compensation Objectives

The compensation policies developed by the compensation committee are based on the philosophy that
compensation should reflect both Company-wide performance, financially and operationally, and the individual
performance of the executive, including management of personnel under his supervision. The compensation
committee’s objectives when setting compensation for our executive officers include:

e Setting compensation levels that are sufficiently competitive such that they will motivate and reward
the highest quality individuals to contribute to our goals, objectives and overall financial success.
This is done in part through reviewing and comparing the compensation of other companies in our
peer group.

e Retaining executives and encouraging their continued quality service, thereby encouraging and
maintaining continuity of the management team. Our competitive base salaries combined with cash
and equity incentive bonuses, retirement plan benefits and the vesting requirements of our
equity-based incentive awards, encourage high-performing executives to remain with the Company.

* Incentivizing executives to appropriately manage risks while attempting to improve our financial
results, performance and condition.

*  Aligning executive and stockholder interests. The compensation committee believes the use of equity
compensation as a key component of executive compensation is a valuable tool for aligning the
interests of our executive officers with those of our stockholders.

Our compensation program is designed to reward superior performance of both the Company and of each
individual executives and seeks to encourage actions that drive our business strategy. In fiscal 2016, we
instituted a process by which the compensation committee or a member thereof, will meet with each of our
executives quarterly to review performance, goals and expectations so that our annual compensation decisions,
when made, will be more transparent. Our compensation strategy is to provide a competitive opportunity for
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senior executives, taking into account their total compensation packages, which include a combination of base
salary, cash-based incentive bonuses and equity-based incentive bonuses.

Oversight of Executive Compensation

The Role of the Compensation Committee in Setting Compensation. Our compensation committee determines
and recommends to our board of directors the compensation of our executive officers. The compensation
committee also makes recommendations to our board of directors regarding equity compensation under our
2015 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2015 Plan”). The compensation committee reviews base salary levels for
executive officers of our company and recommends raises and bonuses based upon the company’s
achievements, individual performance and competitive and market conditions. The compensation committee
may delegate certain of its responsibilities, as it deems appropriate, to compensation subcommittees or to our
officers, but it has not elected to do so to date.

The Role of Executives in Setting Compensation. While the compensation committee does not delegate any
of its functions to others in setting the compensation of senior management, it includes members of senior
management in the compensation committee’s executive compensation process. We have asked each of our
senior executives to annually provide us with input with regard to their goals for the coming year. These
proposals include suggested company-wide and individual performance goals. The compensation committee
reviews these proposals with the executives and provides the Committee’s perspective on those aspects that
the Committee may feel should be modified. Quarterly meetings with the executives will permit an ongoing
dialog to further our goal of enhancing communication and managing expectations regarding compensation
matters.

The Role of Consultants in Setting Compensation. In fiscal 2016, the compensation committee did not retain
compensation consultants to assist it in its review of executive compensation although it is empowered by its
charter to do so. As the compensation committee deems necessary or helpful, it may retain the services of
compensation consultants in connection with the establishment and development of our compensation
philosophy and programs in the future.

Compensation Risk Assessment

As part of its risk assessment process, the compensation committee reviewed material elements of executive
and non-executive employee compensation. The compensation committee concluded that these policies and
practices do not create risk that is reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on us.

The structure of our compensation program for our executive officers does not incentivize unnecessary or
excessive risk taking. The base salary component of compensation does not encourage risk taking because it is
a fixed amount. The incentive plan awards have risk-limiting characteristics:

. Annual incentive awards to each of our executive officers are limited to the fixed maximum
specified in the incentive plan;

e Annual incentive awards are based on a review of a variety of performance factors, thus diversifying
the risk associated with any single aspect of performance;

e The compensation committee, which is composed of independent members of our board of directors,
approves final incentive plan cash and stock awards in its discretion after reviewing executive and
corporate performance; and

e The significant portion of long-term value is delivered in shares of our Company with a multi-year
vesting schedule, which aligns the interests of our executive officers to the long-term interests of our
stockholders.
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Elements of Compensation

The material elements of the compensation program for our named executive officers include: (i) base salary;
(i1) cash-based incentive bonuses; and (iii) equity-based incentive awards.

Base Salaries. We provide our named executive officers with a base salary to compensate them for services
rendered during the fiscal year and sustained performance. The purpose of the base salary is to reflect job
responsibilities, value to us and competitiveness of the market. Salaries for our named executive officers are
determined by the compensation committee based on the following factors: nature and responsibility of the
position and, to the extent available, salary norms for comparable positions; the expertise of the individual
executive; and the competitiveness of the market for the executive’s services.

Performance Cash-Based Incentive Bonuses. Our practice is to award cash-based incentive bonuses, based in
part on the achievement of performance objectives or significant accomplishments as established by the
compensation committee from time-to-time in its discretion. These performance objectives and significant
accomplishments are, in part, developed in partnership with the executive and are discussed on an ongoing
basis throughout the year.

Equity-Based Incentive Awards. Our equity-based incentive awards are designed to align our interests with
those of our employees and consultants, including our named executive officers. Our compensation committee
is responsible for approving equity grants. As of the end of fiscal 2016, our named executive officers have
been granted both stock option awards and restricted stock units. Vesting of the stock option and restricted
stock unit awards is tied to continuous service with us and serves as an additional retention measure and long-
term incentive.

Key Compensation Decisions and Developments for Fiscal Year 2016

For fiscal 2016, each executive was entitled to receive an annual incentive bonus, pursuant to their
employment agreements. Following the completion of the 2016 fiscal year, each of our executive officers
self-evaluated themselves against their specific goals and presented their assessment to the compensation
committee. The compensation committee followed with its own assessment and discussed the results with
each of our executive officers. Based on the year-end assessments, and pursuant to each executive’s current
employment agreement, the compensation committee determined that our executive officers were entitled to
incentive bonuses as follows:

Loretta P. Mayer, PH.D., Chair of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and 50% of base salary
Chief Scientific Officer

Cheryl A. Dyer, PH.D., President and Chief Research Officer 35% of base salary

Thomas C. Chesterman, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer 80% of base salary

e Base Pay. Pursuant to their respective employment agreements entered into in November 30, 2015
and June 30, 2016, the current base salaries for our executive officers are as follows:

Loretta P. Mayer, PH.D., Chair of the Board, Chief Executive

Officer and Chief Scientific Officer $300,000
Cheryl A. Dyer, PH.D., President and Chief Research Officer $250,000
Thomas C. Chesterman, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer $250,000

e Cash-Based Incentive Compensation. The following cash incentive bonuses were paid in 2016 to
our executive officers for their performance during fiscal 2016:

Loretta P. Mayer, PH.D., Chair of the Board, Chief Executive

Officer and Chief Scientific Officer $250,308V
Cheryl A. Dyer, PH.D., President and Chief Research Officer $237,599®
Thomas C. Chesterman, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer $115,944

(1) Cash-based incentive compensation for Loretta P. Mayer includes $150,000 paid in July, 2016
pursuant to the execution of her 2016 employment agreement, $30,000 in December, 2016 in
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connection with 2016 performance objectives and $70,308 under the terms of her 2013 employment
agreement that was cancelled in June, 2016 with the execution of her current agreement.

(2) Cash-based incentive compensation for Cheryl A. Dyer includes $150,000 paid in July, 2016
pursuant to the execution of her 2016 employment agreement, $17,500 in December, 2016 in
connection with 2016 performance objectives and $70,099 under the terms of her 2013 employment
agreement that was cancelled in June, 2016 with the execution of her current agreement.

e Equity-Based Incentive Compensation. The remainder of the incentive bonuses due to our
executive officers to compensate them for their 2016 performance was paid in equity. Based on the
final assessments of the compensation committee, in June and December, 2016, our executive
officers were granted the following equity incentive awards out of our 2015 Equity Incentive Plan:

Dollar Value
Restricted of Options and
Named Executive Officer Stock Units RSUs
Loretta P. MayYer ... .......ooiiriniiaeaanenan., 225,556" $595,000
Cheryl A. Dyer . ... ... 223,241 $576,250
Thomas C. Chesterman . . .. ... ... .. ... uuuiiinneenno.. 10,494 $ 85,000

(1) 220,000 of the restricted stock units awarded to each of Loretta P. Mayer and Cheryl A. Dyer as
incentive bonus compensation vest '3 at the twelve month anniversary of issuance, and the
remaining units vesting in equal quarterly tranches over the following twenty-four months of
continuous service. All other restricted stock units awarded in 2016 vested and were issued
immediately upon grant.

Summary Compensation Table

The following table sets forth the compensation earned during the past two fiscal years by (i) the person who
served as our principal executive officer during 2016 and (ii) the two most highly compensated executive
officers other than the chief executive officer who were serving as executive officers at the end of 2016 and
whose total compensation for 2016 exceeded $100,000. The persons described in clauses (i) and (ii) above are
collectively referred to herein as our “named executive officers.”

Option RSU All Other
Salary Bonus Awards Awards ComP Total
Name and Position Year $) $® $)® $® $*“ $)
Loretta P. Mayer, PH.D., 2016  $207,958 $250,308 $ — $595,000 $14,427 $1,067,693
Chair of the Board, Chief 2015  $107,000 $ 81,836 $2,410,400 $  — $14426 $2,613,662
Executive Officer and Chief
Scientific Officer
CheryliA. Dyer, PH.D., 2016  $182,958 $237,599 $ — $576,250 $12,699 $1,009,506
President and Chief 2015 $107,000 $ 60,000 $2,410,400 $  — $ 6,749 $2,584,149
Research Officer
Thomas Chesterman® 2016  $250,000 $115,944 $ — $ 85000 $ — $ 450,944
Chief Financial Officer and 2015 § — % — % 861,600 $ — $ — $ 861,600
Treasurer

(1) The amounts in this column reflect the aggregate grant-date fair value of stock option awards, determined
in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification
Topic 718 (““ASC 718”) for stock-based compensation. The amounts included for a particular year reflect
only the awards treated as granted in that year. Pursuant to SEC rules, the amounts shown disregard the
impact of estimated forfeitures related to service-based vesting conditions. Assumptions used in the
calculation of these award amounts are set forth in Note 14 (Stock-based Compensation) to the financial
statements included in Part II, Item 8 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2016 filed with the SEC on March 31, 2017 (the “2016 10-K*).
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(2) The amounts in this column reflect the aggregate grant-date fair value of restricted stock units awards,
determined in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards
Codification Topic 718 (“ASC 718”) for stock-based compensation. The amounts included for a
particular year reflect only the awards treated as granted in that year. Assumptions used in the calculation
of these award amounts are set forth in Note 14 (Stock-based Compensation) to the financial statements
included in Part II, Item 8 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016
filed with the SEC on March 31, 2017 (the “2016 10-K”).

(3) Mr. Chesterman was appointed as our executive vice president, chief financial officer, treasurer and
assistant secretary effective in December 2015.

(4) The amounts in this column reflect the payment by us of life insurance premiums for Dr. Mayer and
Dr. Dyer pursuant to their respective employment agreements.

(5) Bonus amounts were paid pursuant to their respective employment agreements as described above.

Grants of Plan-Based Awards

In June 2016, per the terms of employment letter agreements with each Dr. Dyer and Dr. Mayer, as further
described below, our board of directors granted to each of Dr. Dyer and Dr. Mayer, an award of restricted
stock units (RSUs) representing the right to receive 220,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. The
RSU awards will vest and be settled over a three-year period, with one-third of the units vesting on the
twelve-month anniversary of the date of grant, and the remaining units vesting in equal quarterly tranches
over the following twenty-four months of continuous service. In December 2016, our board of directors
granted RSUs to each of Loretta Mayer, Cheryl Dyer and Tom Chesterman in the amounts of 5,556, 3,241
and 10,494 shares respectively. These were issued as part of their 2016 incentive compensation.

Outstanding Equity Awards at December 31, 2016

The following table sets forth all outstanding equity awards held by each of our named executive officers as
of December 31, 2016.

Equity Awards
Number of  Number of Number of Market Value
Securities Securities Units of of Units of
Underlying  Underlying Option Stock That  Stock That
Unexercised Unexercised Exercise Option Have Not Have Not
Options (#) Options (#) Price Expiration Vested Vested
Name Grant Date  Exercisable Unexercisable ($)" Date #) $)
Loretta P. Mayer ...... 7/3/2015 300,000 — $0.50  7/3/2025 —
10/15/2015 40,000 — $0.50 10/15/2025 —
6/30/2016 — — $ — 220,000  $1,793,000
Cheryl A. Dyer ....... 7/3/2015 300,000 — $0.50  7/3/2025 —
10/15/2015 40,000 — $0.50 10/15/2025 —
6/30/2016 — — $ — 220,000  $1,793,000
Thomas C. Chesterman . . 12/1/2015 45,000 75,000 $0.50 12/15/2025 —
9/9/2015® 15,000 — $0.50  9/9/2018 —

(1) The option exercise price is the closing price of our common stock on the grant date.
(2) Represents option grant to Mr. Chesterman on September 9, 2015 while he was serving as a consultant to

the Company. The option grant fully vested upon employment with the Company in December 2015.
Employment Agreements

We have agreements with our named executive officers, which include provisions regarding post-termination
compensation. We do not have a formal severance policy or plan applicable to our executive officers as a

group.
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Agreement with Dr. Mayer. We entered into an employment letter agreement with Dr. Mayer dated June 30,
2016. Pursuant to this agreement, Dr. Mayer is entitled to receive an annual base salary of $300,000, which
will be reviewed and may be adjusted periodically by the our compensation committee or board of directors.
Dr. Mayer was paid a signing bonus of $150,000 immediately following the signing of her employment letter
agreement. By entering into the employment letter agreement and accepting the signing bonus, Dr. Mayer
agreed to waive all rights to receive any compensation amounts provided for in her previous employment
agreement dated October 16, 2013.

During the term of Dr. Mayer’s employment with us, Dr. Mayer is eligible receive an annual bonus in an
amount of up to 50% of her annual base salary, provided that whether Dr. Mayer is entitled to receive any
bonus in any given year, and the specific amount of such bonus, shall be determined annually by our board
of directors, and shall be based upon mutually agreeable performance objectives and other criteria to be
determined by the board of directors. Annual bonuses will be payable within thirty days after the board

of director’s determination that an annual bonus shall be awarded.

Pursuant to the terms of her employment letter agreement, on June 30, 2016 we granted to Dr. Mayer an
award of restricted stock units (RSU) under our 2015 Plan, representing the right to receive 220,000 shares
of our common stock. The RSU award vests and will be settled over a three-year period, with one-third

of the units vesting on the 12-month anniversary of the date of grant, and the remaining units vesting in equal
quarterly tranches over the following twenty-four months of continuous service.

Upon a change of control of our company, we have agreed to pay Dr. Mayer a bonus equal to (i) 1% of the
amount of the net sale price (as such term is defined in her employment letter agreement) of our company that
is $100,000,000 or less, plus (i) an additional 0.5% of the amount of the net sale price of our company that is
more than $100,000,000, payable in cash or other proceeds payable to our other stockholders. Under the

terms of her agreement, Dr. Mayer shall be entitled to this change of control bonus if the change of control
transaction occurs within 12 months following the termination of her employment by us without cause

(as such term is defined in her employment letter agreement and excluding death or disability) or within

12 months following Dr. Mayer’s resignation for good reason (as such term is defined in her employment
letter agreement), provided that Dr. Mayer remains in compliance with her confidentiality and other ongoing
post-termination obligations under the employment letter agreement.

Dr. Mayer shall be entitled to accrue four weeks paid vacation and sick leave per calendar year, and may
participate in our standard benefits plans. Dr. Mayer is also entitled to be reimbursed for reasonable
out-of-pocket expenses incurred in the performance of her duties to our company in accordance with our rules
and policies. We have agreed to pay the annual premiums for a key person term life insurance policy of
$1,000,000, subject to underwriter’s acceptance.

In the event that Dr. Mayer is terminated without cause (as such term is defined in her employment letter
agreement) or if she resigns for good reason (as such term is defined in her employment letter agreement),
then Dr. Mayer shall receive her base salary and health insurance benefits for a period of 12 months following
the effective date of such termination. Dr. Mayer will also be entitled to any earned but unpaid annual bonus,
and all of her outstanding equity awards will accelerate immediately upon the date of her termination without
cause (excluding death or disability) or resignation for good reason.

Agreement with Dr. Dyer. We entered into an employment letter agreement with Dr. Dyer dated June 30,
2016. Pursuant to this agreement, Dr. Dyer is entitled to receive an annual base salary of $250,000, which will
be reviewed and may be adjusted periodically by the our compensation committee or board of directors.

Dr. Dyer was paid a signing bonus of $150,000 immediately following the signing of her employment letter
agreement. By entering into the employment letter agreement and accepting the signing bonus, Dr. Dyer
agreed to waive all rights to receive any compensation amounts provided for in her previous employment
agreement dated October 16, 2013.

During the term of Dr. Dyer’s employment with us, Dr. Dyer is eligible to receive an annual bonus in an
amount of up to 35% of her annual base salary, provided that whether Dr. Dyer is entitled to receive any
bonus in any given year, and the specific amount of such bonus, shall be determined annually by our board
of directors, and shall be based upon mutually agreeable performance objectives and other criteria to be
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determined by the board of directors. Annual bonuses will be payable within thirty days after the board of
director’s determination that an annual bonus shall be awarded.

Pursuant to the terms of her employment letter agreement, on June 30, 2016, we granted to Dr. Dyer an

RSU award under our 2015 Plan, representing the right to receive 220,000 shares of our common stock.

The RSU award vests and will be settled over a three-year period, with one-third of the units vesting on the
12-month anniversary of the date of grant, and the remaining units vesting in equal quarterly tranches over the
following twenty-four months of continuous service.

Upon change of control of our company, we have agreed to pay Dr. Dyer a bonus equal to (i) 1% of the
amount of the net sale price (as such term is defined in her employment letter agreement) of our company that
is $100,000,000 or less, plus (i) an additional 0.5% of the amount of the net sale price of our company that is
more than $100,000,000, payable in cash or other proceeds payable to our other stockholders in such
company. Under the terms of her agreement, Dr. Dyer shall be entitled to this change of control bonus if the
change of control transaction occurs within 12 months following the termination of her employment by us
without cause (as such term is defined in her employment letter agreement and excluding death or disability)
or within 12 months following Dr. Dyer’s resignation for good reason (as such term is defined in her
employment letter agreement), provided that Dr. Dyer remains in compliance with her confidentiality and
other ongoing post-termination obligations under the employment letter agreement.

Dr. Dyer shall be entitled to accrue four weeks paid vacation and sick leave per calendar year, and may
participate in our standard benefits plans. Dr. Dyer is also entitled to be reimbursed for reasonable
out-of-pocket expenses incurred in the performance of her duties to our company in accordance with our rules
and policies. We have agreed to pay the annual premiums for a key person term life insurance policy of
$1,000,000, subject to underwriter’s acceptance.

In the event that Dr. Dyer is terminated without cause (as such term is defined in her employment letter
agreement) or if she resigns for good reason (as such term is defined in her employment letter agreement),
then Dr. Dyer shall receive her base salary and health insurance benefits for a period of 12 months following
the effective date of such termination. Dr. Dyer will also be entitled to any earned but unpaid annual bonus,
and all of her outstanding equity awards will accelerate immediately upon the date of her termination without
cause (excluding death or disability) or resignation for good reason.

Agreement with Mr. Chesterman. We entered into an employment offer letter with Mr. Chesterman dated
November 20, 2015 to serve as our chief financial officer. Pursuant to this agreement, we pay Mr. Chesterman
a salary of $250,000 per year, and in accordance with the letter agreement, Mr. Chesterman’s salary may be
paid up to fifty percent (50%) in stock options until we are in the financial position to pay the salary entirely
in cash, to be determined by the chief executive officer. In addition, Mr. Chesterman is eligible for a
performance bonus, which amounts shall be determined at least annually by mutual agreement on achievement
of personal and company goals, which bonus will be targeted to be no less than $200,000 per year. Per the
offer letter, we granted Mr. Chesterman a stock option to purchase 120,000 share of our common stock at an
exercise price equal to $0.50 per share, which option vests over a four-year vesting schedule, with V4™ of the
option vesting monthly beginning on January 1, 2016, until such option is vested in full or Mr. Chesterman’s
employment is terminated. The vesting of the option shall accelerate in full upon a change in control of us.
Mr. Chesterman’s option may also be early exercised by entering into a restricted stock purchase agreement
containing a right of repurchase in favor of us on any unvested portion of the shares subject to the option.
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Employee Benefit Plans

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table presents certain information regarding our common stock that may be issued upon the
exercise of options and vesting of restricted stock units granted to employees, consultants or directors as of
December 31, 2016:

Number of securities
remaining available

Number of for future issuance
securities to be under equity
issued upon exercise Weighted-average compensation
of outstanding exercise price of plans (excluding
options, warrants outstanding options, securities reflected
and rights warrants and rights in column (a))
(a) (b) (©)
Equity compensation plans approved
by security holders . .......... 2,762,014 $2.65 979,480
Equity compensation plans not
approved by security holders . . .. — $ — —

(1) Amount includes 455,430 restricted stock units granted and unvested as of December 31, 2016.

We have granted options to purchase common stock to our officers, directors, employees and consultants
under our 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”’). The Plan also enables us to grant restricted stock,
restricted stock units and certain other equity-based compensation to our officers, directors, employees and
consultants. Under the Plan, we awarded restricted stock units to each of our non-employee directors in 2015
and 2016. We also awarded restricted stock units to certain of our officers in 2016 under the Plan.

Insurance Premiums

We pay 75% of premiums for medical insurance and dental insurance for all full-time employees, including
our named executive officers. We also offer high deductible plan options that include a healthcare flexible
spending account component for all full-time employees, including our named executive officers. These
benefits are available to all full-time employees, subject to applicable laws. We also pay premiums for life
insurance and long-term disability insurance benefits for two of our named executive officers per the terms of
their respective employment letter agreements, Loretta P. Mayer, Ph.D. and Cheryl A. Dyer, Ph.D., and we
also pay premiums for long-term disability insurance benefits for Kim Wolin, our executive vice

president — operations and secretary, per the terms of her employment agreement.
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STOCK OWNERSHIP

Security Ownership of Principal Stockholders, Directors and Management

The following table sets forth, as of April 12, 2017, information regarding beneficial ownership of our
common stock by:

e each person, or group of affiliated persons, known by us to beneficially own more than 5% of the
outstanding shares of common stock;

o each of our named executive officers;
. each of our directors; and
e all of our current executive officers and directors as a group.

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC and generally includes any shares
over which a person exercises sole or shared voting or investment power.

The number of shares listed below under the heading “Total Common Stock Equivalents” is the aggregate
beneficial ownership for each stockholder and includes:

o common stock beneficially owned;
»  currently vested options and RSUs; and

e stock options and RSUs that are not currently vested but will become vested within 60 days after
April 12, 2017.

Of this total amount, the number of shares of common stock underlying options and RSUs that are currently
vested and stock options and restricted stock units that are not currently vested but will become vested within
60 days after April 12, 2017 are deemed outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership
of common stock outstanding beneficially owned by a stockholder, director or executive officer (the “Deemed
Outstanding Shares™) and are also separately listed below under the heading ‘“Number of Shares Underlying
Options and RSUs,” but the Deemed Outstanding Shares are not treated as outstanding for the purpose of
computing the percentage ownership of common stock outstanding beneficially owned by any other person.
This table is based on information supplied by officers, directors, principal stockholders and filings made
with the SEC. Percentage ownership is based on 10,161,042 shares of common stock outstanding as of

April 12, 2017.

Unless otherwise indicated below, to our knowledge, all persons named in the table have sole voting and
dispositive power with respect to their shares of common stock, except to the extent authority is shared by
spouses under community property laws.

Unless otherwise indicated, the address of each beneficial owner listed in the table below is c/o SenesTech,
Inc., 3140 N. Caden Court, Suite 1, Flagstaff, Arizona 86004.

Number of Shares
Issuable Upon

Number of Conversion or Total Shares
Shares Exercise of Options Beneficially Owned
Beneficially and RSUs by enclicially Owne
Name and Address of Beneficial Owner Held June 12, 2017 Shares Percent
5% Owners:
Gilder, Gagnon, Howe and Co., LLC
475 10™ Avenue, New York, NY 10018 . ... 1,070,775 — 1,070,775 10.5%
NAU Ventures, LLC
PO Box 4094, Flagstaff, AZ 86011 ....... 400,000 210,526 610,526 6.0%
Directors and Named Executive Officers:
Loretta P. Mayer, PhD.Y 473,376 340,000 813,376 8.0%
Cheryl A. Dyer Ph.D.0 .. .. ... .. .. .. .. 487,962 340,000 827,962 8.1%
Thomas C. Chesterman . . . .............. 7,273 60,000 67,273 *
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Number of Shares
Issuable Upon

Number of Conversion or Total Sh
Shares Exercise of Options B %3 Il aores d
Beneficially and RSUs by eneficially Owne
Name and Address of Beneficial Owner Held June 12, 2017 Shares Percent
Marc Dumont® . . ... ... ... ... 121,637 18,889 140,526 1.4%
Bob Ramsey™ ... ... ... ... 261,748 10,000 271,748 2.7%
Matthew K. Szot ... .................. 34,000 10,000 44,000 *
Julia Williams, M.D.Y . .. ... ... ... .. ... 108,212 10,000 118,212 1.2%
Grover Wickersham® ... .............. 322,100 10,000 332,100 3.3%
All executive officers and directors as a
group (9 persons)® . . . ... ... ... ... .. 1,891,873 893,889 2,785,762 27.4%

*

)

2
3)

“)
&)

(6)

Represents beneficial ownership of less than one percent (1%).

Drs. Mayer and Dyer are married, but for purposes of the share amounts and percentages in this table,
their beneficial ownership is displayed separately.

Includes shares held by Marc Dumont and Patrick Dumont, JTWROS, an affiliate of Mr. Dumont.

Includes shares of common stock held by Arrowsky LLC and NR Malibu Road LLC, affiliates of
Mr. Ramsey.

Includes shares of common stock held by Julia A. Williams MD Trust, an affiliate of Dr. Williams.

Includes shares of common stock held by GTW PC Employee Profit Sharing Plan (over which

Mr. Wickersham exercises voting control but disclaims beneficial ownership), Wickersham Childrens
Trust (over which Mr. Wickersham exercises voting control but disclaims beneficial ownership), Lindsay
Anne Wickersham 1999 Irrevocable Trust (the beneficiary of which is an immediate family member
living with Mr. Wickersham who exercises voting control but disclaims beneficial ownership), and Paxton
Lee Shoen 1998 Education Trust (over which Mr. Wickersham exercises voting control but disclaims
beneficial ownership).

Includes shares of common stock and options to purchase common stock held by Kim Wolin, our
executive vice president, operations and secretary.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our officers and directors and persons who own more than 10% of
a registered class of our equity securities to file with the SEC reports of ownership on Form 3 and changes in
ownership on Form 4 and Form 5. Officers, directors and greater-than-10% stockholders are required by
Commission regulations to furnish to us copies of all Section 16(a) forms they file. Based solely on our
review of the copies of such forms received by us, or written representations from certain reporting persons,
we believe that all Section 16(a) filing requirements applicable to our officers, directors and greater-than-10%
beneficial owners were met during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016.
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CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

We have been party to the following transactions since January 1, 2016, in which the amount involved
exceeded or will exceed $120,000, and in which any of our executive officers, directors, promoters or holders
of more than 5% of any class of our voting securities, or an affiliate or immediate family member thereof, had
or will have a direct or indirect material interest, other than compensation, termination and change in control
arrangements, which are described in this Proxy Statement in the section entitled “2016 Director
Compensation” and “Executive Officer Compensation.”

Private Placements of Securities

Common Stock

The following table summarizes the common stock issued since January 1, 2016 to any of our directors,
executive officers, holders of more than 5% of any class of our voting securities, or an affiliate or immediate
family member thereof, the value of which exceeded $120,000:

Number of
shares of Aggregate
common purchase
Name of director, officer or 5% stockholder Date issued stock price paid
Grover Wickersham ... .................... March 30, 2016 320,000 $160,000
Marc Dumont™ . . ... ... May 6, 2016 59,930 $149,824
BobRamsey ............ ... .. .. .. ... ... April 7, 2016 20,000 $150,000
NR Malibu Road LLC® ... ................. May 6, 2016 140,202 $350,505
Julia A. Williams® . ... ... ... ... ... May 6, 2016 52,800  $132,000

(1) Shares are held by Marc Dumont and Patrick Dumont, JTWROS, an affiliate of Mr. Dumont.
(2) Bob Ramsey, a member of our board of directors, is affiliated with NR Malibu Road LLC.
(3) Shares are held by Julia A. Williams MD Trust, an affiliate of Dr. Williams.

Executive Employment Arrangements

We have entered into employment agreements with certain of our executive officers. For more information
regarding these agreements, see the section of the prospectus captioned ‘“Executive Officer
Compensation — Employment Agreements.”

Indemnification Agreements

We have entered into indemnification agreements with each of our directors and executive officers. These
agreements provide for the indemnification of such persons for all reasonable expenses and liabilities incurred
in connection with any action or proceeding brought against them by reason of the fact that they are or were
serving in such capacity. We believe that these charter provisions and indemnification agreements are
necessary to attract and retain qualified persons as directors, officers and employees. Furthermore, we have
obtained director and officer liability insurance to cover liabilities our directors and officers may incur in
connection with their services to us.

Policies and Procedures for Transactions with Related Persons

We have adopted a policy that our executive officers, directors, nominees for election as a director, beneficial
owners of more than 5% of any class of our common stock and any members of the immediate family of any
of the foregoing persons are not permitted to enter into a related person transaction with us without the prior
consent of our audit committee. Any request for us to enter into a transaction with an executive officer,
director, nominee for election as a director, beneficial owner of more than 5% of any class of our voting
securities or any member of the immediate family of any of the foregoing persons, in which the amount
involved exceeds $120,000 and such person would have a direct or indirect interest, must first be presented to
our audit committee for review, consideration and approval. In approving or rejecting any such proposal,

our audit committee is to consider the material facts of the transaction, including, but not limited to, whether
the transaction is on terms no less favorable than terms generally available to an unaffiliated third party under
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the same or similar circumstances and the extent of the related person’s interest in the transaction. All of the
transactions described above were entered into prior to the adoption of such policy, but after presentation,
consideration and approval by our board of directors.

In addition, if a related person transaction will compromise the independence of one of our directors, our audit
committee may recommend that our board of directors reject the transaction if it could affect our ability to
comply with securities laws and regulations or the Nasdaq Stock Market listing requirements.
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PROPOSAL NO. 2

RATIFY APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The independent registered public accounting firm of M&K CPAS, PLLC (“M&K™) has acted as our auditor
since December 22, 2014 and has audited our financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2016,
2015 and 2014. M&K is responsible for performing an independent audit of our consolidated financial
statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States and issuing a report
on its audit. A representative of M&K is expected to be present at the Annual Meeting, where he or she will
have the opportunity to make a statement and to respond to appropriate questions.

The audit committee has appointed, and the board of directors has ratified the audit committee’s appointment

of, M&K as our independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2017.

Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The aggregate fees billed by M&K for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 for professional services
described below are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2016 2015
Audit fees™Y $49,491 $55,370
Audit-related fees™® .. ... ... ... $28,400 $  —
Tax fees . . .. .. $ — $  —
All other fees . . . . .. $  — $  —
Total TE8S . o v v v e e e $77,891 $55,370

(1) Audit fees related to professional services rendered in connection with the audit of our annual
consolidated financial statements and, with respect to fiscal year 2016, the reviews of the consolidated
financial statements included in each of our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, and accounting services that
relate to the audited consolidated financial statements and are necessary to comply with generally
accepted auditing standards.

(2) Audit related fees related to attestation services related to our initial public offering completed
December 8, 2016 that were reasonably related to the performance of its audit of our financial statements
and not reported under the caption “Audit fees.”

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

We have implemented pre-approval policies and procedures related to the provision of audit and non-audit
services. Under these procedures, our audit committee pre-approves all services to be provided by M&K and
the estimated fees related to these services.

All audit, audit related, and tax services were pre-approved by the audit committee, which concluded that the
provision of such services by M&K was compatible with the maintenance of that firm’s independence in the
conduct of its auditing functions. Our pre-approval policies and procedures provide for the audit committee’s
pre-approval of specifically described audit, audit-related, and tax services on an annual basis, but individual
engagements anticipated to exceed pre-established thresholds must be separately approved. The policies and
procedures also require specific approval by the audit committee if total fees for audit-related and tax services
would exceed total fees for audit services in any fiscal year. The policies and procedures authorize the audit
committee to delegate to one or more of its members pre-approval authority with respect to permitted
services.

Audit Committee Report

In connection with our financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016, the Audit Committee
has:

o Reviewed and discussed the audited financial statements with management;
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e Discussed with our independent registered public accounting firm, M&K CPAs PLLC, the matters
required to be discussed by applicable auditing standards; and

*  Received the written disclosures and the letter from the independent registered public accounting
firm required by applicable requirements of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
regarding the independent registered public accounting firm’s communications with the audit
committee concerning independence and discussed with the independent registered public accounting
firm the independent registered public accounting firm’s independence.

Based upon these reviews and discussions, the Audit Committee approved our audited financial statements
included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016 filed with the SEC.

Submitted by the Audit Committee:
Matthew K. Szot (Chair)

Grover T. Wickersham

Marc Dumont

Vote Required

The ratification of the appointment of M&K CPAS, PLLC as our independent registered public accounting
firm requires that the votes cast in favor of the proposal exceed the votes cast against the proposal.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT STOCKHOLDERS VOTE
FOR RATIFICATION OF THE APPOINTMENT OF M&K CPAS, PLLC
AS OUR INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM FOR
THE FISCAL YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2017.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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OTHER MATTERS

Stockholder Communications with the Board of Directors and Board Attendance at Annual Stockholder
Meetings

Our stockholders may, at any time, communicate in writing with any member or group of members of the
board of directors by sending such written communication to the attention of our Secretary by regular mail to
our principal executive offices.

Copies of written communications received by our Secretary will be provided to the relevant director(s) unless
such communications are considered, in the reasonable judgment of our Secretary, to be improper for
submission to the intended recipient(s). Examples of stockholder communications that would be considered
improper for submission include, without limitation, customer complaints, solicitations, communications that
do not relate directly or indirectly to us or our business, or communications that relate to improper or
irrelevant topics.

The Chairman of the board of directors is expected to make all reasonable efforts to attend our annual
stockholder meeting in person. If the Chairman is unable to attend an annual stockholder meeting for any
reason, at least one other member of the board of directors is expected to attend in person. Other members of
the board of directors are expected to attend our annual stockholder meeting in person if reasonably possible.
The Company held its 2016 annual meeting on September 26, 2016.

Proxy Materials Delivered to a Shared Address

Stockholders who have the same mailing address and last name may have received a notice that your
household will receive only one proxy statement. This practice, commonly referred to as “householding,” is
designed to reduce the volume of duplicate information and reduce printing and postage costs. A single proxy
statement will be delivered to multiple stockholders sharing an address unless contrary instructions have been
received from the affected stockholders. Once you have received notice, from us or from your bank, broker or
other registered holder, that it will be householding communications to your address, householding will
continue until you are notified otherwise or until you revoke your consent. A number of banks, brokers and
other registered holders with account holders who are our stockholders household our proxy materials. If you
hold your shares in street name, and no longer wish to participate in householding and would prefer to receive
a separate proxy statement in the future, or currently receive multiple copies of the proxy materials and would
like to request householding, please notify your bank, broker or other registered holder. If you are a holder of
record, and no longer wish to participate in householding and would prefer to receive a separate proxy
statement in the future, or currently receive multiple copies of the proxy materials and would like to request
householding, please notify us in writing at 3140 N. Caden Court, Suite 1, Flagstaff, AZ 86004, or by
telephone at (928) 779-4143. Any stockholder residing at a shared address to which a single copy of the proxy
materials was delivered who wishes to receive a separate copy of our proxy statement may obtain a copy by
written request addressed to 3140 N. Caden Court, Suite 1, Flagstaff, AZ 86004, attention: Secretary. We will
deliver a separate copy of our proxy statement to any stockholder who so requests in writing promptly
following our receipt of such request.

Transaction of Other Business

Our board of directors knows of no other matters to be submitted at the Annual Meeting. If any other business
is properly brought before the Annual Meeting, proxies will be voted in respect thereof as the proxy holders
deem advisable.
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Annual Report to Stockholders and Form 10-K

Our Annual Letter to Stockholders for the year ended December 31, 2016 (which is not a part of our proxy
solicitation materials) is being mailed to our stockholders with this proxy statement. A copy of our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016, without exhibits, is included with the Annual
Letter to Stockholders.

By Order of the Board of Directors

Loretta P. Mayer

Chair of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
Flagstaff, Arizona

April 20, 2017

28



[This page intentionally left blank.]



[This page intentionally left blank.]



Directors, Officers and Corporate
Information

Headquarters

3140 N. Caden Court, Suite 1, Flagstaff, Arizona 86004
Corporate Counsel

Summit Law Group PLLC, Seattle, Washington
Independent Registered Public Accountants

M&K CPAS, PLLC, Houston, Texas
Transfer Agent and Registrar

Transfer Online, Inc., Portland, Oregon

Directors

e Loretta P. Mayer, Ph.D. — Chair of the Board, CEO and Chief Scientific Officer, SenesTech, Inc.

e Cheryl A. Dyer, Ph.D. — Director, President and Chief Research Officer, SenesTech, Inc.

¢ Marc Dumont — Owner, Chairman and CEO of Chateau de Messey Wineries, Meursault, France
* Bob Ramsey — CEO, Starwest Associates

e Matthew K. Szot — CFO and Treasurer, S& W Seed Company

e Grover T. Wickersham — CEOQ, Eastside Distilling, Inc.

e Julia Williams, M.D. — Emergency Department Physician, Flagstaff Medical Center

Officers

e Loretta P. Mayer, Ph.D. — Chair of the Board, CEO and Chief Scientific Officer, SenesTech, Inc.

e Cheryl A. Dyer, Ph.D. — Director, President and Chief Research Officer, SenesTech, Inc.

e Thomas C. Chesterman — Executive Vice President, CFO, Treasurer and Assistant Secretary,
SenesTech, Inc.

e Kim Wolin — Executive Vice President, Operations and Secretary

Annual Meeting

Our annual meeting of stockholders will be held on Friday, May 19, 2017 at 10:00 a.m. local time
at the Holiday Inn Hotel & Suites, Phoenix Airport North at 1515 N 44th St., Phoenix, Arizona
85008.

Form 10-K
We file an Annual Report on Form 10-K with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Copies are
available without charge upon request. Requests should be sent to inquiries@senestech.com.

Stock Exchange Listing
Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol SNES.

Dividends

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to
retain all available funds and any future earnings to support our operations and finance the
growth and development of our business and, therefore, do not intend to pay cash dividends on
our common stock for the foreseeable future.

This annual report contains forward-looking statements based on current expectations, estimates
and projections about our industry and management’s beliefs and assumptions. These forward-
looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks and
uncertainties that are difficult to predict. Please refer to the information set forth under the
captions “Risk Factors” and “Forward-Looking Statements” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K and
other reports or documents we file from time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on the forward-looking statements, which speak
only as of the date made, and except as required by law, we undertake no obligation to update any
forward-looking statement.



senestech

Sound science. Effective solutions. G

Phone: 928.779.4143
Email: info@senestech.com

3140 N. Caden Ct. Ste 1
Flagstaff, AZ 86004
www.senestech.com
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